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OURVISION

RAZEHANEEFIIEEERER

To be a world-class outdoor advertising enterprise with Asian background

3% P RY { on

OURMISSION

AEFRESENFIESTFIR  URHESEENGEHERERRER
To provide optimal Out-Of-Home (OOH) advertising solutions with
highest Return-On-Investment (ROI) and effectiveness

BBERITERR  RETEEERT
To promote professional excellence in outdoor advertising media
ZRENE - S - BEEHEK
To nurture our workforce into a harmonious, efficient and effective team
BTHEET  BELSHE

To be a community conscious enterprise

Aok AR

SURCORE
VALUES

HIE  HAFREHBENEE
Integrity: Being honest and truthful towards people
2 HEEJ|ERE  TEBH
Excellence: Continuous improvement and the pursuit of excellence
CE  HHESHUCEZO - OB E

Benevolence: Taking social responsibilities and caring for the community
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Carlsberg Brewery Hong Kong Limited

BB F MK Hong Kong Outdoor Billboard



ORPORATE
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HAEEEEEERABD(FEBIMROHNRE - 1993) R —REFNFIHME
BELAR RBECERARBEARAEEY  GEKS  BwERSHESEH
BEE - BRESEATEHERIIWOBERTHRARBERAK  RMAEB
RARREMANZHEEEAR[FHRZLHMER XK aREEFREM
GAERRABHNFHNEREIR  BRERASREUERENKHE -

Asiaray Media Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1993) is an outstanding out-of-
home media company with a strategic focus on mega transport advertising media
management including airport, metro line and high speed rail advertising. With
an extensive nationwide network of media resources covering nearly 40 cities
in Greater China, we leverage on the well-developed space management model
and Out-of-home & Online New Media Strategy to deliver integrated, creative
out-of-home media solutions to advertiser customers, striving to build a closer
connection with the general public.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 3
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ASIARAY AT A GLANCE
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The year we started our
advertising business

1993

Employees
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BREFTEERNKS
Airports with exclusive
concession rights

BEWTHEE

/ Cities where we

have operations

15

PSRN
m%&%
Metro lines with exclusive
concession rights
* BZE20251H6H As at 6 January 2025

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 5



HEES
OUR PHILOSOPHY
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SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional

“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach in advertisement space distribution.

Our commitment to and implementation of the space management approach enables us to create value for our
advertising customers, media resources owners and passengers.

Advertising customer -~ enhance the overall impact and increase effectiveness of the advertisement
Media resource owner - improve the overall environment and ambience and optimize the commercial value
Passenger — extend beyond the visual to stimulate senses of smell, touch, hearing and taste,

making up an exuberant journey

BRASHEE (EBX) ARATE
Manulife (International) Limited
EBANESHE I Hong Kong West Kowloon Station
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Jardine Restaurant Group - KFC
EBF SN K Hong Kong Outdoor Billboard
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Otsuka Pharmaceutical
(H.K.) Ltd. - Pocari Sweat

RYIAE £ 35 Tsim Sha Tsui Bus Shelter

ERkHEMBRAF
Sun Life Hong Kong Limited
EHBF K Hong Kong Outdoor Billboard

BREmT
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FINBHIEFEFORRKREFTRLF
Shenzhen Goodfeel Dental Group Co., Ltd
BB F MK Hong Kong Outdoor Billboard
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Langjiu Ltd - Qinghua Lang
B JN 37 BB B PR #4435 Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport

BEEERREB
ECD Hengqin
BRFEEHIS Zhuhai Jinwan Airport

5 7 56 - WA
L'Oréal S.A. - Lancome
B OEMBIBR#35 Haikou Meilan International Airport
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Coca-Cola

FYIHbEE Shenzhen Metro Line

RANEIEE
The 1982 Express: Zhang Jie Concert
HLN 48 Hangzhou Metro Line

RbEREERRLT

BINEEBERFES14 Wenzhou Rail Transit Line S1
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The Walt Disney Company - Disney Plus
Hr o3 #b 8 Singapore Metro Line

Etiqa Insurance, Singapore
AN Singapore Metro Line
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#0388 Singapore Metro Line
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EVENTS OF THE YEAR

RAEAFHZHMEELE  AERERIEAEZRE
3D LED ' URIRENZEEE RERIDMR - |
SIBRME X

Upgraded the traditional advertising panel

at Mong Kok New Town Mall into naked-eye

3D LED, captivating audiences with its high-
definition visuals and dynamic virtual 3D effects
supported by technology
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3
Z.l .‘hl“'l h

N5 R — BB R (TEL) IR R B ARG #T LT -
REGEEFNSEEWRS - RREIF —REEMEL
HFEARBROCEXRE - (FRZERNBRESLE
HABRBEBERATZER - LRI EEN IR E
Singapore’s Thomson-East Coast Line (TEL) connecting

Johor Bahru, Malaysia to Changi Airport in the east,

making it the first cross-border metro line in Southeast Asia, and
its Stage 4 has officially opened. Being the exclusive advertising
operator for this line, Asiaray will continue to place greater
resources on enhancing its exposure in Singapore

SIGLAR

Bast Costliné\a _

® © 0 0 0 0 0 0 e o o o

AL ERATESWEE L LR ERPINESAR
(World Out-of-Home Organization) {4 & & & M —
MEAEES2 IR ES  BRAEAZHBAGESR
ZERATERR  MBTEPINESEIFNE
Chairman and Executive Director, Mr. Vincent Lam
being the first and currently sole Chinese board
member of the World Out-of-Home Organization
(WOO), participated as keynote speaker at WOO first
Annual Congress in Asia. Engaged with hundreds of
distinguished guests from around the world to discuss
industry development, promoting innovative strength
of Chinese outdoor advertising

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 12

AR R RY MR B8 BRI R A L REFTIE E o542
BIERYIHE3RAE - 454 - 654 - 65T A - 105RAE - 1457
2 16T EEEE 25T R 2 IR

Exclusive concession rights granted to Asiaray for Shenzhen
Metro media recourse has been increased to 9 metro lines,
including Shenzhen Metro Line 3, Line 4, Line 6, Sub-Line 6,
Line 10, Line 14, print media resources of Line 16 and the full
media resources of Line 12



MEEERNEHEREEXEZE S
EfE B IRERE - BRBAX IR

HEIEER - 2P T RE2BEL R
RAESEFRHERNBEES

As the Chairman of the Kowloon
Federation of Association’s
Professional Committee as well as the
mentor of Mentorship Program, Mr.
Lam has lined up a guided tour to
headquarter of HSBC with students
and provided professional career
guidance to aspire youth

HER [T EERSEEROE MR ]
e RAREF AL RET - W5
B EIR30% (8 B SR M & 1) 2 A i
EERE2Y HEEEESEEAR
A%%%Aifﬁ%iﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁf
w18 - WA ERRETRAR
The annual meeting of the Financial
Street Forum, also known as “the
barometer of China’s financial
development” held in Beijing,
attracted hundreds of VIP guests
from more than 30 countries and
regions around the world. As the
Founder and Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Lam has been invited once again
to attend the forum, and discussed as
well as elaborated relevant topics

SGEXH

— BRI SEW
BIEESMER

LR SHRAS

SGEXHIS HITAEHE: 63328214
BURO: ERTCEHE

AR BESERENESRaRKEN - ERX
W T [SGCXHIS—REBF B E X (BIFHFEA
RS IBAREER  ZEEARERAREES
EEEMCHBREE ) - ABITERE—E
Asiaray, leveraging its holistic advertising
service capabilities, has officially been awarded
the “SGGXHIS” certification mark (the highest
recognition). This qualification is the only
certification certifying the digital transformation
capabilities of specific advertising enterprise

9A .
SEPTEMBER

MERZEZESEMMBELELRY - BF
AR ZIATES) - 2024FEN\FMELE
EEONEEGEK - RFEEME [ELER
FEEE=FEELE | FEEERAED
MERRERENSOFREKE - 28R
B 3 b 4R o

The Lam Kwun King Memorial Fund Limited
was established by Mr. Vincent Lam and
has been actively conducting a series of
public welfare activities. In 2024, the eighth
Lam Kwun King Memorial Library was
completed in Nanyang, Henan, meanwhile,
the “Seventh Reading Competition” was
being held in the school, aiming to care for
and promote the healthy growth of children
and teenagers through long-term activities,
enriching their school life.

DEFT R | RBEITRITEN - (ER) B

Ei Eé‘%%ﬁin BERELM MR - T
BRI [2024F BT R E T EE ) [ AT R

%(%iﬁfﬁ)*{mﬂjﬁj
The “Standard Chartered Corporate Achievement
Awards” organized by Standard Chartered Bank
and co-organized by “Hong Kong Economic
Journal” aims to recognize outstanding
companies with leadership positions in their
industries. Asiaray is honored to receive the
“Standard Chartered Corporate Achievement
Awards 2024" for the “Sustainable Corporate
(Social Responsibility) - Outstanding Award”

Asiaray Media Group Limited
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RIARSKHE

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

RE=-XEBRRER
WINNING THREE
PROMINENT AWARDS

[ME=HIEER BFRAETEEREIRAREG

Ten Practical Models and Typical Cases of

“Two Enterprises & Three New Sectors”
EmEBELSE

Yunnan Airport Asiaray

IAEEE R R &R
IAlI Awards
iz
Bronze Award
BELE
Merit Award

B K g

The Spark Awards

HEDSFERDREZ —

Media Campaign of the Year

RHEES® - 38R - 7# - H16I81EIF

Won the Media Campaign of the Year as

one of the highest honors of the year at the event
and a total of other 16 awards including

5 Gold Awards, 3 Silver Awards

and 7 Bronze Awards

KEXF5%E GROUP CHAIRMAN’S RECOGNITIONS

PERIMEERE—BRIEEAD

China Outdoor Advertising Forum-Lifetime
Achievement Award

Rt

Justice of the Peace (JP)

tRAPIIESAB(WOO)ES

The World Out of Home Organization (WOO) Director
FEZEREERHAGRKER

Standing Committee member of All-China Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese

EHARBEHER

Standing Committee Member of the Yunnan Provincial
Committee of Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference

EHABHRELR

Honorary Chairman, Yunnan Province Federation

of Returned Overseas Chinese

EREHHEEER

Vice President of Yunnan Overseas Friendship Association
REARANBRBAIEEE T _EFELER

The 12th China Charity Awards presented by Ministry
of Civil Affairs of the People's Republic of China
BERRHTHREREZR GRS

Member of the Election Committee of HKSAR
BAERRBRNBEMENLEEESRZEGNE
Member of the Constitution and Basic Law Promotion Steering
Committee

AERFEDIRE LR

Chairman of Hong Kong Macau and Myanmar Chamber
of Commerce & Industry

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 14

BEENEHERSERARSER

Executive Vice Chairman of the Hong Kong Kowloon Federation
of Associations

MEBEEESGERA

Founder of Lam Kwun King Memorial Fund Limited

PRt ERNEEERBHE - RERTIAREREIeREER
Honorary President, China Association of Social Welfare and
Senior Service — Children Welfare Service Committee
PEESEHEFIMNESEEREEE

Deputy Director, China Advertising Association

Out of Home Advertising Committee

LEmESHERER

Vice President Unit of Shanghai Advertising Association
EETERER

Hong Kong and Macao Affairs Advisors of Chongging Municipal
&8 [RECEO]

“Best CEO" of the Golden Hong Kong Stocks Awards
BEARBHERRSNEIMARLESR

Founder and Honorary President of the University

of Sydney China Alumni Network
FERRALTABREBESEER LA

Member of the Board of Directors of the University of New South
Wales Hong Kong Foundation Ltd

ERRERASELES

Honorary Chairman of Yunnan

Hong Kong Clansmen Association
EAENKYEREEE-_TEEREZEER

President of the 22nd Council

of Sham Shui Po Resident Association



SEFEREE GROUP QUALIFICATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

TEFIEERE-EERSELR

China Out-of-Home Advertising Forum — Senior Member
Commemoration
BeEAHEEREEEERME - ERAIAR

UNSDG Achievement Awards Hong Kong — Recognized
Project

B CERBARE-—HFELE L SET) —HHE
Standard Chartered Corporate Achievement Awards —
Sustainable Corporate (Social Responsibility) Outstanding
Award

LEEREER-FEENRBLE

SHIAF Awards — Media Agency of the Year

[SGGXHIS |- BFES X (BFHAREE) — &5
RAIE

"SGGXHIS" Level 1 Digital Advertising Enterprise (Digital
Comprehensive Service Category) — Highest Recognition

ESGHE
ESG Pledge Scheme

R

Caring Company

CNAA | (FE—fEERZE)

HRREA(LEHES) - PEESHE

CNAA | (Advertising Agency — Level 1) Media Service
(Shanghai Asiaray) — China Advertising Association

CNAA | (hBI— R EERE)

HRIRGR(Er L) - PRESHS

CNAA | (Advertising Agency - Level 1) Media Service
(Yunnan Asiaray) — China Advertising Association
GB/T9001 - 2015/1SO9001: 2015 R#FEEE ( LIGHELHE)
GB/T9001 - 2015/1SO9001: 2015 International
Certificate of Registration (Shanghai Asiaray)
HEESHEEEEN

China Advertising Association Council Members
TEESHBEFIEE SR EEM

Deputy Director Unit of Outdoor Committee

of the China Advertising Association
tETEEHERIEREN

Vice President Unit of Shanghai Advertising Association
TERRHE - @B EM

China Trademark Association — Member Unit
TEMEENESEREHE
RERMNARERBOGLEGREN

Honorary President Unit of the Child Welfare and
Protection Services Branch of China Social Welfare
and Elderly Welfare Association

EEREHRE - RIREPHZE S MNRFERES

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification —
Environmental Campaign Committee and
Environmental Protection Department
EEARMREM( EETHHEEESRE)

MNC's Regional Headquarters (issued by Shanghai
Municipal Commission of Commerce)

FHl3817 CAMPAIGN AWARDS

PEFINESRIE — KB [2024FINEE 2 &

— 2ERAEEES | BAN [BEHEE IR

China Outdoor Advertising Forum — Awarded
2024 The Best Outdoor Advertising in China

— The Largest Color Painting Area Under the Bridge in
China" and the Recognition of "Quality Media"
FENEZSREHEHAE

— 2B& 5 - 1IASREE - 21BIAEE - 2IAEFR

The 9th OOH Contextual Marketing Awards

— 2 Gold Awards, 1 Silver Award, 2 Bronze Awards
and 2 Merit Awards

S+HEILRBEERAZSH I REEREE

— STHEFE

The 15th Beijing International Creative Festival Beijing
International Creative Award

- 5 Merit Awards

20248 FEHAMEREERIBETRB T LHERAE
— 2IHEFE

2024 Digital Marketing Innovation & Development
International Forum and the China Digital Marketing
Effectiveness Competition

— 2 Merit Awards

DEEAE 0 2024 Bl FINKES AT A ®

— 3ELH - 1THRSE

Gold Jade Awards ® 2024 China Outdoor Media
Creative Conference

— 3 Gold Awards, 1 Silver Award

SRR o REIMEEE AT

— 1IHIRE

China Metro Advertising Competition

— 1 Silver Award

2024 F EMEA M S HERBF ARES

— 1I58R4E « SIH AE 52

2024 Yunnan Province administration Market Regulation
Excellent Public Service Announcement

— 1 Bronze Award, 5 Finalists

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 15
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

SHIA

COMBINED REVENUE

BEARY%
RMB million

1,235.4
2024

2,226.7
2023

m EEEHUA Group's consolidated revenue m B AT Associate companies’ revenue

REtFIE  -RIR  -HERMBAHERF
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX,

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

BEARY
RMB million

2024

2023

REESMABSEBA

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT

BEARY
RMB million

1,069.3
2024

1,608.8
2023

m #35 Airports = B REEE Metro Lines & Billboards B+ REMEFK Bus and other business

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 FiR 16
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

RAAZNREECHEEEEBER AR ([
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2024 F RE AR R ABRE TR 1A —
F o RBERRCERESH  ERBEBEN
55 mMDAMEER L - EEA# - RE
WP EBELRERERATIS AE MM A3 E
RAERENWITHRE  KAEBEEE © 8
BARKI04EENHE - EKETENET
BMESTREEIRENEESRE N  EE2ET
SEHEREBENHERRPIERAUESE
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BEHTERERLK - AN WEBERAER
HEREY T - EEBECEBRIIARREN
[BMBARIBRRERG - BRILZT) * &
M BARAEENERR - BENE
AW [ =MER I ERREHITREEN [P
MREMBERBE] - KRESH - WK IAE
BRFMERE[FHERER] MEFREEE
EHREABER - BULFK > mE B @S RK
AYHERBRENES IR MUERRR
AEBZLES - ZEARAEINERES
MERBEL  BMAFBEAGHHIMERES
WERGME ZHH & EEREFEMN - &
BAETHRERASREZREFTRE -

| hereby present the annual results of Asiaray Media Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Asiaray” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the "Year").

The year 2024 was a testament to Asiaray’s resilience and
strategic adaptability. Despite facing persistent global
economic headwinds and overall subdued consumption
sentiment, we confronted challenges head-on and
transformed adversities into opportunities. Embracing a
dual focus on operational discipline and market-driven
innovation, the Group turned around to profit of RMB10.4
million, evidencing our commitment to navigate uncertainty
with agility and reaffirming our role as a trusted partner in an
evolving business environment.

The global economic environment remained fraught with
volatility, dampening consumers’ spending desire and
delaying the recovery of key industries. Yet with these
challenges came opportunities, ones that resonated deeply
with Asiaray’s legacy as a pioneer. The innovative spirit has
been in Asiaray’s DNA since day one, exemplified by our
unique Space Management expertise and the O&O New
Media Strategies that have transformed industry standards.
Today, this same forward-thinking ethos drives our ability
to adapt to the “new-new normal”, requiring not just
responsiveness but also visionary alignment. Simultaneously,
brands are increasingly seeking cost-effective advertising
solutions without compromising creativity, which has always
been our core strengths. By marrying our historical agility
with fresh strategic focuses, we have balanced prudence
with measured business development to secure resilience,
ensuring what we do today can fortify our development
tomorrow.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 17
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Our key focus has always been to rigorously optimize our
media resource portfolio. Our longstanding relationships
with media owners proved instrumental, enabling us to
adjust our portfolio with new, strategically aligned assets. As
part of this process, we conducted a comprehensive review
of all assets, exiting underperforming or non-synergistic
partnerships while renewing agreements for high-potential
resources on favorable terms and at competitive costs, and
additional resources being entrusted. This initiative not only
sharpened our cost discipline and enhanced our efficiency
but also allowed us to streamline internal operations,
aligning our organizational structure to unlock the full
potential of the selective media resources with a more
focused resource base.

Parallel to this discipline, we doubled down on capturing
emerging opportunities. Anticipating the rise of domestic
consumption in mainland China and Hong Kong’s cross-
border spending wave, we forged partnerships with
leading brands in sectors such as catering, healthcare,
insurance and wealth management. Our dedicated regional
teams worked closely with local champions, delivering
value-added advertising solutions that appealed to their
target audiences. Equally important was our response
to the industry’s growing emphasis on cost efficiency.
Capitalizing on our own DOOH+ platform and technological
advancements, plus supported by our decades of
experiences and economies of scale, we delivered solutions
that balanced measured deployment with creativity. The
revenue generated by DOOH+ account for around 20%
of the total revenue. Our award-winning projects this
year included a large-scale Mother’'s Day campaign that
transformed transportation hub into Al photo experience
zone, enabling travelers to take photos and receive instant
edits in royal attire. This innovative initiative bagged 15
prestigious awards, including the Grand Award at The Spark
Awards 2024. By turning Hong Kong’s metro lines into a
popular photo hotspot, the campaign not only created
unforgettable memories, but also boosted local spending
through prizes and dining opportunities.
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202593 H248

The year 2024 revealed a fundamental truth: challenges,
when met with clarity and determination, could become
catalysts for new beginnings. Looking ahead, while
uncertainty prevails, China’s ongoing policies and initiatives
to boost domestic demand, along with Hong Kong's
vibrant cross-border consumption activity, provide solid
opportunities to the Group. Innovation will remain the
cornerstone of our strategy as we drive the development
of creative advertising technologies to optimize campaign
efficiency and turn insights into actionable tactics. Moreover,
we will continue to deepen our foothold in mega transport
advertising solutions to serve the Greater China region,
enhance our capabilities to deliver integrated, cross-media
solutions that connect brands with evolving consumer
needs, as we have always done.

APPRECIATION

Our return to profitability was not just a financial milestone;
it validated our team’s dedication and resilience, our media
resources owners’ confidence in us, our advertisers’ trust
and collaboration, and our steadfast focus on long-term
value creation. Furthermore, on behalf of the Board, | want
to express gratitude to our shareholders for their support.
Moving forward, we will continue to create lasting value
for all stakeholders while upholding our commitment to
excellence.

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JrP
Chairman and Executive Director
24 March 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, geopolitical conflicts, financial market
volatility, and inflationary pressures continued to suppress
consumer sentiment and hinder a robust economic recovery.
As a result, various industries, including advertising
industry, were inevitably impacted. However, we believe
every challenge carries an opportunity. In the face of these
challenges, the Group executed a comprehensive strategy
to stabilize operations, optimize media resources, and
lay the groundwork for business resilience. These efforts
resulted in a significant turnaround. Although the ongoing
streamlining of the internal structure and media network
was not fully reflected, the Group recorded a net profit
of RMB10.4 million for the Year, compared with a loss of
RMB9.9 million in 2023. The Group sharpened its focus
on operational efficiency and profitability by selectively
divesting underperforming media resources, while boosting
the productivity of retained resources. It also strategically
reacquired the operating rights of high-potential media
resources on more favorable terms and competitive costs,
and streamlined operational frameworks to enforce tighter
internal controls and cost discipline.

At the same time, the Group was committed to broadening
its client portfolio by strengthening partnerships with
brands in the daily consumer goods sector, such as food &
beverage, healthcare, insurance, and wealth management,
as well as collaborating with regional market leaders. This
positioned the Group to seize first-mover opportunities
fueled by trends such as cross-border consumption and
experiential tourism with significant results of bringing in
dental and food & beverage companies to advertise in Hong
Kong. In addition, to meet advertisers’ growing demand for
cost-effective, high-impact campaigns, the Group harnessed
its unique expertise in space management and immersive
scenarios to craft innovative, value-driven solutions. These
offerings blended creative vision with operational efficiency,
ensuring that clients achieved both quality and measurable
results.

For the Year, despite a decline in revenue to RMB1,069.2
million (2023: RMB1,608.8 million) due to a decrease in
media resource inventory from optimization initiatives,
gross profit was RMB306.7 million (2023: RMB351.9
million), with the gross margin improving significantly by 6.8
percentage points from 21.9% in 2023 to 28.7%. Earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) amounted to RMB593.2 million for the Year (2023:
RMB838.3 million).
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in a healthy
financial position with cash and cash equivalents, including
restricted cash amounting to RMB232.5 million (2023:
RMB390.8 million), laying a solid foundation for its business
recovery.

Performance of Business Segments

Metro lines and billboards

This segment recorded revenue of RMB399.6 million
(2023: RMB585.5 million) for the Year, with gross profit of
RMB103.8 million and a gross profit margin of 26.0% (2023:
RMB158.9 million and 27.1%). For metro operations, the
Group leveraged its expertise and market insights to secure
more favorable terms when renewing key metro media
resources such as Shenzhen Metro, which delivered solid
results. Meanwhile, established assets such as Hangzhou
Metro performed consistently as anticipated. Additionally,
the growing prominence of high-speed rail as a preferred
mode of travel enhanced the advertising value at hubs such
as Hong Kong's West Kowloon Station and Kunming Railway
Station, supported by steady passenger flows and the
Group's business synergies derived from the resources in the
Greater China region. The billboard business continued to
improve through diversification of media formats, including
the gradual improvement of billboard effectiveness through
tailored adjustments.

Airports

For the Year, this segment recorded revenue of RMB358.3
million (2023: RMB519.4 million), gross profit of RMB124.5
million and gross profit margin of 34.8% (2023: RMB137.9
million and 26.6%), representing a year-on-year increase
of 8.2 percentage points. The improvement in profitability
was driven by the optimization of the Group’s airport media
portfolio through continuous resource rationalization,
including the regained advertising and media contracts
for Haikou Meilan International Airport, which were at a
more favorable overall cost. While the full operational
restructuring is still ongoing, encouraging progress was
made during the Year, confirming the effectiveness of the
current strategy in enhancing returns.
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Bus and others

This segment recorded revenue of RMB311.4 million
(2023: RMB503.9 million) for the Year, with gross profit of
RMB78.4 million and a gross profit margin of 25.2% (2023:
RMB55.1 million and 10.9%), a year-on-year increase of 14.3
percentage points. By formally terminating underperforming
contracts in the second half of the year, this segment
streamlined operations and enhanced efficiency, leading to
a return to stable performance.

O&O New Media Strategy Development

During the Year, the Group continued to leverage its
industry-leading Outdoor and Online ("O&0O") New
Media Strategy and Digital Out-of-Home Plus (“DOOH+")
platform, earning 45 accolades from influential industry
platforms for innovative campaigns. The Group has fully
leveraged its deep market insights, decades of expertise,
and economies of scale, combining creativity to connect
brands with audiences while prioritizing efficiency, rapid
execution, and cost-effectiveness. Notable projects included
a collaboration with a globally renowned beverage brand,
which was awarded the OOH Contextual Marketing Award'.
The Group redesigned a subway station using the brand’s
signature colors, transforming the space into a vibrant
brand showcase. Coinciding with the buzz around the
Paris Olympics, the campaign incorporated athletic track
motifs and Olympic ring installations to amplify the theme
of “cheering for athletes”. In Hong Kong, the Group won
the prestigious IAl Awards? by reimagining bus stops for an
international beer brand, integrating atmospheric lighting
elements to create an immersive nighttime experience that
offered pedestrians a fresh perspective.

1 The OOH Contextual Marketing Award serves as an industry
benchmark and has been held for nine consecutive years. It aims to
identify outstanding cases that best represent the innovative spirit and
communication value of OOH contextual marketing from numerous
entries, thereby driving industrial development. Recognized as one of
the most authoritative awards in China’s advertising sector, it maintains

rigorous evaluation standards and systematic selection mechanisms.

2 The renowned IAl AWARDS was founded in 2000, co-organized by
the China Advertising Association of Commerce and the School of
Advertising of Communication University of China. Its jury panel of
around 200 members includes influential figures from the academic,
advertising, corporate, and media sectors, demonstrating its high

recognition in the industry.
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On the supply side, the Group strengthened its partnership
with programmatic advertising leaders such as The Trade
Desk, Hivestack by Perion and Vistar Media, seamlessly
connecting premium OOH media resources with those
seeking precise, data-driven advertising solutions. For
example, a telecom brand targeting tech-savvy, data-heavy
mobile users leveraged the Group’s media resources across
Singapore’s Thomson-East Coast Line via programmatic
platforms. Coupled with the Group’s Weather Triggering
technology, creatives dynamically switched between
“sunny” and “rainy” versions based on real-time weather
to complete the offline-to-online cycle, enabling the brand
to chase away the rain-day blues by offering customers
free data whenever it rained in Singapore. This real-time
adaptation boosted engagement by aligning incentives
with immediate scenarios, adding interactivity and playful
relevance. These efforts not only enriched urban visual
landscapes but also demonstrated the strategic balance
between innovative impact and operational agility.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, the macroeconomic landscape
remains uncertain, shaped by geopolitical tensions and
recessionary risks that continue to weigh on market
confidence. Nevertheless, the growing cross-border
consumption activities between mainland China and Hong
Kong are expected to create opportunities for the entire
advertising industry. Thus, the Group remains optimistic
about its prospects, drawing on its market expertise,
expansive Greater China media network, and proven track
record of advertising solutions that balance efficiency and
innovation.

Supported by the Chinese government'’s initiatives to boost
domestic consumption, the Group aims to strengthen its
partnership with sectors aligned with current consumption
patterns. By harnessing its strategically located media
resources across airports, metro systems, and high-speed
rail networks, the Group will continue to deliver campaigns
that link brand objectives with consumer trends, enabling
the creation of targeted and innovative advertising solutions
designed to broaden revenue streams and strengthen
market position.
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For the longer-term prospect, the Group remains
committed to refining its internal control and adopting
prudent financial practices to mitigate risk and allow it
to navigate the evolving business landscape. Meanwhile,
the Group will continue to optimize its media portfolio
through long-standing partnerships with major media
resource owners, enhancing profitability while maintaining
operational efficiency. These initiatives will be supported
by organizational restructuring to better align with ever-
changing market demands and opportunities.

Renowned for its agility and adaptability, the Group is
able to capitalize on its extensive knowledge of large-
scale transport advertising and keen market insights. By
maintaining this strategic agility, the Group is poised to turn
market shifts into opportunities, securing long-term value for
its shareholders and benefits for its stakeholders.

Amid the challenging business environment during and
after COVID, the Group has implemented a very supportive
sales strategy for our advertisers in the Yunnan subsidiary.
As a result, our tea leaves inventory has increased
substantially over these years. The Group will continue to
deploy resources, including but not limited to establishing
a dedicated team to open up online and offline wholesale
channels and collaborate with different retail partners. The
Group believes such measures will not only manage our tea
leaves inventory but also innovate other business models as
a natural extension of our traditional Out-Of-Home media
business which is consistent with our innovative “Space
Management” operation model being listed in the Harvard
Business Publishing Education Case Study Collection under
Harvard University in 2022.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the Year decreased from
RMB1,608.8 million to RMB1,069.2 million, representing a
year-on-year decreased by 33.5%. The decrease in revenue
was due to termination of projects during the Year.

The airports segment revenue decreased by 31.0% from
RMB519.4 million in 2023 to RMB358.3 million in 2024. The
decrease was mainly due to the economy recovery in post
epidemic era is not as fast as expected in the Mainland
China.

The metro and billboards segment revenue decreased by
31.7% from RMB585.5 million in 2023 to RMB399.6 million in
2024. The decrease was mainly due to the termination and
expiry of projects.

The bus and others segment revenue decreased by 38.2%
from RMB503.9 million in 2023 to RMB311.4 million in 2024.
The decrease is mainly due to the termination and expiry of
projects.

Cost of Revenue

The cost of revenue decreased by RMB494.4 million, or
39.3%, from RMB1,256.9 million in 2023 to RMB762.5
million in 2024. Such decrease was in line with the decline in
revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit in 2024 decreased by RMB45.1 million, or
12.8%, from RMB351.9 million in 2023 to RMB306.7 million.
However, the gross profit margin increased from 21.9%
in 2023 to 28.7% in 2024. The increase was due to the
termination and expiry of underperforming projects.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The selling and marketing expenses decreased by RMB18.9
million, or 14.3%, from RMB132.8 million in 2023 to
RMB113.8 million in 2024. The decrease was in line with the
decline in revenue.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses increased by RMB10.1 million,
or 5.5%, from RMB182.8 million in 2023 to RMB192.9 million
in 2024.
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Finance Costs, net

Net finance cost decreased by RMB55.8 million, or 43.8%,
from RMB127.4 million in 2023 to RMB71.6 million in 2024.
The decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease in
interest expense recognized in accordance with HKFRS16.
The decrease was due to the termination and expiry of
projects during the Year.

Share of net loss of investments accounted for using the
equity method

The share of net loss of investments in associates decreased
from RMB10.3 million in 2023 to RMB4.4 million in 2024 due
to the termination of underperforming projects.

Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense increased from RMBO0.4 million in 2023
to RMB76.8 million in 2024.

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation (“EBITDA")

The EBITDA of the Group decreased by RMB245.1 million,
or 29.2%, from RMB838.3 million in 2023 to RMB593.2
million in 2024.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company increased by
RMB32.1 million, or 163.1%, from RMB19.7 million in 2023
to RMB51.8 million in 2024. The loss was the net effect of the
performance of the Group as fully explained in the above.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds. As the Group
carries out business in the Mainland China and Hong Kong,
most of its receipts and payments were denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As the conversion of
Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government, the Directors consider that there is
no significant exposure on the foreign exchange risk. The
Group will closely monitor foreign exchange exposure and
consider hedging significant exposure should the need
arises.
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Dividend Policy

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group's cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
was RMB232.4 million as at 31 December 2024, representing
a decrease of RMB158.3 million compared with that as at
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, the financial
ratios of the Group were as follows:
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Gearing ratio®@
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As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

0.75 0.83

0.4 0.2

Notes:
(1) Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

(2) Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt/(cash) divided by total equity.

Net debt/(cash) is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current
and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity
represents the equity attributable to owners of the Company and non-
controlling interests.

Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 in
the sum of RMB355.4 million. Out of the total borrowings,
RMB251.8 million was repayable within one year, while
RMB103.7 million was repayable after one year. The carrying
amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi.

No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,

nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged
by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.
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Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings. Short-
term bank deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group's interest rate risks arise primarily from variable
rates bank borrowings. The management manages interest
rate risks and controls such risks within a reasonable level by
closely tracking changes in the macroeconomic environment
and monitoring changes in current and projected interest
rates on a regular basis, taking into account conditions in the
domestic and international markets.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group
did not pledge any assets to secure borrowings of the
Group.

Capital Expenditures

The Group's capital expenditures primarily comprise cash
expenditures for property, plant and equipment, such as
advertising facilities and furniture and office equipment.
Its capital expenditures for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 were RMB45.4 million and RMB17.4 million,
respectively.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities outstanding
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Important Event after the Reporting Period

There is no important event affecting the Group which have
occurred since 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and
retirement benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and the
Mainland China. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
579 employees (2023: 796 employees). The total salaries
and related costs for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 amounted to RMB194.6 million and RMB223.7
million, respectively.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP, aged 65

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP (“Mr. Lam”) was appointed as
a Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as an executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014. Mr. Lam is the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam is
the founder of the Group and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master’s degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also a member and a director of the
UNSW Hong Kong Foundation Board. He is a fellow of the
CPA Australia.

Mr. Lam is a director of the Christian Action, a charitable
organisation in Hong Kong. He was appointed as the
Chairman of Hong Kong Macau and Myanmar Chamber
of Commerce and Industry in December 2019; a member
of the Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in October 2021; the Justices
of the Peace by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in July 2023; the director of
seventh council of Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association in May 2024; the Hong Kong-Macao Consultant
of Chongqging Municipal People’s Government in June
2024; and was re-appointed as a Non-official Member of
Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee in January 2024.
In recognition of his outstanding performance in charity,
Mr. Lam was awarded the 12th China Charity Awards —
Individual Donation Award by the Ministry of Civil Affairs of
the People’s Republic of China.
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Kwan Tat Cheong, aged 66

Executive Director

Mr. Kwan Tat Cheong (“Mr. Kwan") was appointed as an
executive Director on 10 March 2022. Mr. Kwan joined the
Group as the Chief Development Officer of the Group on 1
January 2022 (ceased to be the Chief Development Officer
of the Group immediately upon the appointment of an
executive Director becoming effective), and is responsible
for the overall operation and management of the Group. He
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwan holds a Master of Business Administration awarded
by the School of Business and Technology of Webster
University, United States of America. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Kwan worked in the Bank of East Asia, Limited
from May 1978 to October 2019. While working for the Bank
of East Asia, Limited, he had been appointed as the general
manager of Shenzhen, Shanghai and Guangzhou branches,
executive director, chief executive and senior advisor of the
Bank of East Asia (China) Limited respectively. Mr. Kwan
had been appointed as a member of the Twelfth Shanghai
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FBIARBUGH AR LETE T _EZE )
during the period from January 2013 to December 2017.
Mr. Kwan was an executive director of Bonjour Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 653)
during the period from August 2020 to December 2021.

Mr. Kwan is currently (i) a director of the Sixth Shanghai
Soong Ching Ling Foundation Committee (/G RERES
®E/NEEES); (i) a director of the Spring Up Foundation
Limited, which is a non-governmental organisation providing
social services in Hong Kong; (iii) an independent director
of Power Glory Battery Tech (Hubei) Co., Ltd (N{EEREHX
O#3E) I B R A7) (formerly known as Power Glory Battery
Tech (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (NEBREHZ ORI D B R A )
whose shares are listed on Beijing Stock Exchange (stock
code: 835237); (iv) a director of the China Shanghai Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association; (v) as the Honorary Life
Chair of Greater China Financial Professionals Association;
(vi) a vice-president of Metaverse Society, a Hong Kong
registered non-profit making organisation under the
supervision of the Doctors Think Tank Academy; and (vii) a
director of Alice Lan And Vera Shen Education Fund Limited.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Wu Xiaopin, aged 51

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wu Xiaopin (“Ms. Wu") was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 18 April 2023.

She has more than 20 years of experience in investment
and capital markets. Ms. Wu joined Ant Group in 2018 and
has held various positions including Managing Partner of
Ant Unicorn Fund, Head of Fund Investments and Head of
Capital Markets. Prior to joining Ant Group, Ms. Wu spent
18 years in investment banking industry and worked at The
China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC), Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, Bank of China International, Citigroup and
Deutsche Bank with her last position being Head of China
Equity Capital Markets for Deutsche Bank. Ms. Wu obtained
her master’'s degree in economics and finance from the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (Wudaokou)
(FERARBTHELER(RBO)) in 2001.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 83

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung ("Mr. A. Ma") was appointed
as a Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 June 2014. He is
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA CPA
Limited (formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited)
in Hong Kong. He is also a founder and served as a director
of Mayee Management Limited until his retirement on 1
January 2024. He has more than 40 years of experience in
the fields of accounting, auditing and finance.

Mr. A. Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of C-MER Medical Holdings Limited (stock code:
3309) (formerly known as C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited)
and S.A.l. Leisure Group Company Limited (stock code:
1832), the shares of all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. A. Ma previously served
as an independent non-executive director of Chong Hing
Bank Limited (former stock code: 1111), the listing of the
shares of which on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
has been withdrawn on 30 September 2021; and China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
836), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, until his retirement on 14 May 2021 and 15
September 2021, respectively.

Mr. A. Ma received his Bachelor's degree in Economics
from the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Ma Ho Fai GBS Jr, aged 73

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (“Mr. Ma") was appointed as a Director
on 20 May 2014 and designated as an independent non-
executive Director on 12 June 2014. He is also the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, England and Wales in 1987, Australian Capital
Territory in 1988 and the Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr.
Ma has been appointed by the Ministry of Justice as a China
Appointed Attesting Officer since 2000 and a Civil Celebrant
since 2006. He has also been appointed by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the
Chairman of the Protection of Wages on Insolvency Fund
Board since 2018 and the Chairperson of the Travel Industry
Authority since 2020. In addition, he is a Deputy of the
11th, 12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the PRC.
In recognition of his distinguished public and community
service, Mr. Ma was appointed as a Non-Official Justice of
the Peace in 2005 by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star in 2017.
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Mak Ka Ling, aged 55

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Mak Ka Ling (“Ms. Mak”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 5 May 2017. She is
also a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Ms. Mak has over 24 years of experience in human resources
and organisation effectiveness consulting. She had worked
at Korn Ferry Hay Group ("’"Hay Group’’), which is the
global people and organisational advisory division of Korn
Ferry International, a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE: KFY), for 15 years. Ms. Mak was an
associate director and an associate client partner of Hay
Group from December 2014 to May 2016 and May 2016 to
April 2017, respectively. During her tenure at Hay Group,
she advised boards on market best practices on human
capital related issues; and worked with organisations to help
clarify strategy priorities, develop people and organisation
transformation solutions and consulted on human resources
implementation plans to support organisation changes.

Ms. Mak started her career as an executive management
trainee of Jardine, Matheson & Co., Limited (the ""Jardine
Matheson’’), a subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings
Limited listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX:
J36), in September 1993. During her employment with
Jardine Matheson until February 2002, Ms. Mak held various
managerial positions, including working as a business unit
head at the subsidiaries of Jardine Matheson as well as a
human resources management leader in the head office of
Jardine Matheson.

Ms. Mak obtained a Bachelor of Science (Joint Honours)
degree in Computer Science and Accounting from the
University of Manchester in July 1992, a Master of Business
Administration degree from the business school of Imperial
College, University of London in November 1993. She is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The
Board believes that good corporate governance is important
in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Throughout
the Year, the Company had complied with all applicable code
provisions as in force during the Year under the CG Code
except for the deviations from code provisions C.2.1 and
C.1.6 of the CG Code. The deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” of this annual report.

Under code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors should
attend general meetings of the Company and develop a
balanced understanding of shareholders’ view. However,
due to other business engagement, a then non-executive
Director and the current non-executive Director were unable
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 3 June 2024.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control
and risks.

The Board delegates certain aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company’s
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
directors (“Directors”), the composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Jp (Chairman)
Kwan Tat Cheong

Non-executive Directors:
Wu Xiaopin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mak Ka Ling

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 29
to 34 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has had three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, with one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual
confirmation in writing of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Director and consider them to be
independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association ("M&A"), the Board may from time to time
appoint a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Any such new Director shall hold
office until the next following general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at the same meeting.

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed without a specific term
and all Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and are subject to re-election in
accordance with the M&A.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established.

Mr. Lam currently assumes the roles of both the Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (the "CEQ") of
the Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of
the Company'’s strategies. The Board will review the need of
appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of the CEO
when necessary.
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Diversity
The Board
The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Company has
considered board diversity policy in designing composition
of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity and considered that
they remain effective and appropriate for the Company. As
at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors,
two of which are female. The Board considers its diversity
of gender is appropriate and targets to maintain at least
the current level of female representation to avoid a single
gender Board.

The Workforce

In terms of workforce of the Group, as at 31 December
2024, the Group has 579 employees (including senior
management, if any). Among which, there were 274 male
employees and 305 female employees. Based on the current
gender ratio in the Group’s workforce, the Board is of the
view that the Group has sufficiently achieved a certain
degree of balanced diversity. The Group will continue to
consider diversity during recruitment (subject to job nature)
in order to achieve a balance gender ratio in our workforce.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board shall be responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out below or it may delegate the
responsibilities to a Board committee or Board committees:

o To develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

o To review the internal control system and risk
management system of the Group;

. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company;

o To review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual, if any, applicable to
employees and Directors of the Company;

] To review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code as set out in the Listing Rules and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report; and

J To review the disclosure system of the Company.
During the Year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of

the Group, which were all considered adequate and
appropriate.
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Name of Directors

Executive Directors
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Jp

Kwan Tat Cheong

Non-executive Directors

Lam Ka Po (Nete )

Wu Xiaopin
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Mak Ka Ling
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Board Meetings
During the Year, the Board held five meetings to review the
Group's overall strategies and policies, to approve interim
and final results, to discuss significant issues and operation
of the Group. The attendance (either in person or through
other electronic means of communication) record of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and General Meetings during the Year is set out below:

Exg

4/5

575

1/2

1/5

5/5

5/5
5/5

Notes:

BHE/RERLRERRY
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
REZRE

B ZRE

Audit
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TEm
N/A
TEm
N/A

TEm
N/A
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Nomination
Committee
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Remuneration
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171

11
11
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General
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Al
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Mr. Lam Ka Po retired as a non-executive Director on 3 June 2024.



TEERE  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEECHEAERRE
BREZAINFTEF(WE)OSEEHRS
m EARTEEFTENABEI - BEFH
BREEEARAEBUREERERERE
MER - I BTREZTTHREERER
EENRAER  RENSEEHTISHEE
REREFER LT @EAER
BESMEERMNER - BENEE2024%12
ANBLEFE  BREFBEZEREBIODEH
ZHFIWT -

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will
be given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors
will be provided with materials relevant to the Company’s
business and director’s duties and responsibilities. In
addition, in order to allow the Directors to understand the
latest development of regulatory and compliance issues, they
are also provided with market news and regulatory updates
in relation to the corporate governance, the listing issue, the
accounting standards and the anti-corruption. A summary of
their records of continuous development training during the
year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

A,
e BE S 'R
BmELEES
BRAZEREH
Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/
conference/

reading regulatory
updates relevant to
corporate governance

Name of Directors

HITES Executive Directors

MIEEL P+ Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP v

BEE Kwan Tat Cheong vV

FHITES Non-executive Directors

MRE Lam Ka Po \
(RR2024F6 A3 HRE) (retired on 3 June 2024)

RIBE3E Wu Xiaopin i

BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors

5 R Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung v

BREBSLHES X FPHT Ma Ho Fai GBS JP \

BER Mak Ka Ling .
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. The table below provides
membership information of these Committees on which each
Director serves.

EEZET
Board Committees
B EEY EEEEY FMESES
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
R A Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP TE A @ M
N/A
B RRkE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung G TiE A M
N/A
BRELLHES X F#+  Ma Ho Fai GBS JP M M @
Bl Mak Ka Ling M M M
Hiat Notes:
£ HREEZEEER © Chairman of the relevant Board Committee
M HEEEZEEEKE M Member of the relevant Board Committee
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and is chaired by Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung. Other
members are Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Ms. Mak Ka Ling. All
members of the Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports,
the changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Year.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed
the interim and annual financial statements and reports; (ii)
discussed and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate governance
issues; (iv) reviewed the continuing connected transaction;
and (v) made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and is chaired by Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP, the
chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Other
members are two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Ms. Mak Ka Ling.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
(1) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board
the composition of the Board members and monitor the
implementation of the policy on board diversity; (3) to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
(4) to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (5) to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular
the chairman of the Board and the CEO. The terms of
reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee (i)
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board; (ii) reviewed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (iii) made recommendations to the
Board on the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”)
on 6 December 2014 which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

Under the Policy, the Company recognises and embraces

the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6
December 2014 and is chaired by Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP,
an independent non-executive Director. Other members
are two independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung and Ms. Mak Ka Ling and one
executive Director, namely, Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JpP.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (1) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (2) to review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (3) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; (4) to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (5) to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes.
The terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
Year. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee (i)
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the Directors; and (ii) reviewed
and approved the matters relating to share award scheme.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the Company in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards. The Directors confirm that
suitable accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgement
and estimates have been made in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. The Board is not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may affect the business of the Company or cast doubts
on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 73 to 83.

Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems, where
management is responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control
systems to manage risk.

A sound and effective system of risk management and
internal control is designed to achieve the Group'’s strategic
objectives and safeguard shareholder investments and
the Group's assets. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve strategic
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board has the overall responsibilities of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
With the support of the Audit Committee, the Board
monitors the Group's risk exposures, oversees the actions
of management and monitors the overall effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. Management is responsible for setting the
appropriate tone from the top, performing risk assessments,
and owning the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control. Policies and procedures form the basis and
set forth the control standards required for functioning of
the Group's business entities. These policies and procedures
covered various aspects, including operations, finance &
accounting, human resources, regulatory & compliance,
delegation of authority, etc.
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Risk Management and Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment
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[ N

Risk Assessment
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Identify the Group's key
risks in each of the
following category:
business & strategic,
operational, and
regulatory compliance.

R RBEHERS - AT
AR S EEARB
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Design risk assessment
questionnaire to
understand and assess
the risk level of each key
risk and whether the
Group's existing
procedures and controls
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Propose and recommend
mitigating controls for
each identified key risk
and assist the person in
charge or business units
to implement relevant
remedial measures.

Risk Report

s MBEFEREEAS
ERNEITHBERK -
Report to the Board and
management on the
implementation of the
remedial measures.

BRERN T AMEEE

Follow-up on the
implementation status of
these remedial measures.

1. R BS % Bl e are adequate.

Risk Identification
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Risk Response

An annual enterprise-wide risk assessment has been
performed to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks to
which the Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic
objectives. During the risk assessment process, the Group
has identified a number of key risks that may impact the
Group’s strategic objectives in responding to the changes
in the business and external environment. These risks are
prioritised according to the likelihood of their occurrence
and the significance of their impact on the business of
the Group. Moreover, remedial measures and mitigating
controls are developed to manage these risks to an
acceptable level.
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Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department is led by the Internal Audit
Manager, who reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The Internal Audit Department is primarily responsible for
conducting internal audit reviews on operational, financial
and compliance controls of the operating entities to ensure
their compliance with the Group’s risk management and
internal control policies and procedures.

Internal Audit Department is independent from operation
management and has full access to data required in
performing internal audit reviews. Internal audits are
conducted according to the internal audit plan approved
by the Audit Committee to review our major operational,
financial, compliance and risk management controls. During
the Year, Internal Audit Department performed audits on the
key operating entities located in Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

During the process of the internal audits, the Internal
Audit Department identified internal control deficiencies
and weaknesses and proposed recommendations for
improvements. Internal audit findings and control
deficiencies are communicated to internal audit team and
the management, who is responsible for ensuring the
deficiencies are rectified within a reasonable period. A
follow-up review is also performed to ensure the remedial
actions are implemented.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholder investments and the Group’s assets and with the
support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness
of such systems on an annual basis.

Key or major business units are required to perform an
annual control self-assessment to assess the effectiveness
of their internal control system within its key business
processes. The control self-assessment performed is in
the form of a questionnaire that sets out the key risks and
corresponding controls for each of key business process. The
Internal Audit Department reviews the completed control
self-assessment questionnaires and provide comments and
recommendations for management of the business units’
consideration.

During the Year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. In
addition, the Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

Procedures and Controls Over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant
sections of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
Listing Rules. An Inside Information Disclosure Policy
has been established to lay down practical guidelines on
definition and the scope of inside information; disclosure
and management framework; exemptions for disclosure;
receiving, reporting and disclosing of inside information;
confidentiality and records of such information. Pursuant
to the Inside Information Disclosure Policy, staff who have
access to inside information are required to follow the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy to keep the unpublished inside
information strictly confidential until such inside information
has been officially announced to the public in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board will
review and approve the inside information to be disclosed
and the Company Secretary has the responsibility to monitor
and communicate with professional parties such as our
external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fee payable to the external auditor of the
Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit and
non-audit services is set out below:

20244
2024

ARBT R
RMB’000

Audit services 2,800
Non-audit services -

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors
and that all the Directors have confirmed their compliance
with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum (“Mr. Ip”), the Company Secretary, is an
external service provider to the Company and a Certified
Public Accountant practicing in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip’s primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent JP, the executive Director. During the Year, Mr. Ip
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update his skills and knowledge. The Company
Secretary reports to the Board on corporate governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations are
followed. All Board members have access to the advice and
services of Company Secretary.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company has established a shareholders communication
policy with the objective of promoting a transparent and
effective communication with shareholders and enabling
shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner
through the publication of notices, announcements, circulars,
interim and annual reports on a timely manner via the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
also encourages shareholders to attend general meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with the
Board or management directly. Details of the shareholders
communication policy are available on the website of the
Company under Corporate Governance section.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the M&A, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
that the Company ceases to have such a principal place of
business, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that
such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the M&A or the Cayman Islands
Companies Law for shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of
the Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time put forward any enquiries to
the Board, details are as follows:

Address: 16/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Kornhill Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.hk

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to
its M&A.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Group will be issued simultaneously with, but separately
from, this annual report and will be available only on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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EPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages
86 to 87.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the Year is set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to 19 and pages 20 to
28 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the Group, which
are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 35 to 51 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
For the Year, no environmental exceedances were
recorded and there was no non-compliance in relation to
environmental and social aspects. Given the business nature,
the Group recognises its daily operation has an impact to
the environment. The Group is highly committed to make
continuous efforts on efficient use of natural resources,
promotion of energy conservation in its operations and
offices, as well as minimisation of its overall emissions
on the environment. Engagement with stakeholders has
resulted in raised concerns on key material issues, which
include: Employment, Occupational Health and Safety,
Development and Training, Consumer Data Protection
and Customer Service. The Group will continue to identify
areas of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep
close communication with its stakeholders for advancing
environmental, social and governance management.

The Company separately publishes the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the Year in compliance
with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 226
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company'’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to approximately RMB288.9
million (2023: approximately RMB333.6 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the Group’s top five largest customers
accounted for 6.8% (2023: 11.6%) of our revenues and the
single largest customer accounted for 2.0% (2023: 3.5%)
of our revenues. The Group's top five suppliers, who were
the media resources owners, accounted for 30.9% (2023:
55.9%) of our cost of revenue and the single largest supplier
accounted for 11.0% (2023: 17.9%) of our cost of revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in the Group's five largest customers
and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Jp (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Kwan Tat Cheong

Non-executive Directors:
Lam Ka Po (retired on 3 June 2024)
Wu Xiaopin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mak Ka Ling
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Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the M&A, one-third of the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at least once every three years at the AGM.

As such, Mr.Kwan Tat Cheong and Ms. Mak Ka Ling
(the "retiring Directors”) shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM and, all retiring Directors, who are
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment
letters, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed for
the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis
of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, with
consideration to the Group’s operation results and individual
performance. The Company has adopted a share award
scheme to the eligible persons as an incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group, details of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Award Scheme” of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the M&A, every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and Officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Agreements Relating to Perpetual Subordinated
Convertible Securities ("PSCS")

Save for the agreements disclosed in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company had no
other equity-linked agreement that would or might result in
the Company issuing shares, or that requiring the Company
to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing shares, was entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

OUTSTANDING PSCS
As at 31 December 2024, the following PSCS were still
outstanding:

() on 28 December 2017, for the purpose of raising
general working capital of the Company to support
its business development opportunities without
immediate shareholdings’ dilution impact, the
Company issued PSCS in the principal amount of
HKD30,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at
the initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per conversion
share under specific mandate (the “2017 PSCS") to
Space Management Limited (“Space Management”),
a company incorporated under the laws of the British
Virgin Islands and a controlling shareholder of the
Company. As at 31 December 2024, none of the
conversion rights under the 2017 PSCS was exercised
by Space Management and was still outstanding. For
details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 30 November 2017;

(i) on 28 June 2019, for the purpose of raising general
working capital of the Company to support payment
of concession fees in relation to projects previously
bid such as the Wenzhou Metro Exclusive Concession
Rights without immediate shareholdings’ dilution
impact, the Company issued PSCS in the principal
amount of HKD20,000,000 convertible into conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per
conversion share under specific mandate (the “2019
PSCS”) to Space Management. As at 31 December
2024, none of the conversion rights under the 2019
PSCS was exercised by Space Management and was
still outstanding. For details, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated 10 June 2019;
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(iii)

(iv)

on 14 May 2021, in settlement of the consideration
for the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Billion China International Limited (“Billion China”),
the Company issued PSCS in the principal amount of
HKD122,715,000 convertible into conversion shares at
the initial conversion price of HKD3.9 per conversion
share under specific mandate (the “Consideration
PSCS”) to Mr. Lam. As at 31 December 2024, none of
the conversion rights under the Consideration PSCS
was exercised by Mr. Lam and was still outstanding.
For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 31 March 2021;

on 1 November 2021, for the purpose of raising
general working capital of the Company to support
its business development plan without immediate
shareholdings’ dilution impact, the Company issued
PSCS in the principal amount of HKD75,000,000
convertible into conversion shares at the initial
conversion price of HKD2.43 per conversion share
under specific mandate (the “2021 PSCS”) to Space
Management. As at 31 December 2024, none of the
conversion rights under the 2021 PSCS was exercised
by Space Management and was still outstanding. For
details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 27 September 2021; and

on 27 September 2022, for the purpose of raising
general working capital of the Company to support
its business development plan without immediate
shareholdings’ dilution impact, the Company issued
PSCS in the principal amount of HKD37,500,000
convertible into conversion shares at the initial
conversion price of HKD1.4 per conversion share under
specific mandate (the “2022 PSCS”) to Mr. Lam. As
at 31 December 2024, none of the conversion rights
under the 2022 PSCS was exercised by Mr. Lam and
was still outstanding. For details, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 18 February 2022.
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Ha0245128318 BRERZHGRA
Immediately upon

Immediately upon Immediately upon exercise in full of

exercise in full of exercise in full of the conversion rights
attached to the 2017 PSCS,
the 2019 PSCS and
the Consideration PSCS
LRV
(%)
Approximate

the conversion rights
attached to the
2017 PSCS
BREAY
(%)
Approximate

the conversion rights
attached to the 2017 PSCS
and the 2019 PSCS
BREAM"
(*)
Approximate

As at 31 December 2024
CETAl
(%)
Approximate

Shareholders

R%E L6 k%A ke

Number of ~ percentage
)

Number of ~ percentage
(%)
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(')

Number of ~ percentage®

Shares (%) Shares Shares Shares

BEEXARRTE
2% - 0195 X AR
T8kRE REAARS
T8REER0AEXARE
TRRRSHE BRE
G

Immediately upon
exercise in full of the conversion
rights attached to the 2017
PSCS, the 2019 PSCS,
the Consideration PSCS and
the 2021 PSCS
BHEARY

(%)
Approximate

ke

Number of  percentage

Shares (%)

BENTEXARGTR
Bi% - 20195 X AR
TERES  REXARE
TEERS  W1EXARER
TERIERAN2EKA
RETRRRSHG 2ARE
BREfRE
Immediately upon
exercise in fullof the conversion
rights attached to the 2017
PSCS, the 2019 PSCS,
the Consideration PSCS,
the 2021 PSCS and
the 2022 PSCS
BHESRY
(%)
Approximate

ik

Number of  percentage

Shares (%)

ivit:3 Mr. Lam 293,121,500 6045 301,596,076 6113 307,245,793 6157 338,711,178 63.85 369,575,375 65.84 396,361,089 61.39
Wi Mr. Lam
(B1#8) [Personall helo) 0 000 0 000 0 000 31,465,385 593 31,465,385 560 58,251,099 990
Medlz Comerstone~ Media Comerstone Limited
Limited (IMedla ("Media Comerstone”)
Comerstone ) 254,921,500 5257 254921,500 5167 254921,500 5108 254921,500 4805 254921500 4541 254921500 B3
Space Management  Space Management 38,200,000 788 46674576 946 52324293 1049 5234293 986 83188490 148 83188490 1414
DRRR Public Shareholders 191,789,239 3955 191,789,239 3887 191,789,239 3843 191,789,239 3615 191,789,239 3416 191,789,239 32481
3 Total 484,910,739 100 493,385,315 100 499,035,032 100 530,500,417 100 561,364,614 100 588,150,328 100
Bzt Note:
1 MN2024F 12 A318 ' ARAEBBTRAEA 1 As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was

484,910,739R%p& 1 © 484,910,739 shares.
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a controlled corporation and
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Kwan Tat Cheong Beneficial owner
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company and
their associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")), as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

M2024F

12A31H

AT S BT

BRASTETR B2 2 B4
(BRRAE) BoH®
Approximate

percentage of

issued share

Total capital of
number of the Company
Equity Shares and as at
Number of derivative underlying 31 December
Shares (Share options) Shares 2024@
396,361,089 (L) /396,361,089 (L) 81.74%
Nil
665,868(L) F::3 665,868(L) 0.14%
Nil
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Notes:

1 The 396,361,089 Shares include (i) 254,921,500 Shares beneficially
held by Media Cornerstone; (ii) 38,200,000 Shares and the conversion
rights attaching to the PSCS convertible into 44,988,490 Shares
in aggregate beneficially held by Space Management; and (iii) the
conversion rights attaching to the PSCS convertible into 58,251,099
Shares beneficially held by Mr. Lam. As Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder
of Space Management and the founder of the Shalom Trust which
indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Media Cornerstone,
Mr. Lam is deemed to be interested in all the interest beneficially held

by Media Cornerstone and Space Management.

2 As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
484,910,739 Shares.

Abbreviation:

“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO or which are required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company'’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant
to a shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6
December 2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons as
defined in the Scheme for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The Scheme took effect on 15
January 2015 and expired on 14 January 2025.

During the Year, there were no outstanding share options
granted by the Company. No share options were granted,
exercised, expired or lapsed during the Year.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to any employee of the Group, options to subscribe for
shares of the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated in the Scheme.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 59



EEEWE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Zar 82 B

ZAt BB REEESREREERA
THARKEMELRAEELNER®
W FIE U EEE s O 3R

Zar Bl 2 RE
RigZaTE EXFQRREBHBERE
REMNEEREER  RAAKEEMNKE

NGRS A Y A AR R T2
FHERCEMNESHEE - AREE
ARERBZEP  EfER - BAA
KEXERGULZERIEMNESHES
(BRARBIHENEB QR 2 EA TR
BYED 2HTIGERATER) K TE
bt BRBREERTRBLRER  ER
ARASIEMB AR 2 2Bk RB(E
§ REZS2RENERSBEHARE
SHAKEFLERZEMAL -

RBZT BT RITZROBH

— I EREREN2016F6 A1 HERE
BERE BB AR HREHBERE
B 51 2 5% #E R 58 = 44,000,0000% B {7
HERAARRAFERBHNE %ET
AR ZN 48 B H) 499.07% © B RN Z =214
o HEH 15,934,875 BRE - B
HEKRK - RAEE » WETMHER
AR T 8 AR AT {6 RO BB AR A o

RITERIBEZET S R AR B EREAE
RIEZ A RARITEZ B ETT
ZBERBARBARNOBE T FBEERAF
B BTN B E30% °

ESREVIABZEERHEE
BRIEEA DRI IRIAZF BIFAETEZTT
AE - TARERT=EA SRR -
AeU2EETEERZBRE(RRE
BITE - MmARTTEREEH I BEERE)
MEETRASTRITZARRRMD A
TEBEARRREBITRDBE1% -

BAEEREEERAIT 2024 FH 60

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group.

Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may at its absolute
discretion grant options to any eligible employee, a
supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any director or employee of such supplier,
customer, any advisory, consultancy or professional
services to any member of the Group or any director
or employee of such entity (including any director,
whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or its subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with the
Company or its subsidiaries at the time when an option
is granted to such employee, or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

An ordinary resolution was passed at the AGM on
1 June 2016 relating to the refreshment of scheme
mandate limit of the share option to 44,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 9.07% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report. Since the adoption of the scheme, a
total of 15,934,875 share options have been granted
and were all lapsed. During the Year, there were no
outstanding share options granted by the Company.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant (including those exercised,
outstanding and cancelled options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue, unless approved by
the shareholders of the Company in the manner as
stipulated in the Scheme.



EEEWE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

TERRERE
BREIREFETIMEEARALZ
HARR A BERS IR IR 74t 8 2 IRSRATIE - 3%
HIRAREERLBEREE AR - 1§
ERMA T FER B BEER G A B
AHTHFRER - BZABTHIRAR LK
XHRTE o At BN E B RAETTRATL
BMARA Z &EHR

BRABE
BEZTER L 2 BRE BIRRIEE
HEFSNREBRERETE - ERE
ERT ZRBETEERTIES
o

o MEHEHABXMAEARERMD
ARARAD 2 W B -

s EERRHNEAMAEZEXABIM
FRBEXRMIIANRBRD ZFH
WHE: &

s ARFRMHZHEE-

BEABREMXNZEHE
ERMBRER  SRARABARSNH
BRBRENAAREIREI0ET
FEFSETNEMSRER/NE -

2T BT B U
ZAtEIER2025F1 A14B8 @R - BR
20251 R 148 » A AFERTEER
FT{EM B AR -

Zat I IREN & Gt ISR R T E32(a) ©

(e) Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, which period may commence on the date on
which the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the option subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. No minimum period
for which the option must be held before it can be
exercised as specified in the Scheme.

(f) The subscription price per share
The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Scheme is such price as determined
by the Board at the time of the grant of the options,
but in any case the subscription price shall not be lower
than the higher of:

o the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

o the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and

o the nominal value of a share of the Company.

(g) Payment on acceptance of option
A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as
determined by the Board by way of consideration for
the grant of an option is required to be paid by each of
the grantee upon acceptance of the option.

(h) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme expired on 14 January 2025 and there are
no outstanding share options granted by the Company
as at 14 January 2025.

Details of the Scheme are set out in Note 32(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 17 May
2018 (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the primary purposes
of providing incentives to eligible persons as defined in the
Share Award Scheme for their contribution to the Group.

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to
recognise and reward the contribution of certain
eligible persons for the growth and development of
the Group and to provide them with incentives in
order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Board may
at its absolute discretion grant shares to any eligible
employee, executive Director or non-executive
Director (including any independent non-executive
Director), customer, supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group, shareholder of any member
of the Group or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group, or any person who, in
the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed the
Group.
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() MROEBFTEINERTHIR (c) Remaining life of the Share Award Scheme
% 1 #2 B 51 & % 7 2028 5 A 17 B 5 The Share Award Scheme will expire on 17 May 2028
B ZIPE AT EEMETL2EHEN and that such expiration shall not affect any subsisting
ERIIREREF - R2024F128318 - rights of any selected participant thereunder. As at 31
B& (7 BE BN AT B R gr A EA 43 F 5@ A - December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme was approximately 3 years and 5 months.
RAFEE 1,974,127 %% 7 B B IE During the Year, 1,974,127 shares have been granted
BHEERFEIRLE  EHRERERN under the Share Award Scheme, 974,127 shares of
974,127 EB I N B - which were granted without vesting condition and
vesting period.
TREERAFERLERMONEDF The following table discloses movements of the shares
VI granted during the Year:
AEERRTHRABANED
Changes in the number of
awarded Shares during the Year
2024 2024
1R18 12A31A
ERAER ] ’ WAGE ~ BRhe BEER BAM B2 HABE
Not yet Not yet
vested as at vested as at
Vesting 1 January 31 December
Category of grantees  Date of grant period ™! Consideration 2024 Granted®  Vested Lapsed Cancelled 2024
BiES 202455A31A & & 0 43859 43859 0 0 0
Kwan Tat Cheong 31 May 2024 Nil Nil
ARENES 202455A31A & & 0. 53531 53553 0 0 0
Employees of the Group 31 May 2024  Nil Nil
ARERER 2024558318 - RRHAY & 0 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 0 0
FE25%
- BRHBER
NERE
FE75%
Consultants of the Group 31 May 2024 - 25% vested NIl
on the date of
grant
- 75% vested

after six months

from the date of
grant
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Notes:

(a) The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of
grant was HKD1.36 per Share. The fair value of the awarded
Shares granted on 31 May 2024 was HKD1.35 per Share.

(b) All grants were settled by existing shares. No new Shares were

issued for the grant of awarded Shares.

(c) As the Share Award Scheme was adopted on 17 May 2018, no
maximum entitlement for each participant has been set out in
the rules of the Share Award Scheme. However, the Company
will at all times observe the rules under Chapter 17 of the Listing

Rules.

Save for the share awards granted to the consultants
of the Group, all of the awarded Shares granted to
the grantees were vested in them on the date of
grant given that such share awards form part of their
respective remuneration packages. The awarded
Shares granted to the consultants of the Group shall
vest in them as to 25% on the date of grant and as to
75% after six months from the date of grant.

There are no restrictions prohibiting a vesting period
of less than 12 months under the Share Award Scheme.
The Remuneration Committee and the Board are of
the view that a vesting period of less than 12 months
is appropriate, after taking into consideration such
number of share awards as granted to the employees
of the Group and Mr. Kwan form part of their
respective remuneration packages and the grants
serve as appreciations for their respective past services
provided to the Group. The Remuneration Committee
and the Board are of the view that grants with no
vesting period aligns with the purpose of the Share
Award Scheme.

Details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in Note
32(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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TEREAROREBEROD ZEZ R AR INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
B SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:

MN2024128318 » L FATRAATRG
S AR RARR D HE A IR 1B 35 5 R B S 1561 55336 1%
BREZECMP RS ERIAE

REGREERD 2FR

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

BRREE BB

Name of Shareholders

Media Cornerstone
Media Cornerstone

Shalom Family Holding Limited
Shalom Family Holding Limited

UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited

Space Management
Space Management

Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited
Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited

MMEECXERRABRAF
(Hangzhou Yungiang Enterprise

Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*)

BEREEERNBRAR
(Ant Group Co., Ltd.*)

5/ REME

Capacity/Nature of interest

BalEA

Beneficial owner

REZHLEE R

Interest in a controlled corporation

Shalom Trust &3EA
Trustee of Shalom Trust

BEalEA

Beneficial owner

EalEA

Beneficial owner

REEHEB R

Interest in a controlled corporation

REEHEE R

Interest in a controlled corporation

RERQT
BRITREAZ
RSN AL
Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Number of capital in
shares the Company“
254,921,500 (L)@ 52.57%
254,921,500 (L)@ 52.57%
254,921,500 (L)® 52:57:%
83,188,490 (L)@ 17.16%
35,675,676 (L)® 7.36%
35,675,676 (L)@ 7.36%
35,675,676 (L)@ 7.36%

*  For identification purpose only
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1: Media Cornerstone M Shalom Family Holding
Limited 2 & # A * T Shalom Family Holding
Limitedfl|fgShalom Trust (ML EERMER T
A UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Limited/E& X5t AR
WEREET)2EHER -

72, 5 8 % 25 B 5 (1)38,200,000 A% A% 13+ R (i) K A
RBATARBFLHMSHRRE  TErAasH
44,988,490 % © Space Managementf MRt
B2 EHE -

31 Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited#%% 35,675,676
IRARD - MM EBCEEREAGRARAZEHE
A ImMMNEECEEEZAERAAAAEERER
BREERNDERARZEHRS °

4. R2024 12 A31H  "AQABAEEHTRAEA A
484,910,739R%AE1D -

[LIBtFR

b EXCATIREEE SN 0 FR2024F 12318 @ I
mEM A RIS KRB T %A RIRE
% N BB EBIZE 33614787 E 2 B ol st ik
ZHERTAR o
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Notes:

il Media Cornerstone is wholly-owned by Shalom Family Holding
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by the Shalom Trust, a
discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor with UBS Trustees
(B.V.l.) Limited as the trustee thereof.

2= Such interest includes (i) 38,200,000 Shares; and (ii) the conversion
rights attaching to the PSCS convertible into 44,988,490 Shares in
aggregate. Space Management is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr.

Lam.

3 The 35,675,676 Shares are held by Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited
which is wholly-owned by i/ EFE R EEEEMREGR AR (Hangzhou
Yungiang Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*), which is
in turn wholly-owned by #5881 &£ B AR 2 (Ant Group Co.,
Ltd.*).

4. As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
484,910,739 Shares.

Abbreviations:
“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, there
were no other persons who had an interest or short position
in the Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the following transactions, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his
or her connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
financial Year:

(i)  the tenancy agreements between Genesis Printing and
Production Limited (“Genesis Printing”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant,
and Peaky Limited (“Peaky"”), a company wholly-owned
by Mr. Lam, as landlord, to lease the warehouse and
car parking space in Hong Kong for HKD34,000 per
month for a term of two years from 1 July 2024 to
30 June 2026 (both days inclusive); Asiaray Media
Limited (“Asiaray Media”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Peaky, as
landlord, to lease the warehouse in Hong Kong for
HKD14,000 per month for a term of two years from 1
July 2024 to 30 June 2026 (both days inclusive); and
Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited (“HK Asiaray
Advertising”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as tenant, and Asiaray China Media
Limited (“Asiaray China”), a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Lam, as landlord, to lease the office in Shanghai
for RMB114,000 per month for a term of two years
from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026 (both days inclusive).
For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 June 2024.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Lam, Media Cornerstone, Space Management and
Shalom Family (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a Deed of Non-competition dated 22
December 2014 with the Company (the “Deed of Non-
competition”). Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition,
each of the Controlling Shareholder has undertaken that,
among other things, he/it shall not and shall procure his/
its associates not to, either alone or jointly with any other
person or entity, or for any other person, firm or company,
or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant
or agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement, be engaged,
invested, or otherwise involved, whether as a shareholder,
director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise, directly or
indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in Hong Kong or the PRC in competition or likely to
be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the business
operated by the Group in Hong Kong or the PRC. Details
of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Non-Competition Undertakings” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 31 December 2014.

The Company has received confirmations from the
Controlling Shareholders of their compliance with the Deed
of Non-competition for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the "Confirmations”). The independent non-executive
Directors have been provided with all necessary information
and have reviewed the Confirmations and are satisfied that
the Deed of Non-competition was complied with and was
effectively enforced during the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s business, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company adopted a Share Award Scheme. Pursuant to
the instructions of the Board, the delegated administrator
for the administration of the Share Award Scheme purchased
on the Stock Exchange a total of 967,000 shares of the
Company at a total consideration of approximately RMBO0.8
million during the Year.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the Year, the Group did not have any significant
investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
During the Year, the Group did not have any material
acquisition or disposal.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an
arm'’s length basis. Further details are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted non-exempt
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as identified below.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 28 June 2024, (a) Genesis Printing, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the tenancy
agreement as tenant, with Peaky, as landlord, to lease the
warehouse and car parking space in Hong Kong from 1 July
2024 to 30 June 2026 upon the expiration of the previous
tenancy agreement on 30 June 2024; (b) Asiaray Media,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the tenancy agreement as tenant, with Peaky,
as landlord, to lease the warehouse in Hong Kong from
1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026 upon the expiration of the
previous tenancy agreement on 30 June 2024; and (c) HK
Asiaray Advertising, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the tenancy agreement as
tenant, with Asiaray China, as landlord, to lease the office
in Shanghai from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2026 upon the
expiration of the previous tenancy agreement on 30 June
2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 15 June 2015, 27 June 2023 and 22 September 2023.

On 12 June 2015, the Group entered into an exclusive
advertising concession right agreement (the “Terminal 2
Agreement”) with I E#ISFEBEER AT (Henan Airport
Group Company Limited*) (“Henan Airport Company”).
Pursuant to the Terminal 2 Agreement, the Group was
granted the rights to operate the advertising and media
resources in the Zhengzhou Airport Terminal 2 for a fixed
term of seven years. As Henan Airport Company is a
substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company,
Henan Airport Company is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level under Rule 14A.101 of the
Listing Rules.

On 20 September 2023, a supplemental agreement to the
Terminal 2 Agreement was entered into between the Group
and Henan Airport Company, which extended the expiry
date of the Terminal 2 Agreement to 29 March 2026. The
annual caps for each of the Year 2023 and the three financial
years ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 are
RMB146.8 million (equivalent to approximately HKD162.9
million), RMB156.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HKD174.0 million), RMB167.7 million (equivalent
to approximately HKD186.1 million) and RMB41.10
million (equivalent to approximately HKD45.62 million),
respectively.

The concession fee for the Year was approximately RMB73.5
million.

The Group has established internal controls and procedures
to ensure the compliance of the continuing connected
transactions with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
Finance department has prepared monthly transaction
reports to ensure the annual caps not to be exceeded. The
Board, including the independent non-executive Directors,
has reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions have been entered into and the fees paid were:

i.  in the ordinary course of business of the Group;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and

iii. in accordance with the terms of the contract that
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transaction disclosed by the Group on
page 70 of this annual report in accordance with paragraph
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that, save as disclosed above, none
of the related party transactions set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in
this report pursuant to the Listing Rules during the reporting
period.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save for the Directors’ Profile which set out on pages 29
to 34 of this annual report, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
M&A or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at
the date of this annual report, there was sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 71



EES3R4  REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ABDEIR
AREFREBLFRAMHEEESRMER
LSl WMEFBER - 2SI BE - RR
MBIREH - 72024F 128318 » AEEHE
B579% R B (2023%F : 796 % EE) - B =
2024F 2 2023F 12 A31 B It FEMFH & L5
REBRADROBAREI1946BERAR
#223.7HB o

B

AEFEAEEZERZBAOEARKIIES
(20234 : 49 AR ¥90,000) °

EERMOBFER

BREAFAE

AR aE 20255 4298 (2HM) £2025
FoAZH(EH ) HM(BEEEMX)EE
WERRELFE  HABTSHETAR
PDEYEE o

BETAREEN202556 A3 (EH )
BITHRBERAFRASVES FREALZE
o ARRIREEBRABBEXHERA
B ETIEN2025F5 A28 (28 =) T F
=+ D REAREARAIZEBRMDELD
EEABRRIFELARAA - WIEREE
BT EFKBERI183FE P L17#1712-
17165 AR EEFE -

EEm
BE2024F12A31BIEFE 2 & HPERE
BEREIRKESTMESMEZ @ %%
HEABER  HHEERBEERERR
HBAFRG FEXERE - EREREBFK
L BRIRBRRUEREZE B KESH
Bl =B 745 FT S AE AR 2 R) 2 A% BRE ©

REEEE
MEBEA T4+
EY

F& 0 20253248

BAEEEEEERLT 2024 FIR 72

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and
retirement benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and the
Mainland China. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
579 employees (2023: 796 employees). The total salaries
and related costs for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 amounted to approximately RMB194.6 million and
RMB223.7 million, respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the
Year amounted to approximately RMBO.7 million
(2023: approximately RMB90,000).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Annual General Meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 29 May 2025 to Tuesday, 3 June 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected.

In order to determine who are eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM to be held on Tuesday, 3 June 2025, the
shareholders of the Company should ensure that all transfers
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 28 May 2025.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025



W RS TEE

=

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

i
pwc

BEAEEEEEERATRR
(RASHSEME L ERAA])

=R
EMEELNAR

KA EEEBRAR A (A TEBIEA
R REWNBAR(ATHERE [E£E )5 H
REBAE225EMAE M B|ME » B3 ¢

o  A2024FE12R3NAMAEHEEAGS
o HEZHIFEMEHEZEAKERE

s HEZBLFENAHEREHE

s HEZRLFENAMHRERER : R

o APUBERERME  BREAGIERE
REMBEEEFR

RANER

BMRE  ZEEHUBRREBER B
AR Ag([BEGMAg ) BHN(EE
R EERN BB BHRELELN DEEM
FEHRER T ESER2024F12A31B0E
HUERAREHEZB LFENAHTE
FENAHRERE  YEEBRBREB(QAIK
Bl BB IR e BB -

B ki

To the Shareholders of Asiaray Media Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Asiaray Media
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 84 to 225, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2024;
. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year then ended,;

] the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
("the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Impairment assessment of trade receivables

*  Impairment assessment of right-of-use assets
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HREELZER
Key Audit Matter
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Impairment assessment of trade receivables
B2EA MM MRS 1(b) - MaEd(a) RS ©

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(a) and Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

7R2024F 128318 ' EEBEEREROAREIINESE
BRERENARKI127T8E -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had trade
receivables, of approximately RMB311 million, net with
provision for impairment of approximately RMB127
million.

EERERABCE  AtEEMAREERRNZHEBRIE
EEE-

Management applied the simplified approach to
measure the lifetime expected loss allowance for all its
trade receivables.

EEEENGEEREEEEREA A - EESBTHR
AR D A M RSB IR EARBNE
FERNEBURR - 2B FHEATIRBERE - AHE
EBERTEREBEEFHAREERRSHBMEMREHGHE
HREWEROE  YHAFRMGEORR  EF2EREP
MME - IRV E - RERER - BRAXRBREFEHHAR
AR BRE R K ATRE AR

Management applied judgment in assessing the
expected credit losses. Trade receivables relating to
customers which are government related bodies or
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt
on collection of receivables are assessed individually
for provision for impairment allowance. Expected
credit losses are also estimated by grouping the
remaining receivables based on their shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due and collectively
assessed for the risk of default, taking in account
the nature of customer, its geographical location, its
ageing category. The loss rates are then adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information.

BN ERNIEERREZER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HHRBREZER - WIVETUTER
In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

TAPT T % & SR A R Wi B R B ORR (B R Y P9 BB AR ) B
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RBREAEMNKFE - HEAERRLESRRETT
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We obtained an understanding of the Group's
internal control and assessment process of
impairment of trade receivables including
credit control and data collection for analysis,
etc. We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors, such as complexity and subjectivity
involved in significant management judgment.

P API T Bt 7B O MR [ (R 755 MR (B AT A4 A2 Fr P HO BB
ITH BV ERET MBI - BRI 2B BERI 2 RE
FEWRIA KAt E R E BB R BRI S -

We evaluated and validated the design and
operating effectiveness of the key controls over
debt collection and the impairment assessment
process, in particular those over the identification
of impaired receivables and the calculation of the
impairment provision.

BFREEBIWALT EERUERBERRELA
B RAERREPRAT LR A EEEREIMTE
BEONEMIBFR -

We discussed with management and assessed the
reasonableness of the provision policy of trade
receivables and assessed whether there are any
circumstances which may trigger further specific
provision at the end of the reporting period.

AP $oh 5 R B M B R 0 B R 15 0 B 0 T B MK BR R
MBEBERERE  UHGEREAENBRERES
BERELAHE -

We tested the ageing profile of trade receivables
on a sample basis and analysed historical loss
allowance on trade receivables to assess the
reasonableness of expected credit loss rates
calculated by management.
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We focused on this area because of the estimation of
expected credit losses on trade receivables is subject
to high degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the impairment assessment of trade
receivables is considered high due to management's
judgment and estimates involved.
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BN ERNIEERREZER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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° We involved our internal valuation expert in
assessing the significant assumptions used in
estimating the expected credit loss, such as
forward-looking factors adopted.

. ﬁsz’ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁq@J""E%—'Hﬁﬁiﬁm*f%féﬁ@Tﬁﬁ)ﬂEI’ME”‘
KB - BEMAXTERER RERES BREE -

o We assessed the reasonableness of the
assumptions and data used in assessing
the expected credit loss rate, corroborated
explanations with underlying documentation and
correspondence with the customers.

e HMEEEEEME  KEWRSEEWA REWFRE
BRAREE - AHERBREMRE SR ATEB AR
SN FE BB RO T B R

° We interviewed management to corroborate their
explanations on the doubtful receivable balances
to evaluate whether there are any circumstances
which may trigger further specific provision at the
end of the reporting period.

o  HMEERNMBREEREE ARG REUWER
MEFPREBRARNEEENEZELS TR °

e  We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to estimated impairment loss of trade
receivables in the context of the applicable
financial reporting framework.

%E@L‘/{J:&F“ IR - BB AT AR AT R G5 - AT
B PIERF U RBESH -

Based on the procedures above, we found that the
judgment and estimates applied by management were
supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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Impairment of right-of-use assets
B2E A MV SRR T4(b) KT

Refer to Note 4(b) and Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The Group has right-of-use assets (“ROU") of RMB725
million after impairment loss provision as at 31
December 2024, which are subject to impairment
tests when there are impairment indicators. The
carrying amounts of the ROU are written down to its
recoverable amount when the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

BN ERNIEERREZER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

STHRREZEE - WIVETUNERF
In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

AT AR E IR E BB R EN R A KM R B3R
SRIBBIHBIZMIZES - I FF 4 B A REEEH
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We obtained an understanding of the management's
process and controls over the identification of
contracts having indicators of impairment and
preparation of cash flow forecasts and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement.

AP E IR B 5 wm AL RT 5 AR BERE AT Uk Bl £ BB RO

BIERERE

We discussed with management and assessed
the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management to determine the recoverable
amount.
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Management prepared discounted cash flow analysis
on the lease contracts with impairment indicators.
The recoverable amounts were determined based
on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
the value-in-use calculations of these lease contracts.
These calculations involved significant management
judgment with respect to the assumptions used
including the annual revenue growth rate and discount
rates. Based on the impairment assessment performed,
an aggregate of impairment of ROU amounted to
RMB9 million was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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BN ERNIEERREZER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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N E

We evaluated the key assumptions, used in the
value-in-use calculations by:

- ERABRMEEBMITROME

- applying our knowledge of the business and
industry;

- HERRERENWERE:

- discussing business plans with senior
management;

- HERRETMHAT R

- performing market research on growth rate;
and

- MAEEERANRBRRIRNSIEN -

- assessing the reasonableness of discount
rates adopted by management.
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We focused on the evaluation of management’s
assessment on impairment of ROU due to the size of
the Group’s ROU and the significant judgment and

estimates used to perform the impairment review.

EMWERNAEEEARELSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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We compared the forecasted revenue performance
and estimated costs of revenue applied in the
value-in-use calculations to the historical records
and challenged and evaluated management's
key assumptions applied by comparing them to
historical trends, the approved business plans and
our understanding of latest market information
and conditions.

HRN LR - ROBREEERERANFE NG 19
ERMIPTESHNEBRM SR -

Based on the procedures above, we found that the
judgment and estimates applied by management were
supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

J Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Kai Bun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

MW12H318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARETIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
ME - BELRE Property, plant and equipment 6 112,419 133,767
FREEE Right-of-use assets 7 724,965 1,178,457
REWME Investment properties 8 125,427 92,013
B EE Intangible assets 9 9,825 11,441
EREREARNKRE Investments accounted for using
the equity method 12 55,935 53,807
HAFEHABZEERD Financial assets at fair value
SREE through profit or loss 10 12,042 9,335
BRAFEIAEMES WS Financial assets at fair value through
MemEE other comprehensive income 10 6,170 6,152
RIEFTBIREE Deferred income tax assets 14 127,091 197,028
B Deposits 15 5,171 5,241
1,179,045 1,687,241
REEE Current assets
FE Inventories 16 68,388 43,196
JE U BR 20 % E b fE U 5B Trade and other receivables 15 573,886 750,861
A] U [l BN HA P15 87 Current income tax recoverable 162 4,565
BATESABRRERD Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 10 - 891
ZRHIRE Restricted cash 17 17,140 23,541
BeMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 17 215,334 367,241
874,910 1,190,295
BEE Total assets 2,053,955 2,877,536
EakBaE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
AAREEAELER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
(RN Share capital 18 38,947 38,947
i Reserves 19 38,442 87,718
77,389 126,665
FEERAER Non-controlling interests 183,245 120,717
R Total equity 260,634 247,382
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EPtEESEER  CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARBETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
=R Liabilities
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
& Borrowings 21 103,660 147,193
HERE Lease liabilities 7 508,179 1,041,041
BRI AE Deferred income tax liabilities 14 1,366 1,316
613,205 11,169,550
nREBAE Current liabilities
FEATBR 3N X HoAth FE A5 5B Trade and other payables 22 342,262 253,818
BHAME Contract liabilities 25 85,848 78,663
& Borrowings 21 251,759 269,752
BIEAFTS R aE Current income tax liabilities 678 2,135
HERE Lease liabilities 7 499,569 836,236
1,180,116 1,440,604
waE Total liabilities 1,793,321 2,630,154
HREZNERE Total equity and liabilities 2,053,955 2,877,536
LA EER G ERREN T — R o The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
EEATSEMAHMEREDEESS RN The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 225
20253 A24 B ETIR WAHIATEER were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24
B2, March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.
BB FHL BRiEE
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Jr Kwan Tat Cheong
TE BITEF
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

L'ON
L ONDFN

E7
HERMIGHERERX
TTHRFEX
SREERERIRFH

HAWA - FER
Hib st - F8R

HENE

BEWA
B E A

BB - FER

ERESEARNDERE

K3 & 18

BRETSBLATRIE,(H1R)
PSR X
FEFNE(BE)

FE1E (B18), /78

ZA/NCIE/ 2SN
TR

BAEEREEERAIT 2024 FH

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Selling and marketing expenses

Administrative expenses

Net impairment losses on
financial assets

Other income, net

Other gains, net

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Share of net loss of investments
accounted for using the equity
method

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

HZE12A31MHLLEE

Year ended 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
5 1,069,225 1,608,784
24 (762,515) (1,256,926)
306,710 351,858
24 (113,820) (132,759)
24 (192,942) (182,841)
3.1(b) (34,888) (21:7)
26 8,107 30,457
27 190,055 61,666
163,222 128,164
28 3,071 4,083
28 (74,667) (15331551 4)
28 (71,596) (127,431)
12 (4,372) (10,293)
87,254 (9,560)
29 (76,834) (389)
10,420 (9,949)
(51,822) (19,698)
62,242 9,749
10,420 (9,949)




EOt4rS UK CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
KtaE AR®T T AREFTT
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Hiir4 (FE) ks Other comprehensive (loss)/income
AJBEE AT M2 1Bz i) B Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss
— AT EIAEMEGES — Net (losses)/gains from changes
WRHEREES in financial assets at fair value
(B1B),/ W #5E through other comprehensive
(BMH) income, net of tax 313 (89) 184
—EBBnEEE — Currency translation difference (2,266) 2,047
T EEN T EER Items that will not be reclassified to
zoR=p=| profit or loss
—EREREVMENDE — Surplus on revaluation of
BHEH% properties upon transfer
to investment properties 8,860 -
—EEmE R — Currency translation differences 6,438 o
12,943 22
FEFREWE (BR)EHE Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year 23,363 (7,718)
FE(L - Attributable to:
ViN/NETE7 ¥ =N Owners of the Company (39,165) (17,686)
eI Non-controlling interests 62,528 9,968
FEFEWE (BB)EHE Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year 23,363 (7,718)
AATEEAEMN Loss per share attributable
rEESREE to owners of the Company
(LBRARYZIIT) for the year (expressed
in RMB cents per share)
—EARREE — Basic and diluted 30 (13.3) (6.5)
DA L& Bt A WSk rE taRE M pY s — E 8 o The above consolidated statement of comprehensive

income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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SOtERE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ARAERAEL
Attributable to owners of the Company

BA e B FERER @3t
Non-
Share controlling

capital Reserves Total interests Total
ARETT ARETRT AR%®Tn AR%®Trn AR%Tx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Bs19)
(Note 19)
R2024F1B1BHE e Balance at 1 January 2024 38,947 87,718 126,665 120,717 247,382
2E(BR) /Wi Comprehensive (loss)/income
EE(BR)/ME (Loss)/profit for the year - (51,822) (51,822) 62,242 10,420
HtvZ AW Other comprehensive income = 12,657 12,657 286 12,943

EERA(FE)hEeE Total comprehensive (loss)/

income for the year - (39,165) (39,165) 62,528 23,363
AR EH Distributions to Perpetual
([KARBEARES]) Subordinated Convertible
Ik Securities (“PSCS") - (11,583) (11,583) - (11,583)
e RE N Purchase of shares for Share
(W32) e o 2.0) - (837) (837) - (837)
EERHEEI- Employee share schemes
EERBEE - value of employee services - 2,309 2,309 - 2,309

BEEANNEEAASD) Total transactions with owners in
N FEH their capacity as owners - (10,111) (10,111) - (10,111)

12024512 A31 B4R Balance at 31 December 2024 38,947 38,442 77,389 183,245 260,634
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ESGEREZS B B3R CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ARAERAEL
Attributable to owners of the Company

Bx 1 B FERER )

Non-

Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total
ARBTT ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(Hiz19)
(Note 19)
M202351R 1AM Balance at 1 January 2023 38,139 101,114 139,253 132,895 272,148
24(BR) ki Comprehensive (loss)/income
EE(BR)/FE (Loss)/profit for the year = (19,698) (19,698) 9,749 (9,949)
HtZams Other comprehensive income = 2,012 2,012 219 2,231

EERAS(FR)hEeE Total comprehensive (loss)/

income for the year - (17,686) (17,686) 9,968 (7,718)
I Issue of shares 808 9,276 10,084 - 10,084
FFERERITE Capital injection by
non-controlling interests - = = 490 490
IR Acquisition of additional
it B2 RIEEIMRA shares in a subsidiary from
(B3#120) non-controlling interests
(Note 12 (a)) - 8,087 8,087 (8,916) (829)
KARBABRES Distributions to Perpetual
(TRARBAARES]) Subordinated Convertible
SR Securities ("PSCS”) . e s : . il
SARID SRS 2R A TR Purchase of shares for Share
(Wit321b) Award Scheme (Note 32 (b) : (3,133) (3,133) . (3,133)
EERHE Employee share schemes
-EERBEE - value of employee services - 1,378 1,378 - 1,378
BIFHERERR S Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - - - (13,720) (13,720)

HEEANEREASD) Total transactions with owners in

MR HBE their capacity as owners 808 4,290 5,098 (22,146) (17,048)
R2023F 12831 A& Balance at 31 December 2023 38,947 87,718 126,665 120,717 247,382
A b A A 25 8 B 2 i R RE T BT 5 — BEREE o The above consolidated statement of changes in equity

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EETHENRERE
LEBABIRS

EAFE
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EEERESEREFHE

REZBFRENREERE
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PIEEE/]
HEZRAFEIARSER
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M & R BN AD
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REZBAREFE
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ERPT1S5RIE

EEERK

HERRK

BB IR SR &
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ERIRE
FEERERITE

BMEFEE AR EFE
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Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property,
plant and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Payments for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Payments for deposits held by the
Trustee for treasury shares
Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Acquisition of additional
shares in a subsidiary from
non-controlling interests
Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Lease payments
Purchase of shares for Share
Award Scheme
Dividends paid
Capital injection by
non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

BZ12A31HLEE

Year ended 31 December

20245
2024
AR¥ T
RMB’000

KtaE
Note

20234
2023
ARETIT
RMB’000

31(a) 631,373 707791
(22,827) (19,899)
(3,507) (12,023)
605,039 675,869
(45,435) (17,410)
(393) (355)
(2,388) (294)
(81) T
31(a) 12,727 3,032
639 -
- (829)
3,071 4,083
(31,860) ((RN773)
274,339 212,370
(340,468) (123,033)
(659,745) (71.0,393)
(837) -
- ({11357:20)
- 490
(726,711) (634,286)




SH6FIEERER  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December
2024%F 20234

2024 2023

AR®T R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

REeERRESEEYILINFEE Net increase in cash and

cash equivalents (153,532) 29,810
FUNBRE LR EEY Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 367,241 333,320
R MRS EBYMIENZ% Exchange differences on cash and

cash equivalents 1,625 4,111
FRNESRBELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end

of the year 17 215,334 367,241
N FEHR e REREERENM T —0HE - The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014
as an exempted company with limited liability under
the laws of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company'’s registered office is PO Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
Company'’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15
January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the development
and operations of out-of-home advertising media,
including advertising in airports, metro lines, billboards
and building solutions, mainly in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC" or “Mainland China"”), Hong Kong,
Macau and Southeast Asia.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi ("RMB") and all figures are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’000) unless otherwise stated,
and have been approved for issue by the Company’s
Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 24 March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”),
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") and investment properties, which are carried
at fair values.



SO A ERIRMIZE  NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RBEEE)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB305,206,000 (31 December 2023: RMB250,309,000).
Included in the current liabilities were the lease
liabilities of approximately RMB499,569,000 (31
December 2023: RMB836,236,000) and borrowings of
approximately RMB251,759,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB269,752,000). The Group had cash and cash
equivalents balance of approximately RMB215,334,000
(31 December 2023: RMB367,241,000).

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company (“Directors”) have given careful
consideration of the future liquidity and operating
performance of the Group and its available source of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern. The Directors have reviewed a cash flow
projection of the Group prepared by management
covering a period of not less than twelve months from
31 December 2024 taking into account the following
plans and measures into consideration:

(@) The Group maintains regular communications
with its banks and given its good track records,
the Directors are confident that the existing
banking facilities, including the unutilised
amount of approximately RMB226,400,000
in aggregate as at 31 December 2024, will
continue to be available to the Group and
the outstanding borrowings can be renewed
when their current term expires. Therefore, the
directors believe that the Group will be able to
draw down from these facilities to finance its
operations, if needed. Subsequent to the year
end, the Group has refinanced a term loan of
approximately RMB45,000,000 from a bank and
the Group has also been able to obtain and draw
down new banking facilities of approximately
RMB40,000,000.

(b) The Group expects that there will be steady cash
inflow from operations that is sufficient enough
to fulfil its obligations including lease liabilities.
The Group will continue to closely monitor the
performance of each contract and take proactive
measures on cost control to mitigate the negative
impact that might arise, including, but not limited
to, negotiation with the landlord for concession of
its lease obligation, if necessary.
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S OB A ERIRMIEE  NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(a)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group's
available sources of funds, including the Group's
expected net cash inflows from its operating activities
and the continuous availability of the existing banking
facilities, are sufficient to fulfil its financial obligations
as and when they fall due in the coming twelve
months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB and all figures are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) unless otherwise stated.

Amended standards and interpretation adopted by
the Group

The following amended standards and interpretation
have been adopted by the Group for the first time for
the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2024:

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Hong Kong Interpretation Presentation of Financial
5 (Revised) Statements - Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

Clause
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance
(Amendments) Arrangements

The adoption of these amended standards and
interpretation does not have any material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.



SOt FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 @mEBUEESE) 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) EEBEEKRRKMAZHTIRZETERNR (b) New and amended standards and interpretation not
B yet adopted by the Group
UTHE RGBT RREBEE R The following new and amended standards and
5 MERR2024F 1 A1 AR IRFE interpretation have been issued but are not effective
AL BWEEAREBIRERR : for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2024 and

have not been early adopted by the Group:

RT5 AR 2#%
M zEst FEEN

Effective for

accounting year
beginning on

or after
BEGHEUFE21RREBMBHR BRI R 2025%1A1H
HERIFE 152 1EF]
HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
(Amendments)
ERMBRELERFEIRLEENE SRIASBARTEZER 2026F1 H1H
WEERIETIR ZMERT
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and 1 January 2026
(Amendments) Measurement of Financial Instruments
BB ELERIF 1855 MBHRR 22T RIBKE 20271 A1 H
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements
BB RELERIFE195% FARZAEEMBEAR - BE 20271 H1H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027
Disclosures
BEBREESH ZIEF] MBHRRNET —BERAHSERERKER 20271 A1H
R EHRERN D
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2027
(Amendments) Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
FERM R ELERIFE 105 REEERHBERAREEREZM FEE
NEEGTERIE285% 2 BFT WEEHERHE
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
(Amendments) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BHREEESEL TG - Z5EEE According to the assessment made by the Board,
TeRBARAKRRESHBYAER R these amendments are not expected to have a material
AIFE B R R BHEREASE o impact to the Group in the current or future reporting

periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group and approved
by the Board.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries carried out their
principal activities in the PRC in RMB. The
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. The exchange differences arising
upon translation of net assets of Hong Kong
subsidiaries with functional currency in Hong
Kong dollar (“HKD") to RMB are recognised as
currency translation differences and recorded as
part of other comprehensive income.

As the assets and liabilities of each company
within the Group are mainly denominated in the
respective company's functional currency, the
directors are of the opinion that the Group'’s
volatility of its profits against changes in
exchange rates of foreign currencies would not be
significant.
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3.1
(a)
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3.1
(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-
bearing bank deposits and bank borrowings. Bank
deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing bank deposits, the
Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate there is any significant impact to
interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes
in interest rates, because the interest rates
of bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings at fixed rate and
floating rate are as follows:

M®12A31H

As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARETIT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
BZEE AR BRER Borrowings at fixed rate 139,613 139,959
ZZENFIRET BRIE R Borrowings at floating rate 215,806 276,986
355,419 416,945
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3.1
(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, if
the floating interest rate on deposits and
borrowings had been higher/lower by 100
basis points (2023: 100 basis points) with all
other variables held constant, the post-tax
profit would be approximately RMB1,860,000
lower/higher mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest on floating rate deposits and borrowings
(2023: post-tax loss would be approximately
RMB2,313,000 higher/lower).

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments held by the Group, which are
classified as FVPL and FVOCI. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based on
the exposure to price risk of the FVPL and FVOCI|
at the end of each reporting period. If the fair
value of the FVPL held by the Group had been
5% (2023: 5%) higher/lower, post-tax profit would
be approximately RMB503,000 higher/lower for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: post-
tax loss would be approximately RMB427,000
lower/higher). If the fair value of the FVOCI held
by the Group had been 5% (2023: 5%) higher/
lower, the other comprehensive income, net of
tax would be approximately RMB258,000 higher/
lower for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: other comprehensive loss, net of tax would
be approximately RMB257,000 lower/higher).
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from bank balances (including
restricted cash), trade and other receivables excluding
prepayments, FVPL and FVOCI. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Management
has policies in place and exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

To mitigate the risk arising from bank deposits, the
Group places their bank deposits to certain reputable
banks with a minimum rating of “investment grade”
ranked by an independent party or financial institutions
with high credit quality. The Directors of the Company
do not expect any loss arising from non-performance
by these counterparties.

Trade receivables, other receivables and deposits are
continuously monitored by assessing the credit quality
of respective counterparties, taking into account its
financial position, past experience and other factors.
The Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

o Trade and other receivables

o Restricted cash

J Cash and cash equivalents

° FVPL

° FVOCI
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss model for
all trade receivables from third parties.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The loss allowances of trade receivables are based on
assumptions about the risk of default and expected
loss rate. The Group uses judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, mainly based on the historical payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses rate, forward-looking information at the end
of each reporting period. As at 31 December 2024,
the loss allowance on trade receivables amounted to
RMB126,823,000 (2023: RMB93,117,000).

Other receivables are measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Directors consider the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis for the year. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares risk of a default occurring on the assets
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as
at the date of initial recognition. It considered the
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information and the indicators that the actual or
expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the third party’s ability
to meet its obligations. As at 31 December 2024,
the loss allowance on other receivables amounted to
RMB4,336,000 (2023: RMB3,963,000).
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, substantially all
the bank balances as detailed in Note 17 are held
in major financial institutions located in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, which management believes are
of high credit quality. The Group has not incurred
significant loss from non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does not expect so in the
future.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with FVPL as the Group invests in
treasury investment products with high market credit
rating, liquidity and stable return. Management does
not expect that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.

All of the entity's debt investments at FVOCI are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss
allowance recognised during the period was therefore
limited to 12 months’ expected losses. Management
consider low risk of default and the issuer has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term.

The Group assesses the expected credit loss of the

trade receivables on individual and collective basis
separately.
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2024F12A310 31 December 2024

3.1
(b)

B%6fEA

Up to

6 months
AR¥TR
RMB’000

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on an individual
basis

Trade receivables from customers with distinct
credit risk characteristics, such as government-
related receivables or corporate with known financial
difficulties or significant doubts about the collection of
receivables are assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. The following table presents
the balances of gross carrying amounts and the loss
allowance in respect of the individually assessed trade
receivables by invoice date as at 31 December 2024
and 2023:

6HAZE
128 15E2F  2FE3fF 3ENL

6 months
to 1yearto 2yearsto Over

12 months PAEI 3 years 3 years Total

ARBTRE AR®TR AR®TR AR%MTR AR%TR
RMB’000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

BHEEBEE  Expected credit loss rate

RHAE Gross carrying amount
BiEAE Loss allowance

2023%12H31H 31 December 2023

100.00%
44
44

6.12% 9.24% 25.93%  83.03% FEMAN/A
2,743 3,518 9,649 62,299 78,253
168 325 2,502 51,729 54,768

& %68 A

Up to
6 months

AR®BTR

6EAZE
12{EA : ’ 3FEE @zt
6 months
to lyearto 2yearsto Over
12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total

AREFTE AREFE ARETFT AREFT ARETR

BHEEFEE  Expected credit loss rate

REeE Gross carrying amount
BEEE Loss allowance
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RMB’000

100.00%
126
126

RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000

TEMAN/A  100.00%  100.00%  100.00% iEMAN/A
- 494 2,609 42,534 45,763
- 494 2,609 42,534 45,763
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2024F12A310 31 December 2024

BHEEFEE  Expected credit loss rate
FEZE Gross carrying amount
BiRRE Loss allowance

31 December 2023

2023%F12A318

BEHEEBEE  Expected credit loss rate
FRAaE Gross carrying amount
BiEEE Loss allowance

3.1
(b)

&%6fEA

Up to
6 months

AR®T
RMB’000

2.11%
186,609
3,932

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on an individual
basis (Continued)

Other than those trade receivables which were
assessed by individual basis, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared similar credit risk
characteristics and the days past due and collectively
assessed for the risk of default, taking in account the
nature of customer, its geographical location and its
ageing category, and applying the expected credit loss
rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of the
trade receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales and credit losses experience over the
past 48 months. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the gross domestic products, inflationary
index, exchange rate and interest rate spread which
it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant
factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rate
based on expected changes in these factors.

The loss for impairment of trade receivables by invoice
date as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are determined
as follows:

6 months
ARETIT
RMB'000

1.42%
338,064
4,816

oA E
12f8R 15228 25 Z23F IENE @t

6 months

to 1yearto 2 yearsto Over

12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
AR¥TT AR®BTR ARETR AR%Tn AR% TR
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
10.06% 41.75% 58.78% 58.78% FEFAN/A
44,919 67,471 26,148 34,138 359,285
4,517 28,168 15,371 20,067 72,055

Y EES
1218 R 1EEF 3ERE FoE

6 months

to Tyearto 2 yearsto Over

12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
ARETT AREBETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
6.92% 26.58% 39.74% 40.96% EAN/A
62,638 52,566 30,924 29,161 513,353
4,333 13,970 12,290 11,945 47,354
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3 BMEEEEEZ) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 MEERBER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) 1EEE(E) (b)  Credit risk (Continued)

CRMEEREGE)
ZER AL EFHESEIEGE)

PR20244F [ 2023F12 31 B Y fE U BR
TR At i U SR TR A 85 18 B 1 B HR U1 S
BEREENERAT :

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on an individual
basis (Continued)

The loss allowance for trade receivables and other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
reconciling to the opening loss allowances are as
follows:

FE WL BR X Hit WA

Trade receivables Other receivables

BZ12A31ALEE BZ212A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
20245 2023F 20245 20234
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARETR ARETT AR®TR AR%ET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
W1B1A8 At 1 January 93,117 89,911 3,963 7,985

REREEANERERE Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance

#h0,/ Ci o) recognised in profit or loss 34,515 4,216 373 (3,999)
b= Written off (920) (1,065) - -
ERMEER Currency translation differences 111 55 - (23)
R12H31H At 31 December 126,823 93,117 4,336 3,963

ETFEANKN@NSERESR - BURE
AT AMEE - THEENREMNASIEES
BRER(ETRR)EBABEELE
BEAERG B AREBERKILTAR
BIEHBHNK -
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Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments upon termination of projects.
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3.1
(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group's finance department
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate
cash and cash equivalents. The Group regularly
monitors compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate undrawn
facilities from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group continues its efforts to implement measures
to generate cash from new sales contracts, and to
further control capital and operating expenditures to
strengthen its working capital.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the year-end date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interests payments computed using
contractual rates). Where the loan agreement contains
a repayable on demand clause which gives the lender
the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the
amounts repayable are classified in the earliest time
bracket in which the lender could demand repayment
and no interest payments were included.
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L 4
3 BMEEEEEZ) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 MEERBER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) mEMELEE) (c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
BB -RBEBERERE Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash
outflows

BER DME 122F 2358 SENE HBANRSH  AEREE
Between  Between Total  Carrying
On Less than 1 and 2 and Over Contractual amounts of

demand 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows liabilities

ARBTRE ARBTRE ARBTRE ARBTRE ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

R2024512A318 At 31 December 2024
HEREREER AN Bank borrowings subject to

BN a repayment on demand

clause 73,176 - - - - 73,176 73,176
AhRITHER Other bank borrowings - 186,429 57,689 51,031 - 295149 282,243
ENESREMENZE  Trade and other payables
(Bi3) (Note) - 314,602 = = - 314,602 314,602
HERR Lease liabilities - 524,226 292,465 224,229 1,277 1,042,197 1,007,748
3 Total 73,176 1,025,257 350,154 275,260 1,277 1,725,124 1,677,769

BER HIME 1225 2358 SENE BANRSH AEERER
Between  Between Total  Carrying
On  Lessthan 1 and 2 and Over Contractual amounts of

demand 1 year 2 years 5 years 5years cash flows liabilities
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARSTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R2023512A31R At 31 December 2023
WEREREREZE  Bank borrowings subject to

&R a repayment on demand
clause 124,233 - - - - 124,233 124,233

EMRIER Other bank borrowings = 5707 135,517 17,048 = AW AR
EREARLMENZE  Trade and other payables

(RtzE) (Note) - 214,530 - - - 214,530 214,530
fEak Lease liabilities - 914,096 392,654 727,273 36,523 2,070,546 1,877,277
) Total 128288 285,050 528,171 744,321 36,523 2,719,045 2,508,752
WifeE - AR E N SR R R AT Note: Trade and other payables excluded other taxes payables and

BARENF SR B TEH - salary and staff welfare payables.
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3.1
(c)

3.2

MERBERE) 3
MBEREEGE) 3.1
wBtEE (&) (c)

MBS -RERECERVNARE
REBHRRWBRTER(BEESFE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject
to a repayment on demand clause based on
scheduled repayments (including interest
payable)

1E0 L 250k
k0 B2F T B5F 5T 5L i 3
More More
than 1 year than 2 years
Within but less but less More than Total
1 year than 2 years than 5 years 5 years Outflows
ARBTET ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
R2024E128318 At 31 December 2024 74,330 = = = 74,330
M2023F12R318 At 31 December 2023 125,441 - - - 125,441
BEAREHE 3.2 Capital management

AEEEREANBRERREAEERE
FERE  URARREREBEAEAM

Mes AR E S KN - AR SIEER
BEARRE AR E AR o

REFNABRERRE - NEEA SR
EXNTFRENREESE  RMRFED
BER - BITHBEONAHEEENRDE
% o

HEMRAZRME - AEENEER
B REEFREAR o B R PUFEHRR A
MESTE - FEGUERARBE(ER
EHEERERMAIIN RBKLIERD
EXDBRERACFEDE - 87
mIOARBEE ARG R R IFERE

ﬁo

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash
and cash equivalents. Total equity represents the
equity attributable to owners of the Company and non-
controlling interests.
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3 BXBEREEE) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 BEXEE(E) 3.2 Capital management (Continued)
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TR AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITIE A (MFE21) Total bank borrowings (Note 21) 355,419 416,945
B RERIBEEEW(MIFE17) Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) (215,334) (367,241)
SFETS Net debt 140,085 49,704
rEs Total equity 260,634 247,382
EEAGHE Gearing ratio 0.5 0.2
3.3 A¥ELHE 3.3 Fair value estimation
TREGHEEAEZLSTIRATEYENS The table below analyses financial instruments carried
BTE - FAEBHHESWMT : at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels

have been defined as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

s RBBEEHABNERMSTHR

B(REAR)(E145) o identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o BESABEBEIEE(BER) XM U Inputs other than quoted prices included within
BEIIREBHREDR)BRMNEH A K level 1 that are observable for the asset or
B (B 1R aERRERIN) (B2 liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
@) o indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o WIFERAEEMBEHBENEER U Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
B &5 A ZUE (B A] 8 22 A 2) on observable market data (that is, unobservable
B (E3:) o inputs) (level 3).

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 108



SOt FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MERBERE) 3
APEEEE) 3.3

BN FEGFEM TR T A
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ERFEHA FVOCI
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BRFEHA
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87 o

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments at fair value

The following table presents the Group's financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at 31
December 2024:

E—®

Level 1

ER
Level 2

E=R

Level 3

st
Total

ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

- - 12,042 12,042
5,770 - 400 6,170
5,770 - 12,442 18,212

The following table presents the Group's financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at 31

December 2023:

F— F_R E=M st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
- 891 9,335 10,226

5,752 = 400 6,152
5752 891 9,735 16,378

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

Please refer to Note 10 for disclosure of FVPL and

FVOCI, which are measured at fair value.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3
during the year.
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3 B EBEE &) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 AVFEMEEE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
BN TFEFAENSFHTA(E) Financial instruments at fair value (Continued)
T&R2Z5|#E2024%F & 2023F 12 A 31 The following table presents the changes in level 1, 2
HIEFEMEIR  B2RREIREL and 3 items for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
L - 2023:

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
RAFEIAERER FVPL
®m1A1R8 At 1 January 10,226 8,433
NE Additions 2,388 294
HE Disposals (639) -
RIEFEREERNAFE Fair value (losses)/gains recognised
(B518) Wz (Ha#27) in profit or loss (Note 27) (179) 1,284
B E =T Currency translation differences 246 215
M12H31H At 31 December 12,042 10,226
FTAERIRS Total (losses)/gains included
(B18) W e s in profit or loss (179) 1,284

BAFEIIARMRS RS FVOCI

®1A18 At 1 January 6,152 5,852
REMARE WS TR Fair value (losses)/gains recognised

REE(ER), Mz in other comprehensive income (107) 220
BERBmE = Currency translation differences 125 80
M12H31H At 31 December 6,170 6,152
T A AR S a8 Total (losses)/gains included in other

(B518) amgsE(20w) comprehensive income, net of tax (89) 184
EREATEIABIREREATETY Details of FVPL and FVOCI are set out in Note 10 to
AHEMERE WS F B H NGRS B 153k consolidated financial statements.
=MIFE10 -
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4

(a)

(b)
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FRELEEREFBHN A HUHERE
Mi3E7(a)A ©

(a)

(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Loss allowance of trade and other receivables

The loss allowance for trade and other receivables is
made based on assumptions about the risk of default
and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses
judgment in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's historical payment profiles of sales, historical
default history, as well as forward-looking estimates, at
the end of each reporting period.

Details of the key estimates used are disclosed in
the table in Note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets,
are reviewed for impairment by the Group whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Determining whether impairment has occurred
typically requires various estimates and assumptions,
including determining which cash flows are directly
related to the potentially impaired asset, the useful
life over which cash flows will occur, their amount,
and the asset’s residual value, if any. Measurement
of an impairment loss requires a determination of
recoverable amount, which is based on management's
estimate with best information available. The Group
derives the cash flow estimates from historical
experience and internal business plans. To determine
recoverable amount, the Group uses cash flow
estimates discounted at an appropriate discount rate,
quoted market prices when available and independent
appraisals, as appropriate. The determination of
recoverable amount involved management judgments
and estimations.

Details of impairment of right-of-use assets are set out
in Note 7(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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(c)

(d)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Significant
judgment is required from the Group in determining
the provision for income taxes in each of these
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets
based on judgment that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly
involved management’s judgments and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of
the companies which had tax losses.

Lease identification and lease term and discount
rate determination

For all the lease contracts entered at the inception,
the Group has obtained the rights to control the use of
identified assets if the Group has obtained substantially
all of the economic benefits from the use of the
advertising space and the right to direct how and for
what purpose the assets are used throughout the lease
term. In determining if there is an identified asset for
the lease contract, the Group considers whether the
supplier has the substantive right to substitute the
asset.
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(d)

(e)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Lease identification and lease term and discount
rate determination (Continued)

In determining the lease term, the Group considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended (or not terminated). Potential future cash
outflows have not been included in the lease liability
because it is not reasonably certain that the leases will
be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is
reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and
that is within the control of the lessee.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required
to exercise considerable judgment in relation to
determining the discount rate taking into account the
nature of the underlying assets and the terms and
conditions of the leases, at both the commencement
date and the effective date of the modification.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated cost to completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of selling
products of similar nature. Management reassesses the
estimation at the end of each reporting period. They
carry out an inventory review on a product-by-product
basis at the end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items through
their estimation of the net realisable value for such
obsolete and slow-moving items based primarily on the
latest selling prices and current market conditions.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company are identified
as the chief operating decision maker (“CODM") of
the Group who review the Group’s internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
The CODM identifies operating segments based on
these reports.

The CODM considers the business from product
perspective, and determined that the Group has the
following operating segments:

e  Airports business - operation of advertising
services in airports;

o Metro and billboards business - operation of
advertising services in metro lines and billboards
and building solutions; and

o Bus and other business - operation of advertising
services in bus exterior and interior, and bus
shelter, and also advertising services from other
media spaces.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments mainly based on revenue and gross profit of
each operating segment. Majority of the businesses of
the Group are carried out in Mainland China and Hong
Kong during the year. Selling and marketing expenses
and administrative expenses are common costs
incurred for the operating segments as a whole and
therefore they are not included in the measure of the
segments’ performance which is used by the CODM
as a basis for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance. Other income,
other gains, net, finance costs, net and income tax
expense are also not allocated to individual operating
segment.

There are no segment assets and liabilities information
provided to CODM.
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¢
5 oHBERGME 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
BHZE2024F12A31BIEFE B @RH The segment information provided to CODM for the
TEELEBEBREEANAZHR D FHDE reportable segments for the year ended 31 December
BRI : 2024 is as follows:

HER Bk
WEXE RERER Hitn%

Metro and Bus and

Airports billboards other
business business business Total

ARBTRE AR®TRT AR®TRT AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

HZ2024F12A318LEE  Year ended 31 December 2024

IgN Revenue 358,258 399,604 311,363 1,069,225
W AFRR Cost of revenue (233,744) (295,836) (232,935) (762,515)
5 Gross profit 124,514 103,768 78,428 306,710
FREREARNAER Share of net (loss)/profit of
RENF(BE) /7 investments accounted for
using the equity method (4,940) 568 - (4,372)
DIEE Segment results 119,574 104,336 78,428 302,338
HERMERERX Selling and marketing expenses (113,820)
RS Administrative expenses (192,942)
CREERERRES Net impairment losses on
financial assets (34,888)
Hil A Other income 8,107
Hihss - 58 Other gains, net 190,055
BERA Finance income 3,071
BMERK Finance costs (74,667)
BEKAE  FE Finance costs, net (71,596)
PRETS T RIAE Profit before income tax 87,254
FERESERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 185,141 117,470 100,875 403,486
mE - WEREETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 17,301 6,961 1,270 25,532
B EERE Amortisation of intangible assets - - 2,223 2,223
SREENRERE Net impairment losses/(reversal
/REEE (B BRI of provision) for impairment loss
ek on financial assets 32,409 2,749 (270) 34,888
EREEENRESR Impairment losses on
right-of-use assets 2,235 6,953 - 9,188
B+ R EH MK G E i 2 20 [ Bus and other business includes revenue from other
B A o media spaces.
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5 o2WBERGE) 5
HE2023F12831BILFEBBIRMH
FEBRIBRRENAIZHRD BT
BRI

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment information provided to CODM for the
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December
2023 is as follows:

RAAEREEERAT

HIEEH

Airports
business
ABBFT
RMB’000

HE R
BEER
Metro and
billboards
business
ARBFT
RMB'000

Btk
Hip %%

Bus and

a5t

other

business Total

ARBTT ARETT

RMB'000 RMB’000

EZ2023F12831BLEE  Year ended 31 December 2023
N Revenue 519,364 585,493 503:927: - 1.608.784
IUNI#N Cost of revenue (381,440) (426,614) (448,872) (1,256,926)
ER Gross profit 137,924 158,879 55,055 351,858
EREREARNSER Share of net (loss)/profit of
BRENZF(ER),/FE investments accounted for
using the equity method (11,184) 891 = (10,293)
PBEE Segment results 126,740 159,770 55,055 341,565
HERMZHERERY Selling and marketing expenses (132,759)
THRAX Administrative expenses (182,841)
SREENERRFE Net impairment losses on
financial assets (217)
HepgA Other income 30,457
Hiolas - 58 Other gains, net 61,666
BEKA Finance income 4,083
BEKA Finance costs (131,514)
MEKAK  FEE Finance costs, net (127,431)
BRET{S T A& B Loss before income tax (9,560)
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 333,235 173,236 {167, 3112 673,783
MmE - WEREETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 24,096 13,703 2,407 40,206
B EESEH Amortisation of intangible assets — - 2,390 2,390
SREERREER Net impairment losses/(reversal
/REEE(BEEE) of provision) for impairment loss
ek on financial assets 2,354 (3,618) 1,481 217
EREEENRESR Impairment losses on
right-of-use assets 1,647 3,604 - 5,25
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5 2HERGE 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
WABIEATSIA : Revenue consists of the following:

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TR AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TN Advertising display revenue 859,458 1,341,610
BERIE - R RIFEHKRA Advertising production, installation and
dismantling revenue 209,767 267,174
1,069,225 1,608,784
REBERANWAERREAT The timing of revenue recognition of the Group's

revenue is as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB'000 RMB’'000
BiE B R FE SR A U Revenue over time 859,458 1,341,610
RE— R A Revenue at a point in time 209,767 267,174
1,069,225 1,608,784
REBRANMESMHIT The geographical distribution of the Group's revenue is
as follows:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

ARET T ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

A B A b Mainland China 635,214 967,692
S N E i [& Hong Kong and others 434,011 641,092
1,069,225 1,608,784
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group has a large number of customers, none of
which contributed 10% or more of the Group's total
revenue.

The Group’s non-current assets other than financial
assets at fair value and deferred income tax assets
located in Mainland China, Hong Kong and others are
as follows:

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

A B Mainland China
E Hong Kong
HA Others

WA RN EFTEER

WAEEmEMRBHEHIREBREES
B E - BFAROGEREERRNE NN
ERME EmRRBOEGEXEE
—RERASX -SHHER - WMAEHE
ERKABRET MR TGRS - &mER
B R HIEAE — R RAEE

s REXFRFUE BEFENETEF
=K

s RNARBERERNKAZREFHER
ZHIHEE ;3K

s UWEABRHAKEBEERAENE

- BASKEB ARG THER A
XS BETEREBRIED ©
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20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB’000
732,856 1,163,852
281,739 290,016
19,147 20,858
1,033,742 1,474,726

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
Revenue is measured when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to a customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods and services is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. The Group
use the output methods to measure the progress
towards, that recognise revenue based on direct
measurements of the value transferred to the customer.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and
services.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
balance sheet as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group's obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration)
is due from the customer. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
and represents amounts receivable for services
rendered, stated net of discounts and value-added
taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities
as described below. The Group bases its estimates
on historical results, taking into consideration the
type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement. The Group records
trade receivables when the revenue recognised since
the Group has unconditional rights to payments of
advertising services which are due according to the
contract terms.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Advertising display services

Revenue from advertising display services is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
performance period for which the advertisements
are displayed.

Advertising production, installation and
dismantling services

Revenue from advertising production, installation
and dismantling services is recognised at a
point in time when the related advertisements is
produced, installed or dismantled.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the Group
determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group
is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party. In this
case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the
customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

The Group has evaluated the roles and
responsibilities of the Group in rendering the
relevant services and concluded that the Group
has the primarily obligation in rendering the
services and has the sole latitude in establishing
prices. Accordingly, the Group records the
revenue of the advertising media on a gross basis.
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6 Y- BENRSZE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BHR
2] RERR  RENERE ; HORR @t

Leasehold Furniture

Advertising improve- Motor and office
Buildings fixtures ments vehicles equipment Total
AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2023%181R At 1 January 2023

AR Cost 86,623 327,487 22,993 8,355 47,313 492,11
e Accumulated depreciation (12,302) (271,659) (20,715) (7,124) (23,095) (334,895)
FHFE Net book amount 74,321 55,828 2,218 1,231 24218 157,876

8%2023512A31A L EE Year ended 31 December 2023

HNEmFE Opening net book amount 74,301 55,828 2,078 1,231 24218 157,876
TE Additions - 13,280 2713 5 1412 17,410
WE(Hz24) Depreciation (Note 24) (3,542) (31,640) (1,107) (454) (3.463) 40,206)
e Disposals : (2.914) = (3) W) (3,021)
ERREES Currency translation differences 821 18 - 6 863 1,708
HREEEE Closing net book amount 71,600 34,572 3,884 752 22,959 133,767

R2023%12831R At 31 December 2023

i Cost 87,500 331,030 21,419 7,892 48,235 496,076
2:E Accumulated depreciation (15,900) (296,458) (17,535) (7,140) (25,276) (362,309)
FEEE Net book amount 71,600 34,572 3,884 752 22,959 133,767

B22024512A318 L EE Year ended 31 December 2024

SUEETE Opening net book amount 71,600 34,572 3,884 752 22,959 133,767
AE Additions - 40,093 3,604 214 1,524 45,435
W&o Depreciation (Note 24) (2,409) (15,352) (4,629) (195) (2,947) (25,532)
e Disposals - (9,414) - (105) (201) (9,720)
BYRRE Transfer to investment

mE(ite) properties (Note 8) (31,995) - - - - (31,995)
REBEER Currency translation differences 726 - - 6 (268) 464
BREEFE Closing net book amount 37,922 49,899 2,859 672 21,067 112,419

R2024512831R At 31 December 2024

A Cost 52,697 362,204 25,023 7,141 45,670 492,735
2ihE Accumulated depreciation (14,775) (312,305) (22,164) (6,469) (24,603) (380,316)
FEEE Net book amount 37,922 49,899 2,859 672 21,067 112,419

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 121



SO TS ERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 WX BERKEE

WEIHEHFAEGHEEKERX @ W0
TR

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation charges have been charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
follows:

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234

2024 2023

ARET T ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

NP Cost of revenue 15,352 31,509
TEEX Administrative expenses 9,496 6,888
HERTSHEERS Selling and marketing expenses 684 1,809
25,532 40,206

FEZAFAEREFH(HAABEYE
KERETHERE MREME - UR

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual

SEFHER) LAE A D H A AR (F0 R EH values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case
BEE) : of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant
and equipment, the lease term if shorter, as follows:

B 204 Buildings 20 years
THEYHEEE FeAFEEA Sk Al (P EE HA Leasehold improvements  Shorter of remaining lease

(LAB A& B%) term or useful lives
JHED 54 Motor vehicles 5 years
NN NG 3&E54E Furniture and office 3 -5 years

equipment

B pES0E Advertising fixtures 2 - 10 years

FRBEME - BE KR BRE LA
B - BLRABRKRERHAERR
BRESHH -

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 122

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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M BERREE)

7R B HENARREBEMZEATERA
AREEMIABR KA EFENER
T BEERRATERERBARERE
ENREREXRTERSEE ° EAF
BRI E B A SR B B (B A5 10 108 R B
MR LLTER - IBREMBEERFEEER
EELNREMEARBRENR -

RERERRGERTEENFRER
RAERFS  YHEAZRR TELH

o

WEEREESREMGMTIREDSHE -
RIJ BIVBS 5% 5% B E MY P [ 1L OB 22 L R U
B &5 (HiEE39.6) -

HEMRE LB RZAERREREE
ZEBET - HOFT AR -

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
39.6).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by

comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss.
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7 FEAEEERBEEER

A FREAKEEREEANERE

ERBL -

(a) REHEERBREINEEH

BHEEABRIIMATREEHEBN

TR

EHESEE

R2023F181H

NE
W& (Hit24)
Jl
L2

HEEE(HE24)

R2023%127831H
AE

WEWi24)

e 3ls

BX
EBE(M24)
HERmEER

R2024F12831R

(a)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet

The consolidated balance sheet shows the following
amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets

TR ARE BERE BAE @3
Land use Advertising

rights fixtures Total
ARBFTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2023 18:513 & 11383:997. 15,927, 1,418,362
Additions - 492,304 9,596 501,900
Depreciation (Note 24) (568) (662,291) (10,924) (673,783)
Termination - (310,349) (825) (311,174)
Modification - 244,059 415 244,474
Impairment loss (Note 24) - (5:251) - (5,251)
Currency translation differences - 3,833 96 3,929
At 31 December 2023 17,945 1,146,227 14,285 1,178,457
Additions - 407,311 8,450 415,761
Depreciation (Note 24) (568) (394,197) (8,721) (403,486)
Termination - (520,981) (1,147) (522,128)
Modification - 61,914 - 61,914
Impairment loss (Note 24) - (9,188) - (9,188)
Currency translation differences - 3,536 99 3,635
At 31 December 2024 17,377 694,622 12,966 724,965

R2024F 128318 » NEBRERHE
BE/ANRET24,965,000(20234 : A
R¥1,178,457,000) ° BB HERIE
SEABM([ReEEBM])ET B
EXHEMEENEEMATINRSTEA
ABIBT IR SR AN RN B4 E

EWI

RAAEREEERAT

2024 F 1R
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The Group had right-of-use assets of RMB724,965,000
(2023: RMB1,178,457,000) as at 31 December 2024.
The impairment assessment is performed on the basis
of the cash-generating unit (“CGU"), which is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
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(a)

EREEEREERGE(E
REHEERBRBEIANEH(E)

MR2024F 128318 » EEER LR
BIEERN  HERREEEETHERN
B AEBEEERHENSHESGOR
B AR RReEEEN RYERER
SHEHSEEEMETREN G &
ERREHKEEREBEENAIKE

TH -

HRBAREFRORESELEN - AF
BEREBEEAEBEERFERDEKRA
MEPNRSE  FHZEREELE
A Bl & - HUHRRERSESL
BAETRERNE - REEEEMAA
WEeBEDREERAEEAEEE - £
BAVEBHOERNFERS

ETHTHESTKRESENESH A
BEAEFEHERR LA ER -
2024128318 » BRI - BHF
REMEEEHMANTEHEERA
BEDRABI%ES%(20234F : 6% F
9%) ~ 8% (2023%F : 3% E7%) K 28%
(20234 :8%) - EETE A W ol & 5B FA A9
TRATRLRIR R 49 A12% (20234 : 11%) °

FREEMNTERSH TAMEE - BE
BRA KBS EERRSELBMNNER
HERER - B - BiE2024F12H
NELEFE  AEBERRFEAEEER
BEARM9,188,000(20234 : AR#E
5,251,000) (ff5E24) -

(a)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, management carried out
an impairment assessment for the right-of-use assets
when there are impairment indicators. The Group
regards each lease contract for advertising fixtures as a
separately identifiable CGU and performed impairment
assessments on each of the CGU with impairment
indicators by considering the recoverable amount of
such assets at contract level.

For CGU with impairment indicators, the Group has
performed impairment assessments on the relevant
CGU by assessing their recoverable amounts based
on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs
of disposal. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which
are higher than the fair value less costs of disposal
calculations.

Key inputs to the determination of the recoverable
amount over the remaining lease period includes
annual sales growth and pre-tax discount rate. As at 31
December 2024, the average annual revenue growth
used by each contract in Mainland China, Hong Kong
and Singapore is 4% to 5% (2023: 6% to 9%), 8%
(2023: 3% to 7%) and 28% (2023: 8%), respectively.
The pre-tax discount rate used to determine the
recoverable amounts is approximately 12% (2023:
11%).

The value-in-use calculations covering a period of
the remaining lease term. Impairment is recognised
when the recoverable amount is lower than the
carrying amounts of the CGUs. Accordingly, the Group
recognised an impairment of the right-of-use assets of
RMB9,188,000 during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB5,251,000) (Note 24).
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7 ERAEEEREESE#AE)

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a) REHEEEBREIANSEH(E) (a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet (Continued)
HEERE Lease liabilities

BIEE
FERNERER >

HERERRE

(b) REMFRERBREINEH

Bt EBERIIEATEBAEREDN

TR

ERREERE (MiE24)
*EAREERERE(ME24)
HE & EF S5 (FE28)

HEHAERTCEBEEEN
X (FizE24)

B S BT
(FffsE24)

REKRIEAENRESFE
(FfzE27)

R4 MEERSARLEBLER
AR ¥ 926921000 (203 F : AR¥

1,212,353,000) °

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 126

M12H318

As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB‘000
Current portion 499,569 836,236
Non-current portion 508,179 1,041,041
Total lease liabilities 1,007,748 1,871,277

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

2024

ARBT R
RMB’000

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

(Note 24) 403,486 673,783
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets

(Note 24) 9,188 5,251
Interest expenses on lease liabilities

(Note 28) 51,840 1615
Expenses relating to short-term concession

fee (Note 24) 71,960 199,642
Variable concession fee charges for

advertising spaces (Note 24) 143,376 190,703
Net gains from early termination of leases

(Note 27) 198,383 66,264

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was
RMB926,921,000 (2023: RMB1,212,353,000).
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(c)

ERAREENREHESE A
FEENWEEFHREIRSE

AEEHELZREESRHE  PLAER
T ERAE - HEAHN—RIE1EI15F
(20234 : 1ZE15F ) WEEHARET L -
MERTBE IR A T (e) Tl MY IE IR 1S4 -

BHAESHERFHERD - AKH
REERHEBERHEONKEDSR
EMERFHERD - A - LAKE
EREEAHERMEMNS - HOER
TEAHERFHERD - $RFHE
ANRIESE-HERD -

MEFRFRDEENERET  TEEE
BRI R R - HELBL TE
PRI -

MENFEBHEERES R T AR
B MBEIEEZNE (AEENEE
—REBUHBERBR)  AIERABRARLE
fERA =R - BE R AE A ERULEIR
BRRBALURR - BERRREFEAES
HEREEEBEALUNEENMTES
WMIAX TR o

. EALBERT  FRENREAR
FRENES FEA BB
AR RRABEE=SRALK
BRI el 2

o ERAZRIE - BARAKEMAFA
HENEERR(OILEE=7
BE)ABRERBRNE &

e ETHERBOMNFE -
R Bx - GF&EM-

{51 40 58

(c)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various advertising fixtures, offices
and land use rights. Rental contracts are typically made
for fixed periods of 1 to 15 years (2023: 1 to 15 years)
but may have extension options as described in (e)
below.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease arrangements do not impose any covenants.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, which does not have recent
third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.
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(c)

EREEENREHERE@)
FEEMNWEEEHREIKRGEE)

14§11 B AR FLA T BA 8 R 3B OB AR P
HEHFECEBRANRE XTI
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HERBEREEREEELETENT
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EREEE —MRNEEMNREHFHR
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TE MASREAERETEBERE
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(c)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the Group use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small advertising fixtures
and small items of office furniture.
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EREEEREHEREE)
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(c)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made by a lessee to a lessor
for the right to use an underlying asset during periods
covered by an option to extend or terminate a lease
that are not included in the lease term.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

° any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

All of the Group's lease modifications are not
accounted for a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The Group accounts for
the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

All of the Group's lease modifications are not
accounted for a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The Group accounts for
the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets.
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(c)
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(e)

(f)
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for (Continued)

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights
to the PRC's land bureau. Land use rights is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided to write off
the cost of land use rights on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms. Land use right is grouped as part of
right-of-use assets.

Variable lease payments

Some leases contain variable payment terms that
are linked to sales generated from a contract. For
individual contract, the basis of variable payment
terms with percentages was ranging from 4% to 25%
of sales. Variable payment terms are used for a variety
of reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base
for newly established advertising fixture. Variable lease
payments of RMB143,376,000 that depend on sales are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
condition that triggers those payments occurs (2023:
RMB190,703,000).

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of concession leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

Leases not yet commenced to which the lessee is
committed
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no
leases not yet commenced to which the lessee is
committed.
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BREM=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024%F 20234

2024 2023

ARBT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

UATEHEWNERBERE Non-current assets - at fair value

R1A1B MR Opening balance at 1 January 92,013 94,924
NE Additions 2,851 2:0:19
BREEVE  BE Transfer from property, plant and

PE ALY, equipment (Note 6) 40,855 —
NEEEE(HF27) Changes in fair value (Note 27) (10,292) (4,930)
M12831 B EAR &8 Closing balance at 31 December 125,427 92,013

AARESETREMEAFELEAN
EERWE - A20245F128318 R
EEAARK31,995000MEF2iHH
REmEEREYE - BFE R&E -
ZEREMEREZAHNATEASA
R ¥40,855,000 © MEFMHEEAERA
FEZHEERZREARS 860,000
ERERANERTHEEEARHE -

M 20244 % 2023F12A318 © &%
EMEEMENRFESIABARE
125,427,000 & A R %92,013,000 ' T3
RN EEL2ERBUAEIREER
ERNEAE & E LR AR A R#EITH
HEREE HERAEELEREHE
17 WEREZWEIRERAHLDKIA
BEMAFAERRATREHE  UWRBR
BATMSLEAMMAILEER S - &
MENATFEFEFEZFARFEER
3R o
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The directors of the Company have determined that
investment properties are completed properties held
for rental. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
buildings with carrying amount of RMB31,995,000
were transferred from property, plant and equipment
following a change in its use. The fair value of
the investment properties as of transfer date is
RMB40,855,000, and the difference amounting to
RMB8,860,000 arising between the carrying amount
of buildings and its fair value is recognised as asset
revaluation reserve in equity.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
are RMB125,427,000 and RMB92,013,000 as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively, as determined
by the directors of the Company with reference
to the valuation performed by Flagship Appraisals
and Consulting Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers. Valuation was performed using
the direct comparison method on the assumption
that the property can be sold in its existing state
subject to existing tenancies or otherwise with the
benefit of vacant possession and making references
to comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market. The fair value measurement of the
investment properties is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.
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8
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for investment properties

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20245

2023%
2024 2023
AR®T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

Rental income from investment properties 2,186 795

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
un-provided contractual obligations for future repairs
and maintenance.

Measuring investment property at fair value
Investment properties, principally offices and
buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and are
not occupied by the Group. Investment property is
initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
Subsequently, they are carried at fair value. Changes
in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of
other gains, net.

Presenting cash flows

The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire
investment properties as investing and rental inflows
and related outflows as operating cash flows.

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are located in Mainland
China and leased to tenants under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. Lease income from
operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Minimum
lease payments receivable on leases of investment
properties are as follows:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 2023%F

2024 2023

ARBT T AREBT T

RMB'000 RMB’000

1R Within 1 year 2,464 317
i1 FENZNEF Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 9,069 604
FBIE5F Later than 5 years 287 -
11,820 921
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RAAEREEERAT

BEE

R2023F181R
A
RetHEH

FRE#E

BZ2023F12A31BLEE
HRmFE
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HRARE S E
R2023F12A31R
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RetEH

FREFE

HZE2024F12831BLLEE
HREFE

AE

B (fizto4)

BiknEEE

HREREFE
R2024512A8318
(DN

R

FREFE

2024 F 1R

9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2023
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation (Note 24)

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2023
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2024
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation (Note 24)

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2024
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Goodwill
AREBTIT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
RMB‘000

L BhREH4 st

Brand Computer

name software Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

2,399 15,452 6,308 24,159
- (6,182) (4,671)  (10,853)
2,399 9,270 15637 13,306
2,399 9270 15637 13,306
- — 355 355
- (1>559) (831) (2,390)
34 127 9 170
2,433 7,838 1,170 11,441
2,433 15,676 6,696 24,805
- (7,838) (55526):  (13,364)
2,433 7,838 1170 11,441
2,433 7,838 1,170 11,441
- - 393 393
- (1,578) (645) (2,223)
53 147 14 214
2,486 6,407 932 9,825
2,486 16,018 7,142 25,646
- (9,611) (6,210) (15,821)
2,486 6,407 932 9,825
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation charge was expensed in administrative
expenses during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited
useful life using the straight-line method over the
following periods:

Brand name
Computer software

10 years
5 years

Brand name

The brand name acquired in a business combination
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
brand has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful
life of 10 years.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. These costs are amortised
over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.

Please refer to Note 39.6 for the Group’s policy
regarding impairments.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 39.2.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.
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(d)

BLEE(E)

BB R E RS ()

A& (&)
HESROEERSEEEMIAETH
BAH BEOEBENRSZHSELE
UkReELEMAERNBRRBERELR
BNEBEHMT R - FEMHEME
AARANEERNMERBENRE
BR - BIgE DR (FRES)

ReELBUNAIKEESRI2EER
BESAEEEE °

R B EREEE AN £2ER
BEEIEELERERF(2023F : AF)
BRAHM G STEEHNRAE S RE
TR BT E 0% o TERIEILASNY IR
CHRENFERGEFRARRES -
EEAFZERZBEMAIAIRE14%
(20234 : 16%) - WBEESFHER
10% (20234 : 10%) R &k g & K 1%
(2023 : 1%) ° }A2024F12H318 -
RAREERLEEFERAEEERadius
Displays® ¥ K EBLARMLE - BIR
MR R EERRER DAL EE
ERRE @ AARSEESEMGTATK
O ¢ B HER@TE -
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(d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating segments
(Note 5).

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is determined by reference to the value-in-use
calculation.

In assessing the value-in-use calculation, references
were made to the calculations using pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial plans approved
by management covering a forecast period of 5
years (2023: 5 years). Cash flows beyond the forecast
period are extrapolated using the estimated long-term
growth rate. The key assumptions applied includes
pre-tax discount rate of 14% (2023: 16%), compound
annual growth rate of revenue of 10% (2023: 10%)
and terminal growth rate of 1% (2023: 1%). As at
31 December 2024, the directors of the Company
consider that no impairment of goodwill has been
made as the estimated recoverable amount of CGUs
exceeded their carrying values after considering the
value-in-use calculation for the business value of Radius
Displays and the nature, prospects, financial condition
and business risks.
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(a) BRAFEIIAEBHER

() R FEIARDERENTE
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10

(a)
(i)

FVPL AND FVOCI

FVPL
Classification of FVPL
The Group classifies the following FVPL:

e debt investments that do not qualify for
measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI
(Note (b)),

o equity investments that are held for trading; and

o equity investments for which the entity has not
elected to recognise fair value gains and losses
through other comprehensive income.

The FVPL represented two key management life
insurance policies which are denominated in HKD. The
Group is the beneficiary of the insurance policies. The
investments in key management life insurance policies
were mandatorily measured at FVPL in accordance with

BRETE - HISERS 9.

HZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024%F 20234

2024 2023

ARMT T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

REHD At beginning of the year 10,226 8,433

VAN Additions 2,388 294

HE Disposals (639) o

RIERERRANATE Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in

(B518) W (HE27) profit or loss (Note 27) (179) 1,284

BERHMEEE Currency translation differences 246 215

RER At end of the year 12,042 10,226

o IEREE D Less: Non-current portion (12,042) (9,335)

mEnE i Current portion - 891

(i) EEGERER RN FEE
T%Eﬁgﬁ—&ﬁE"ﬂﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ"ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ
REE BEAFEES

B R AN 55 [ T B ) M % L B 3 10 P
3.1(a)(iii) - BLEE A FEERNITE
RBRRZER  FL2HME33 -

(i)

Risk exposure and fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the insurance policy
investments represented the cash surrender value of
the insurance policies which approximate their fair
values.

Information about the Group's exposure to price risk
is provided in Note 3.1(a)(iii). For information about
the methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value, please refer to Note 3.3.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 137



SO TS ERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 BRAFEIABZRRRELIFED
AHMERS W ()

(b) BAFEIIAHMEZES K

() ERFEIARMES K a9 758
BAVEINAHEMBEAKRERE

o WIRKEEBBRAFS  MAK
B 2 R P RERR I A A e b iR 42
Rz D MR - L HREEERE
BASER B D RE RHER -

s BHRTREERAEBEEMEZ
BfES  MARERFRAZH
BHRBKBANRSREREE
CREEER -

(i) L FEIAEMERE Wt £ EFIRE
BRAFEINAEMEGS WaWEHRE
BREATRIELTEFNRE :

10

(b)
(i)

(ii)

FVPL AND FVOCI (Continued)

FVOCI
Classification of FVOCI
FVOCI comprises:

° Equity securities which are not held for trading
and which the Group has irrevocably elected at
initial recognition to recognise in this category.
These are strategic investments and the Group
considers this classification to be more relevant.

. Debt securities where the contractual cash flows
are solely principal and interest and the objective
of the Group’s business model is achieved both
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets.

Debt investments at FVOCI
Debt investments at FVOCI comprise the following
investments in unlisted bonds:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20244

20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

REA At beginning of the year 6,152 5,852

REAMERE U FER A

Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in

ANEE(EBE), S other comprehensive income (107) 220
BERBHBmEEE Currency translation differences 125 80
REL At end of the year 6,170 6,152

REEZEFEBRER - RAFEIA
Htsr e WafERN s EMBBERE
MoBEEHMKE  RESERRFES
Zllee

(i) 2F1E - BER E R
BRFEIIAE MBS W2 A F{E R
FREEFESNEEFERE BN
BTLEME °

BRASEEBNEBRERRZERER
BYEE3.1(a)(iii) ° BLEETE X P EFATEE A K
TERBRZEFR  F2HME33

BT AEN S BRFELSHME39.7 -

BAEEREEERAIT 2024 FH 138

(iii)

On disposal of these debt investments, any related
balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to
other gains, net within profit or loss.

Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

The fair value of FVOCI are approximately the net
assets value of the unquoted bond funds which are
denominated in HKD.

Information about the Group's exposure to price risk
is provided in Note 3.1(a)(iii). For information about
the methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value, please refer to Note 3.3.

Please refer to Note 39.7 for the remaining relevant
accounting policies.
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11 REHEASHNERIA 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
AEEBBEATEHIA : The Group holds the following financial instruments:

BATHE

BHE  BOFE  SIARM
RANEZ  AABER  SAKE2
SREE  2EMHE  SRAE

Financial
Financial assets
Financial assets  at fair value
assets at fair value through other
at amortised through comprehensive
costs  profit or loss income
ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
®2024512831H At 31 December 2024
MRS R At e R Trade and other receivables excluding
(TMEREEBEMNFE) other prepayments 507,994 - -
SRBBE (HF17) Restricted cash (Note 17) 17,140 - -
ReRASZENWH17) Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 215,334 = =
ROTBEYINBRE(H10E)  FVPL (Note 10(a) - 12,042 -
BATES AL RS WS FVOCI (Note 10(b))
(Hiz100)) - - 6,170
740,468 12,042 6,170
120235124318 At 31 December 2023
FEMER TRl E A e YT IR Trade and other receivables excluding
(TREAMENTE) other prepayments 657,819 . it
RRARE (H5E17) Restricted cash (Note 17) 23,541 = &
ReRRESEN(HE17) Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 367,241 = =
BATESI ARG (H7E10@)  FVPL (Note 10(a) - 10,226 -
BATES AL RS s FVOCI (Note 10(b))
(Hi100)) - - 6,152
1,048,601 10,226 6,152
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¢
11 RERBSsHWEMIAE) 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)
R AR A AR
ZEafE
Liabilities at
amortised cost
ARBT T
RMB’000
M20245F12A31H At 31 December 2024
JRE A B R e L A B A5 R IR Trade and other payables 314,602
&k (HtaE21) Borrowings (Note 21) 355,419
MEaBEHME7) Lease liabilities (Note 7) 1,007,748
1,677,769
R2023%F12A31H At 31 December 2023
JEAST BR AR B HL A JE A SROR Trade and other payables 214,530
&k (HtaE21) Borrowings (Note 21) 416,945
MEaBEME7) Lease liabilities (Note 7) 1,877,277
2:5081752
FAASEEBRMNSERSH T AIEA The Group's exposure to various risks associated with
BB ST R S AN B EE3 o MR E BAK - the financial instruments is discussed in Note 3. The
AEEHGENTAEERR A Ll ELE maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
TREEMNKREE - reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of

financial assets mentioned above.
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12 ERABSEEARNRE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024F 20234

2024 2023

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

REA At beginning of the year 53,807 76,465
FE(L 4R Share of results (4,372) (10,293)
A% & Dividends - (12,365)
BEARHE Capital contribution 6,500 i
RER At end of the year 55,935 53,807

LA BANEBN20244 22023512 8
JITAMBE AR RS EDRE - THHE
REIRAEETEMAEEERERFS &
MK BERNAEEEL L -

Set out below were the associates and joint venture
of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
associates and joint venture as listed below were held
directly by the Group, their countries of incorporation
are also their principal places of business.
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12 EAERZEARNREE)

12

BEny/
AR LER

Place of business/
country of

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

fiak
BENE AR BEASLEBME
Percentage
Nature of Measurement  of ownership

L1510 e/ R B
Date of incorporation/
Name of entity establishment
BRAAESRRAT 2006548298
Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 29 April 2006
Company Limited
MR R EEERAT 2013598298
(TRYIB T ])
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 29 September 2013
Media Company Limited
("Shenzhen Airport Asiaray")
HEERERARAR 201858220
Zhuhai Yueya Media 22 August 2018
Company Limited

IHESERRSBRERAT 2020594308
Jiangsu Zhihui Space Advertising 30 September 2020
Media Company Limited

FEERRXERARLT 20175128208
Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media 20 December 2017
Company Limited

RARAREERARAT 2017%3A27H
Tianjin Yatie Media Communication 27 March 2017
Company Limited

BERRRAEEREMAR/IFLTA
B BMYEABHE BEABEAEE
REBERRIREELRMERNEANL
RABREREE  BBEQRARAE
CREREEXIRFNNEAEETEEKR
PR
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incorporation

HE
the PRC

BE

the PRC

il
the PRC

P
the PRC

P
the PRC

P
the PRC

relationship  method interest  Nature of business

VN Rt 2024:30% RERGEPHELEE
Associate Equity method (2023:30%)  Development and operations of
out-of-home advertising media

LN Bt 024:49% RERBEFNESRE
(2023: 49%)
Associate Equity method Development and operations of

out-of-home advertising media

VN Ent 24:40% HERBEFHELEE
Associate Equity method (2023:40%)  Development and operations of
out-of-home advertising media

N Rt 024:49% HRRBEFHELEE
Associate Equity method (2023:49%)  Development and operations of
out-of-home advertising media

N Rt 024:49% HERBEFHELEE
Associate Equity method (2023:49%)  Development and operations of
out-of-home advertising media

REME Ent 224:60% HEREBEFHELEE
Joint venture  Equity method (2023:60%)  Development and operations of
out-of-home advertising media

All of the associates and joint venture are unlisted
companies and there are no market values available
for the associates and joint venture. There are
no significant contingent liabilities and capital
commitments relating to the Group's interests in
the associates and joint venture and there are no
significant restrictions on the transfer of assets or
earnings from the associates and joint venture to the

Group.
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SEMEEEX -

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

The English names of the above associates and joint
venture represented the best efforts by management of

the Company in translating their Chinese names.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company,

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is material to the Group.

RN WS L ENT K ERRE . (@) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray:

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for Shenzhen Airport Asiaray:

TRIVRRIN IS T 4 O R 75 B B

i

FRBEE
MEEE

- e MREFEY
—HitRBEE

FRBAME

mENRIE

FEE

AEBDEFEE
AEAMAREREFEE

Hip AR (M aE)

Non-current assets

Current assets
— Cash and cash equivalents
— Other current assets

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets

Group's share of net assets

Net assets attributable to the Group
before adjustments

Other adjustments (Note)

Interests in the associate

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,150 7,921
1,212 1,149
62,992 110,474
64,204 111,623
(15,366) (55,601)
50,988 63,943
49% 49%
24,984 31,332
= (6,615)
24,984 24,717
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12 EAERZEARNREE)

(a)

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
FHI S A ENBEEREE : (&) (a) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray: (Continued)

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Weas Revenue 29,020 430,802
PrEs I 5 Depreciation and amortisation (1,611) (66,447)
F B WA Interest income 74 563
BREE A B R Loss before tax (12,721) (23,482)
FRiS R > Income tax expense - (1,764)
FEBR Loss and total comprehensive
KRG BB AR loss for the year (12,721) (25,246)
REBE D Group's share of:
FEBRE Loss and total comprehensive
MirEBEERE loss for the year (6,233) (12,371)
DL EIEE R Reconciliation of share of loss
—EABE AT — Material associate (6,233) (12,371)
— BRI EREE A - Aggregate of individually immaterial
BEDELRT (D) associates and joint venture (b) 1,861 2,078
(4,372) (10,293)
Kt - Note:

HZE2023F 12831 IEFE - EMAREZEM
SHELR I35 T4 RORYI TS BR A EH £
WS FIE °

Other adjustments mainly represented elimination of upstream
transaction between Shenzhen Airport Asiaray and Shenzhen Yashi
Metro Company Limited (RYIIF (454 BR A 7)) for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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(b)

ERESREARNRE (&)

BRFEABEARARSERSE

B EXFIBERE R R 0 AE
B R mEE T ERNBE QT RE
LhEEEER  EERARREAR -

12

(b)

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Individually immaterial associates and joint venture:
In addition to the interests in the associate disclosed
above, the Group also has interests in individually
immaterial associates and joint venture that are
accounted for using the equity method.

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20244

20234
2024 2023
ARMT T AREBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

A= E 55 1E R E AR 2 2 8] Aggregate carrying amount of net assets

REBEREE of individually immaterial associates and

BRI 42 %E joint venture shared by the Group 30,951 29,090
AEE D EFEEFE Aggregate amounts of the Group's share

4B%H(a) of profit for the year (a) 1,861 2,078

R2024F % 2023F12A31H » ARA
SEENEBEEBEENERKAES
BRARKIGEECTHESEEAR
ANEIMER R BEELPREER
NN IHEECHESEREEAR AT
MR EEEEDRLES -

MN2024F 22023F 12 A3 B ES K
NEBMPRBERNRIRE S D ERERHN A
ERSREE-

The carrying amounts of the investments in Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising Company Limited and Jiangsu
Zhihui Space Advertising Media Company Limited were
reduced to nil as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as
the Group's share of losses had exceeded its interests
in Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising Company Limited and
Jiangsu Zhihui Space Advertising Media Company
Limited.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no

commitments and contingent liabilities relating to the
Group's interests in associates and joint venture.
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RAAEREEERAT

13 MEAF

AEBMN2024F12A31B 2 X BN E

NRFHHNMT ©

Name of entity

KAAERER:
Directly held by the Company:

RAAERARARLT

Asiaray International Holdings Limited

e ERRRARAT
Asiaray Media Holdings Limited

[EEARARAR

Billion China International Limited
KATBRER:
Indirectly held by the Company:

Right Vantage Holdings Limited

Asiaray Metro Media Limited

Rt REREARAT

Asiaray Advertising Media Limited

2024 F 1R

AL/ R
RHERREY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

ABRIRE ARAMLLT
BVI, limited liability company

AERIRE ARAMLLA
BVI, limited liability company

BB ARALLT

Samoa, limited
liability company

ABRAES ARAMLT
BV, limited liability company

REEE  AREMLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

PEEE  AREMLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

146

13 SUBSIDIARIES
The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2024 are set out below.

KDAER
BRNEER
HA(%)
Proportion
of ordinary
shares directly

DAL
RENEER
t8(%)
Proportion Proportion

of ordinary  of ordinary
shares indirectly ~shares held by
share capital/ ~ heldbythe held by the non-controlling
registered Company Company interests
capital (%) (%) (%)

#EhER
RRlEER
(%)

BR{TRE/
imERHE

Particulars
of issued

Principal activities and
place of operation

RERE RBRAES %1 100% - -
Investment holding, BVI Ut (2023:100%)
RERR  RBRAHES 50,0007 100% g -
Investment holding, BVI HKD50,000  (2023: 100%)
REhx BED %1 100% . i
Investment in properties, USD1 (2023:100%)
Samoa
RERk RBRIES %7 - 100% =
Investment holding, BVI Usp1 (2023: 100%)
PABSEERE 17 - 100% =
hEEE (2023: 100%)
Qut-of-home advertising media HKD1
services, Hong Kong
FINRERRRES 2,500,000%7 - 100% -
hEEE (2023: 100%)

Out-of-home advertising media - HKD2,500,000
services, Hong Kong
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13 MIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ARFER  FARER FERES
AL/ R BRARE/ HENEER BANEER  RANEER
RHERREY imERHE (%) (%) (%)

Proportion Proportion Proportion

Particulars ~ ofordinary ~ of ordinary  of ordinary
of issued  shares directly shares indirectly shares held by

Place of incorporation/ share capital/ ~ heldbythe held by the non-controlling
establishment and kind of Principal activities and registered Company Company interests
Name of entity legal entity place of operation capital (%) (%) (%)
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited hEES  BRELLAR PIVEERERE 10,0007 - 100% -
TEER (2023: 100%)
Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising media ~ HKD10,000
liability company services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Megamedia Limited hERE  BREFAT e BE BIR 10,0007 - 100% -
ikl nERE (2023: 100%)
Hong Kong, limited Design, consultancy, HKD10,000
liability company construction and
maintenance services,
Hong Kong
Genesis Printing and Production hEEE  BRARAH BE4E  REARDRE 1000037 - 100% 5
Limited TEER (2023: 100%)
Hong Kong, limited Advertising, production, HKD10,000
liability company installation and dismantling

services, Hong Kong

Asiaray Bus Media Limited hERE  BREFAT POESHERE 10,000%7 - 100% -
EES (2023: 100%)
Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising media ~ HKD10,000
liability company services, Hong Kong
FRRLEREARDA REEE  AREMAT RERR EER 990027 - 100% -
Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding, HKD9,900 2023: 100%)
liability company Hong Kong
HtefEaRAT PEEE  AREAMLT PIRERRRH 1087 - 100% -
HEEE (2023: 100%)
Asiaray Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising media HKD10
liability company services, Hong Kong
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13 MEBARE)

Name of entity

HERARAR

TradeOOH Limited

Radius Displays International Limited

Radius Displays Limited

Tt BHERAT

Asiaray Connect Limited

HteRMERAT

Asiaray Macau Limited

BAEEREEERAIT 2024 FH

AL/ R
RHERREY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

TEER  ARRMAT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

REEE  AREAMLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

PEEE  AREAMLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

REEE  BRELAT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

REEF BREMAT

Macau, limited
liability company
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BR{TRE/
imERHE
Particulars
of issued
share capital/
Principal activities and registered
place of operation capital
FARAHERY 10,000%70
RERE
Out-o-home advertising media ~ HKD10,000
services, Hong Kong
REREEE REREREE 1010087
BT TEMR
HRE - RER
Provision of advertising HKD10,100
selections, signage and
street fumiture design
engineering and consulting
service, Hong Kong
REREEE REMEREE 1000087
R IRIR
HHRE - RER
Provision of advertising HKD10,000
selections, signage and
street furiture design
engineering and consulting
service, Hong Kong
RERK EER 187
Investment holding, HKD1
Hong Kong
Rt BRRIRGERE - 250008M7
hERM
Design, consultancy, MOP25,000

construction and
maintenance services,
Macau

NGEL
BRNEER
t8i(%)
Proportion Proportion

of ordinary  of ordinary
shares directly shares indirectly
held bythe ~held by the
Company Company

(%) (%)

LN
RRlEER
t8(%)

- 100%
(2023: 100%)

- 51%
(2023: 51%)

- 51%
(2023: 51%)

- 100%
(2023: 100%)

- 100%
2023: 100%)

FERER
BRNEER
HA(%)
Proportion
of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interests
()

49%
(2023: 49%)

49%
(2023: 49%)
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13 KEBARE)

Name of entity

OOM Advertising Company Limited

Buzz Production Limited

DERRRERRAT( LERIA])
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited ("Shanghai Asiaray”)

LEREREERERAR
Shanghai Meidisi Advertising Media Company
Limited

MR EREARAT
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

KIEEREART
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising
Company Limited

LERtARSERARAT
(TLEREER K1)
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Media Company
Limited ("Shanghai Advertising Media")
(Note 1)

MR/ A3
RHERREY

Place of incorporation/

establishment and kind of

legal entity
REEE  ARAELT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

REEE  AREMLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

"E - BREMAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

oE - BREAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

oE - BREAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

PE - BREAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

o8 AREFAT

the PRC, limited
liability company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRARA/
Az
Particulars
of issued
share capital/
Principal activities and registered
place of operation capital
Rt BE - BIR 171
BERE TEEE
Design, consultancy, HKD1
construction and
maintenance services,
Hong Kong
BE £F REA 171
il cEEE
Advertising, production, HKD1
installation and dismantling
services, Hong Kong
POMEERERE 78  AR%100000,000
Out-of-home advertising RMB100,000,000
media services, the PRC
PORERERE 78 ARM2365530

Out-of-home advertising media  RMB2,365,530
services, the PRC

PHBSEERE 12 AB5,000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMBS5,000,000
media services, the PRC

PABSEERE 12 1,000,000

Out-o-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

FORGEERE h8  ARK40000000

QOut-of-home advertising RMBA40,000,000

media services, the PRC

INGEL
BRNEER
t8i(%)
Proportion
of ordinary
shares directly
held by the
Company
(%)

AAREE

RENEER

HA(%)
Proportion
of ordinary

FERER

BRNEER

HA(%)
Proportion
of ordinary

shares indirectly ~shares held by

held by the
Company
(%)

100%
(2023: 100%)

100%
(2023: 100%)

100%

(2023: 100%)

100%
2023: 100%)

100%
(2023: 100%)

100%
2023: 100%)

100%
2023: 100%)

non-controlling
interests
(%)
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13 MIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ARFER FARER  FERES
AL/ R BRARE/ KENEER BANEER  RANEER
RHERREY BECED (%) (%) (%)

Proportion Proportion Proportion

Particulars ~ ofordinary ~ of ordinary  of ordinary
of issued  shares directly shares indirectly shares held by

Place of incorporation/ share capital/ ~ heldbythe held by the non-controlling
establishment and kind of Principal activities and registered Company Company interests
Name of entity legal entity place of operation capital (%) (%) (%)
ENBEREARLT °E - ARALLT PORERERE 78  ARE1,030,000 - 100% -
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,030,000 (2023:100%)
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
LR R EERRARAA PE - FREALAT PARESERS *8  ARMS0,000000 - 51% 19%
(EEE - d) (2023:51%)  (2023:49%)
Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information Media ~ the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMBS50,000,000
Company Limited liability company media sevices, the PRC

("Yunnan Airport Asiaray")

R EREARAT PE - FREAAT PARESERS 8  ARM1,000000 - 100% -
Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000 (2023:100%)
Company Limited liability company media sevices, the PRC
BEREREARAT(ERRLA]) PE - ARELAT PORERERE 78  AR%2,000,000 - 100% -
Hainan Asiaray Advertising Company Limited ~ the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000 (2023: 100%)
("Hainan Asiaray") liability company media services, the PRC
MIELSEREERAT PE - FREALAT PARESERS #8  ARM1,000000 - 100% -
Shenzhen Yashi Metro Company Limited the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising media  RMB1,000,000 (2023: 100%)
liability company services, the PRC
RllERt g EEBRAT RE - FRELLT PARESERS 78  ARM1,200000 - 100% -
Sichuan Asiaray Advertising the PRC, limited Qut-of-home advertising RMB1,200,000 (2023:100%)
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
KRRt AREARAT PE - FRELAT PORERERE +E  AR%10,500000 - 100% -
Beijing Asiaray Advertising the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,500,000 2023: 100%)
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
AHEARGAERERAT PE - FREAAT PORERERE +8  ARM5000,000 - 51% 19%
(TR (2023:51%)  (2023:49%)
Henan Airport Asiaray Media Company the PRC, limited Qut-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000
Limited (*Henan Airport Asiaray") liability company media services, the PRC
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13 MIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ARFER  FARER FERES
AL/ R BRARE/ HENEER BANEER  RANEER
RHERREY BECED (%) (%) (%)

Proportion Proportion Proportion

Particulars ~ ofordinary ~ of ordinary  of ordinary
of issued  shares directly shares indirectly shares held by

Place of incorporation/ share capital/ ~ heldbythe held by the non-controlling
establishment and kind of Principal activities and registered Company Company interests

Name of entity legal entity place of operation capital (%) (%) (%)
LERERERRERLT o8 ARALLT PORSRERE 78 ARE1,000,000 - 100% -
Shanghai Asiaray Media Communication the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000 (2023:100%)

Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
MIRELEEERAA PE - FREAAT Bk 48 ARH1,000000 - 100% -
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising the PRC, limited Advertising services, RMB1,000,000 (2023:100%)

Company Limited liability company the PRC
ERRMEHERRERAA PE - FRELAT PORERERE 78  ARE3,600,000 - 100% -
Wuxi Asiaray Metro Meda the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising media  RMB3,600,000 (2023: 100%)

Company Limited liability company services, the PRC
KRR EBRARLA PE - FRELAT PARESERS *8  ARH10,000000 - 100% -
Beijing Yatie Media Communication Company  the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000 (2023: 100%)

Limited liability company media services, the PRC
ERNRRMRRSERAR(ERNR)) 1A AREELR PARESERE $8  ARM14420400 - 6% 3%
Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray Advertising the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB14,424,400 (2023: 69%) (2023: 31%)

Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC

("Qingdao Chengtou”)
IRt e R RARLA PE - FRELLAT Bk 08 ARH5,000,000 - 100% -
Beijing Chuangshibowei Plan and Design ~~ the PRC, limited Advertising services, RMBS,000,000 2023: 100%)

Department Company Limited liability company the PRC
HIREREERLA o8 AREFAT PORESERS *8  ARM10,000000 - 100% -
Zhejiang Yatie Advertising the PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000 (2023: 100%)

Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
RIelegFRERAR o8 AREAT Bk 18 ARH5,000,000 - 100% -
Shenzhen Yachuangdi Digital Technology ~ the PRC, limited Advertising services, RMBS,000,000 (2023: 100%)

Company Limited liability company the PRC
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13 MIBRATE(£) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

KRB KMAEE  FEREM
BENEER  SAENEER  RANEER
imERHE t8i(%) t8(%) t8i(%)
Proportion Proportion Proportion
ofordinary  of ordinary  of ordinary
of issued  shares directly shares indirectly shares held by

AL/ R
RHERREY

Name of entity

HRkABRERTARL
Zhuhai Yachuangdi Design
Company Limited

Asiaray Connect (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

EMTHEERARAT
Wenzhou Railway Media
Company Limited

AR BRARA

Henan Air Travel Culture Media
Company Limited

EERMENEREERAT

Yunnan Asiaray Metro Advertising Company

Limited

EMEERREARAT

Guangzhou Radius Advertising
Company Limited

(R B A BRARARAT

Yahang (Shenzhen) Technology Media
Holdings Company Limited

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 152

Place of incorporation/

establishment and kind of

legal entity

o - BREMAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

F% - BRELAT
Singapore, limited
liability company

oE - BREMAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

PE - BREMAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company
"E - BREMAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

oE AREFAT

the PRC, limited
liability company

o8 AREFA

the PRC, limited
liability company

BEARE/

Particulars

share capital/

Principal activities and registered
place of operation capital
RERE 78 ARE1,000,000
Advertising services, RMB1,000,000

the PRC

PIMEERERE - HilR 100 MR

Out-of-home advertising 5GD100
media services, Singapore

PHBSEERE T2 AB2,000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000
media services, the PRC

EERE  wE 2,000,000

Advertising services, RMB2,000,000
the PRC

FORGEERE 78 ARK10000000

Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000

media services, the PRC

RIEFESE BEAEREE ARK1,000000
R IRIR
EEL VR

Provision of advertising
selections, signage and
street fumiture design
engineering and consulting
service, the PRC

RMB1,000,000

PIRERRRH
il

Out-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

ARH50,000,000

RMB50,000,000

held by the
Company Company

held by the
(%) (%)

- 100%
(2023: 100%)

- 100%
2023: 100%)

- 51%
(2023: 51%)

- 100%
(2023: 100%)

- 70%
(2023: 70%)

- 100%
2023: 100%)

- 100%
2023: 100%)

non-controlling
interests
()

49%
(2023: 49%)

30%
(2023: 30%)
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13 KEBARE)

Name of entity

RN ERARARAA

Yatie (Shenzhen) Technology Media Holdings

Company Limited
P EF IR R BRA
Yuanxiaoer Digital Culture Technology

(Beijng) Co., Ltd.

Radius Displays Australia Pty Ltd

Asiaray Outdoor Media
(Singapore) Pte Ltd.

MR/ A3
RHERREY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

o - BREAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

oE - BREAAT
the PRC, limited
liability company

B BRERAT
Australia, limited
liability company

g ARRLAR

Singapore, limited
liability company

b SCER R 1 AR B O B B R A IE AR
XaHE RRNEBIAAAREEREE

BV X BHEBFEMRK

Kret1 - RBHPEEEEIMANEBELE -

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BR{TRE/
imERHE

Particulars

of issued
share capital/
registered
capital

Principal activities and
place of operation

FIRERERE 1E
Out-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

ARR50000000
RMBS0,000,000

PARERBRE 8  ARK10000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
media services, the PRC

POBSEERE N 10087

Out-of-home advertising AUD100
media services, Australia

POBSEERE 0k 1005

Out-of-home advertising SGD100

media services, Singapore

INGEL
BRNEER
t8i(%)
Proportion
of ordinary
shares directly
held by the
Company
(%)

KDAEE
RENEER
t8i(%)
Proportion
of ordinary
shares indirectly
held by the
Company
(%)

100%
2023: 100%)

51%
(2023: 51%)

100%
(2023: 100%)

100%
2023: 100%)

FERER
BRNEER
HA(%)
Proportion
of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interests
(%)

49%
(2023: 49%)

The English names of the above subsidiaries located in
the PRC referred to above represents the best efforts
by management of the Company in translating their

Chinese names, as they do not have official English

names.

Note 1: Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC

laws.
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13

B BB X B (4%)
PRBEK B R RIGMAS B - AEERH
JB R R A ) R SRR L ) R AT RO B
Reas LBl —2

EHEARTHERAIEEEHRTES
BEEASEERNEEREROMBEA
Al o FA20245 12 B31 HHY 1Rk #E 25
AR #151,260,000(2023F : AR¥
148,031,000)FE R Em = E MR IE
TRE RS o FA2024F 12 A 31 HHYIEIE
A% %5 AR #521,849,000(2023 4 ©
#h A R #43,127,000) £2 57 &g 22 4 HE (L
MR IR A R o

ARS8 B8 R R ) L R B A8 Y
BREERR BRFERCDHE/ALE
BZMBABRARK -

AEBEMIFZE B QB IEERE
S AEEITEE -

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 154

13

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held
by the Group does not differ from the proportion of
equity interests held.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray and Henan Airport Asiaray are
subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group. The non-controlling interest
of RMB151,260,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB148,031,000) represented to the non-controlling
interest in Yunnan Airport Asiaray. The non-controlling
interest of RMB21,849,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: deficit of RMB43,127,000) was relating to the
non-controlling interest in Henan Airport Asiaray.

As the Group had the power to control the financial
and operating policies of the above two entities, they
had been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other
non-wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the
Group.
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13

(a)

o) NCIE-)

ERERFEREZNNBLRNUME

&

(i)

BME

BN TFEENHE

BEERBEREERE

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
with material non-controlling interests

(a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray:
(i) Summarised balance sheet

B

BE

BE
RBEEFRE
FERE

aE

BEEFE

FFIER SN HFEE
RS EEFEE

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2024F 20234
2024 2023
ARMT T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Current
Assets 569,121 617,170
Liabilities (351,296) (371,060)
Net current assets 217,825 246,110

Non-current

Assets 220,317 310,934
Liabilities (129,448) (254,939)

90,869 55,995
Net assets 308,694 302:105

Non-controlling interest’s share of

net assets 49% 49%
Net assets attributable to
non-controlling interest 151,260 148,031
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13 HIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFEREZNHEQITNEE Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a) ZEFZEBERTHENTEERGE @ (&) (a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport

Asiaray (Continued):
(i) HZEWRBIRPE (ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive
income

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024F 20234

2024 2023

AR¥ T ARBTIT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

WA Revenue 248,228 280,796
SR ey =T bES Profit before income tax 10,260 49,004
FiiEfip Income tax expense (3,670) (7,332)

FEMNBREMGE KR Profit and other comprehensive

income for the year 6,590 41,672
FFEBESEERA Total comprehensive income
Weas 4R attributable to non-controlling
interest 3,229 20,419
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13

(a)

o) NCIE-)

ERERFEREZNNBLRNUME

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

ERMEE) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
ER BRI BRI E - (&) (a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport

(iii) REREBRBE

EEERHRSHNRERE
LEMRSERS

EfHE

EBEH

LERYMFHESFR

REGBMAREFER
BMERTARESFRE

BERREEEY
(HD) /& mFeE
FUNNRERREEED

FRNRERBEEEY

Asiaray (Continued):

(iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244

2024

ARBTR

RMB’000

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

139,802 144,907
(2,457) (1,7006)
(1,020) (6,313)

136,325 136,888

(36,838) (8,023)

(144,646) (109,567)

(45,159) 19,298

103,000 83,702
57,841 103,000
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13 MEBARE)

ERERFEREZNNBLRNMK

BERBEE)

(b) JARZEBHLMNITFENE

(i) EBEERERHE

T
BE
BE

RBEE(BE)FE
FERE

BB

BEFE

FIZEBREEDEFEE
(ARE)

FIEBRERRIEFEE
(RRE)
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray:

(i) Summarised balance sheet

Current
Assets
Liabilities

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Non-current
Assets
Liabilities

Net liabilities

Non-controlling interest’s share of
net assets/(liabilities)

Net assets/(liabilities) attributable
to non-controlling interest

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024

2024

ARBTR

RMB’000

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

151,207 121,288
(136,011) (186,726)
15,196 (65,438)
29,393 474,049
- (496,6206)

29,393 (22,577)
44,589 (88,015)
49% 49%
21,849 (43,127)
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13 WERARE) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFERESVHEQ T NS Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAEZEER AN EEREE (&) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)
(i) HZEWRBFIREPE (ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive

income

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
WA Revenue 91,978 101,877
AT SR AT RE, (E18) Profit/(Loss) before income tax 175,409 (22,375)
SRS Income tax expense (42,805) 5,567
EEMNE(BE)R Profit/(loss) and other
HimahsE (FE) comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year 132,604 (16,808)
JEIERRE R E (R AR Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Wz (E18) e attributable to non-controlling
interest 64,976 (8,236)
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13 HIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFEREZNHEQITNEE Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAEZEER AT EEREE (&) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)
(iii) BeHhERPE (iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234

2024 2023
ARBT R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

EETHRMENRSRE Cash flows from operating activities

LEMEHRE Cash generated from operations 60,236 109,808
EREN Income tax paid - (852)
EEEBAFHELER Net cash generated from operating

activities 60,236 108,956
BT EFT RIS E%E Net cash used in investing activities (1,454) (5,640)
BESEE TR 4 R Net cash used in financing activities (47,170) (102,663)
RERBREZEY Net increase in cash and cash

I EEE equivalents 11,612 653

FUNRE LR EEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year 20,690 20,037

FRNESRBALEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 32,302 20,690
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14 EZEFREBH 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
EEFTEFREERFESH T ¢ The net movement on the deferred income tax account
is as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB‘000
REHD At beginning of the year 195,712 191,710
($0BR),ZT ABZEER (F/7229) (Charged)/credited to profit or loss
(Note 29) (69,604) 3,022
REMZEE =T Credited/(charged) directly to other
HEFA(NR) comprehensive income 18 (36)
BERBmE=E Currency translation differences (401) 116
REL At end of the year 125,725 195,712
RIEFFISTHEE Deferred income tax assets:

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234

2024 2023
ARBT R ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

T &EEEEEEEEZHEMN The balance comprises temporary

BEER differences attributable to:
HIEEE Tax losses 86,307 115,339
HEaELRIE=5E Temporary difference from lease liabilities 127,791 268,713
FEWCRIE R E B Provision for impairment of receivables 22,214 16,325
P A A 4R A Y EHY Fair value change on financial assets

TREENATEZS through other comprehensive income 347 340
TERE Depreciation allowance 123 120
FERE Inventory provision 433 i
REMFE QT EEE Fair value losses on investment properties 1,774 773
RIS EERE Total deferred income tax assets 238,989 401,610
MR IR 88 3R E K 48 Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant

RIEFEA R to set-off provisions (111,898) (204,582)
RIEFTISTEEFE Net deferred income tax assets 127,091 197,028
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14 EEFAER (&)

ELFSHEEMNE Y CRGFF RER—
B R AERIEAERR) AN T -

BZUE1RNALEE
HER)
INEER(R)/FA
REBEERETTA
EHagEE

RER

BENBENRNALEE
REA)

REgA/ ()
REBERRER IR
ELCE

RER

RAAEREEERAT

2024 F 1R

Year ended 31 December 2024

At beginning of the year
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss
Credited to other comprefiensive income
Currency translation differences

Atend of the year

Year ended 31 December 2023

At beginning of the year
Credited!(charged) to profit or loss
Charged to other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences

Atend of the year

162

14

REER

Tax losses
ARETT
RMB'000

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Movement in deferred income tax assets without taking
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

BRAf
ErtzR

LUGE
RERE

Temporary

difference
from lease
liabilities
ARETT
RMB'000

receivables
ARETT
RMB'000

#OTE
BIARHES
HENE"
g0
LVERD
Fair value
change on

financial assets

at fair value

Provision for ~ through other
impairment of comprehensive

income
ARETT
RMB'000

fRRE  FEER

Depreciation
allowance
ARETT

RMB'000

Inventory
provision

AR

bEUES
LVERS

Fair value
losses on
investment
properties
ARETT
RMB'000

Total

ARAT

RMB'000

15339 268713 16,325 340 120 - M 401610
(29,124)  (140,145) 5878 - - 433 1000 (161,958)
- - - 18 - - - 18

92 (777) 1" 1) 3 - 1 681)
8,307 127,791 22,214 347 123 433 1774 238,989
%e11 309732 16,573 3% 8 - - 425,608
16,59 (41,019 (259) - - - m (23,909)
- - 5 (36) - : - (3

) - 1t 22) (108) - - (53)
115339 268713 16,325 340 120 - n 401,610
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14 EZEREHRE) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
RS AE : Deferred income tax liabilities:
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
LT &EEEERE The balance comprises temporary
TR ERENAR differences attributable to:
e Depreciation allowance 44 43
FREEEEREES Temporary difference from right-of-use
assets 111,898 204,303
BmBEBKE AT ERE Fair value gains through business
combinations 1,322 1,552
EEFF ST B EEsE Total deferred income tax liabilities 113,264 205,898
IR R $H 35 E 88 Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant
EEFHIBE E to set-off provisions (111,898) (204,582)
RLEFTERAE T Net deferred income tax liabilities 1,366 1,316
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4

14 SEEREBHRE) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
RIS BENEE (KT RER— Movement in deferred income tax liabilities without
B EEREKENEHR)IT : taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

ERREE EHaH S

hERE EREEZE  OAVERE  ATERE
Fair value

Temporary gains Fair value

difference through gains on

Depreciation  from right- business  investment
allowance of-use assets combination  properties Total
ARETL  ARBTE AREBTR ARETRT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

B22024512B31BLEE Year ended 31 December 2024

RER) At beginning of the year 43 204,303 1,552 - 205,898
RERFEA Credited to profit or loss - (92,354) - - (92,354)
EEpEES Currency translation differences 1 (51) (230) = (280)
RELR At end of the year 44 111,898 1,322 - 113,264

HZ22023F12A31BLLEE Year ended 31 December 2023

REH At beginning of the year 34 229,866 1,793 2,205 233,898
REZEREA Credited to profit or loss - (25,369) (257) (2,205) (27,831)
EMHEEE Currency translation differences 9 (194) 16 - (169)
RER At end of the year 43 204,303 1,552 = 205,898
R2024F 2023128318 » K& As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
EVESRRADEHIESEARK did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
385,069,000 & A K # 261,275,000 & RMB69,205,000 and RMB47,210,000, respectively,
T 45 88 LK 48 oK Ok B R R U A RERRE AT in respect of unused tax losses of RMB385,06%,000
FREfi & E AR K 69,205,000 % A R K& and RMB261,275,000 that can be carried forward for
47,210,000 ° offsetting against future taxable income.
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14 EIEFIER (&) 14
AERRIBESEE R BT

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
The expiry dates of unrecognised tax losses are as
follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2024F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T AREBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
1F AR E W Expire within 1 year 91,985 17,412
P E2FAER Expire in 1 to 2 years 14,510 27
R2ZE3FAEm Expire in 2 to 3 years 4,955 12,510
RIBAFERNEMm Expire in 3 to 4 years 10,639 4,955
RAESF RN Em Expire in 4 to 5 years 18,901 10,639
#R T BR P AR e B A Remaining balances without expiry date 244,079 213,042
385,069 2611295

M20244F [ 2023F12H310 * A&EH
WD B M AT HURE R EE AR
#1,328,000 % A R #248,000 & 7] 45 8
VAR 35 R 2 8 R A A B HE SRR ST PR S A
EEARKE332,000% AR62,000 °

MR2024F12A31H » RNEEFEHE
NRMREB AT AR 141,065,000
(20234 : AR¥87,017,000) &K EF
REEINEMA S 2R AR 0 Bk
ERRERBA ERE - BHZERAT
HaPEMBARRBIERBREZR
MEREREHSINE S Bk b
ZERFRA RERIATEETERAF
BB SN A S 2 AR A E] o

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB332,000
and RMB62,000, respectively, in respect of other
deductible temporary differences amounting to
RMB1,328,000 and RMB248,000 that can be carried
forward for offsetting against future taxable profit.

As at 31 December 2024, the retained earnings of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to the
holding companies incorporated outside PRC, for
which no deferred tax liability had been provided,
were RMB141,065,000 (2023: RMB87,017,000). Such
earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries for reinvestment purposes and would not
be remitted to their holding companies incorporated
outside PRC in the foreseeable future based on
management’s estimation of overseas funding
requirements.
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15 FEWRRFR R H B WK IR

RBEE

FEUBR R (b)

W AR ()R E R R
FEUW AR - R R

H b Y R IE ()

B ELAl FE USRI ()R (E
B

HAtb FEULRIA » F 5
e A B

AU ERE R
B RIE(e)

FRBEE
R e (d)

et
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current assets

Trade receivables (b)

Less: loss allowance of
trade receivables (c)

Trade receivables, net
Other receivables (d)

Less: loss allowance of
other receivables (d)

Other receivables, net
Interest receivables

Value-added tax recoverable
Prepayments (e)

Non-current assets
Deposits (d)

Total

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024

2024

ARBT R
RMB’000

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

437,538 559,116
(126,823) (93:117)
310,715 465,999
154,185 131,018
(4,336) (3,963)
149,849 127,055
20 60
42,239 59,464
71,063 98,283
573,886 750,861
5,171 5,241
579,057 756,102
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15 BUWERRREMERRIEE)

(a)

(b)

EURR AR EEXRBBREPHEND
m IR E AR EWE P KRR R
T8 o TREAA —F 3 A R UL (3] A 8 U R X
REMEWHREASBRRBEE - THI
BRIFRBDEE - BUIRF R E MR
AR A FERR - HREAER
MR IR B HR AR ER BT E -
BRASERERRLEERETE
ZRIFENHEE3 (D) °

AEERTEFPTRENEESR - 128
318 - BREFIEER BN RE DT
o

15
(a)

(b)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less,
they are classified as current assets. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current assets. Trade and other
receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. Details
about the Group's impairment policies and the
calculation of the loss allowance are provided in Note
3.1(b).

The Group has various credit terms for its customers. At
31 December, ageing analysis of the trade receivables
by invoice date is as follows:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
2024F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
%618 A Up to 6 months 186,653 338,190
6MEA=12{8A 6 months to 12 months 47,662 62,638
1FEE2F 1 year to 2 years 70,989 53,060
26 E3F 2 years to 3 years 35,797 33,5383
3FME Over 3 years 96,437 71,695
437,538 559,116
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15
(c)

(d)

FEE Wit B o0 e Lt P LKL SRR3R ()
P W B K 5 45 13 48 I D e L B

AEBERBEEMBRELEEINRG
AT EEMERERR - RRtmARK
EREREHEREEER - ARET
BERTEERXZETFNEELER A
FEREMBAN  BEEHRLEME
EREEREEERR -

RAFE - FEUCER 5B B E 2
A R # 33,706,000 (2023 F : AR ¥
3,206,000) - ZE B EEBHENTEFE
BHiFE3.1(b) ©

HEMmEWRIETERERTREBER
BEEAZHHBTFCERESRER
A8 5 A o 20244 2023412 A
BMMHMEKRBESRES R AARE
42,332,000 2 A R#43,744,000 ° HAb
FEWHIENETDEEELAFERS °

BINPEBELEERRE D REE
- EfbEUGRIARIEEER12(E AR
HEERBRu2MBEREEREHE -
fidl B F) FRE R & FE W IR ) S B R e
E - AREMBHEEERAER
B RAFE  HEtREFBEEERRE
EMAR®373,000020234F : AR¥
4,022,000) - EIEEBENET EFE R
7£3.1(b) °
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15
(c)

(d)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Loss allowance of trade receivables and risk
exposure

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group also continuously monitors the credit
risks by assessing the credit quality of respective
counterparties, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.

The loss allowance of trade receivables increased by
RMB33,706,000 during the year (2023: RMB3,206,000).
Note 3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of
the loss allowance.

Other receivables mainly represent concession fee
deposits paid to various media resources owners
and amounts due from related parties. The amounts
due from related parties are RMB42,332,000 and
RMB43,744,000 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The carrying amounts of other receivables
approximate their fair values.

Other receivables and deposits are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses. The loss allowance of other receivables
increased by RMB373,000 during the year (2023:
RMB4,022,000). Note 3.1(b) provides for details about
the calculation of the loss allowance.
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15 BRI R HtEWEIE (&) 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(e) FTEMKESILT : (e) Analysis of prepayments is as follows:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBTR AREBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BECERBTEEETHN Prepayments for concession fee charges
SELNE S for advertising spaces 11,704 23,918
FERIENZRIE (K T) Prepayments for inventories (Note) 39,084 36,349
HAth Others 20,275 38,016
71,063 98,283
Hiet - BEEZARERNIE - AFASEERE Note: The balance mainly represents prepayment to tea leaves
EITE VIR T IR AT 8 - suppliers, which allowed the Group to place purchase orders in

accordance with the agreed terms.

) AEERWEREKEMERZE(TE (f)  The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
BENFIR)WREEIA NIE%EHE : receivables excluding prepayment are denominated in

the following currencies:

A12H31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 388,974 445,415
BT HKD 113,363 202,718
g (TEms ) Singapore dollars (“SGD") 3,926 4,431
E(l[Emxl) United States dollars (“USD") 1,731 5,255
507,994 657,819
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16

RAAEREEERAT

16

RBEE Current assets
JHE W Consumable products

FERETFZREREAREG63,786,000
(20234 : AR#39,945000) - 2 &TF
B A B A R % 33,523,000 (2023 4 :
AR #24503,000) ' ERNEREHE
RAEEMAHRE - H1£2024F12A31
HIEFE @ B1ED#EE A R2,888,000
(2023%F : &) AMURTEE @ MR EAMbI
NFRARTER

FERRARAZEFEHNRESEA
AR - NAIRAERHIAERE - KAE
EAREBRAE - ISR FERERS
X BR TR AE B ERE TR b
PR B B B A] g B MO B RTARCAS -

FRELER  ZFFEMNKREEEHER
WARRERNREAERRFZ - £
WREFEEAERFENSERAER
BB T B A MUR 3K 18 5k /O i) P T
RFX o EAFEMRAEAEDS
BIONBLERELDNAEAERSEER
RFAXHFE SRR
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INVENTORIES

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20244

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

2024

ARBT R
RMB’000

68,388 43,196

The inventory balance mainly consists of tea leaves
amounting to RMB63,786,000 (2023: RMB39,945,000).
The cost of inventories sold, amounting to RMB33,523,000
(2023:RMB24,503,000), was recognised in profit or loss as
other income, net. During the year ended 31 December
2024, a provision of RMB2,888,000 (2023: nil) was made
to write down the inventories and also recognised in other
income, net.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. Cost comprises all costs of purchase.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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17 SRFIBERBRERBFESEEY 17 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
REBEE Current assets
RITRFEES Cash at bank and in hand 232,474 390,782
B ZRRFIIRE () Less: restricted cash (b) (17,140) (23,541)
BERIREEEY(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a) 215,334 367,241
(a) FHERERREEBWUTIERES (a) Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the
B : following currencies:
M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR RMB 147,909 225,969
BT HKD 39,197 130,537
ETT usb 23,576 1,938
Hih Others 4,652 8,797
215,334 367,241
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17 SRFIRSURBRERREEEY
(&)

(b) B A FR¥331,000(2023%  : AR
250,000) LA TTEHESN + SZ2BR$I37 S BA
ARENE - SREBESHNDITWT :

B TIRTTATE B HER A

17 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(b) Restricted cash is denominated in RMB except
for RMB331,000 (2023: RMB250,000), which is
denominated in HKD. Analysis of restricted cash are as
follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234

2024 2023

AR®T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Guaranteed deposits for letter of

ERRES guarantee issued by certain banks 16,809 23,291
ERREFROHFENZR S Deposits held by the Trust for

treasury shares 331 250

17,140 23,541

FRERRIRT - ARAEFREED
A E R R B RITHER o

I PO2AE R 2023 12 31 H - B
PRABSEENRERREEEY
5Bl A A R 146,384,000 & A R #&
224,875,000 - It 78 8 7 & Hb N E E I
&) o 25 EHIMNE T B 55 R T 1
B AEHAEARRS - BBBEERS
P& H AT TELEBR ©

18 KA

Deposits are placed with banks for issuing bank
guarantees for the lease payments of concession rights
agreement.

Cash and cash equivalents of RMB146,384,000 and
RMB224,875,000 were held in Mainland China as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively, and
are subject to local exchange control regulations.
These local exchange control regulations provide for
restrictions on exporting capital from the country, other
than through normal dividends.

18 SHARE CAPITAL

EBERYE R
Number of
ordinary Share

shares capital

(FK) ARBFR

(thousand) RMB’000

ERTRAR Issued and fully paid
K2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 475,676 38,139
RIBEMNREND HTRND Share issued pursuant to

(Kiat) consideration payable (Note) 9,235 808

N2023F12A318 &
2024512 H31H

BtE : 20234178 © NQ R E 17 HEIH

9,235,063 8% & 38 A% LA 45 1+ 7 B8 U B Radlius

Displays 51%P&#EH) S 42 FKH ©
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At 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2024 484,911 38,947

Note: On 17 April 2023, the Company issued additional 9,235,063
ordinary shares to settle the final payment in relation to the
acquisition of 51% equity interest of Radius Displays.
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19 f#% 19 RESERVES
BATE  AEEA AR KRG
INifge  BER RERZ  WERE: gHag
RbAE  GERE  ERRE  BHER (H&t20) fiERE i EbEE  ZiER 3t
Perpetual
Treasury subordinated
stocks  Share-based  convertible Currency
Share  FVOCI  heldby compensation  securities Valuation translation  Other Accumulated
premium  reserve trustee reserve  (Note20)  reserve  reserve  reserves [osses Total
AR¥Tr ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETZ ARETR ARMTR
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
1#2024%171R At 1 January 2024 302021 (2,000  (17377) - 241,008 - 263716 (11183)  (451067) 87,718
pAgE Comprehensive loss
FEEER Loss fortheyear - - - - - - - - (1822 (182
BheA(EE) /b Other comprehensive (loss)/
income
BRTRENEN Surplus on revaluation of
EETT L properties upon transfer to
investment properties - - - - - 8860 - = - 8860
e Currency translation difference o (89) o o o - 3886 - -3
BO(ER)/hpns Total comprehensive (loss)/
income - (89) - - - 880 3886 - (51822)  (39,165)
KARBTARESHE  Distrbutions to PSCS - - - = = = = - (11583 (11,583)
SIHBEZE ARG Purchase of shares for Share
(hi#32e) Avard Scheme (Note 32 (b)) ; ) ) . ) . . -
BERGEEEZELE  Shares granted and vested under
EENBA (M) Share Avard Scheme
(Note 32 (b) - - 2309 (2,309) - - - - - -
BERMH2-EERBER Employee share schemes - value
of employee services - - - 2,309 - - - = - 2309
SEAA(HEEASH)  Total transactions with owners
BRpHE in their capacity as owners . - un - - - - - (11583 (10,111)
#2024512531R At 31 December 2024 302021 (2,149)  (15,905) - 1008 880 30262  (11183)  (514472) 38442
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19 f@#EE) 19 RESERVES (Continued)

Perpetual
Treasury subordinated

stocks  Share-based  convertible  Currency
Share heldby compensation  securities  translation Other  Accumulated
premium reserve trustee reserve  (Note 20) reserve Teserves losses Total

ARETL  ARBTR  ARMTR ARRTT  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARRTR ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBO0D RMBOOO  RVBO0  RMBOOO

4202351718 At 1 January 2023 292,745 (2,244) (15,622) - 241,008 24,548 (192100 (420051 101,114
BAFE Comprehensive loss
ERER Loss for the year - - s - . . o968 (19,49
EfGANE Other comprehensive income
SHREER Currency translation difference - 184 - - - 1828 - ‘ 2012
GebE/(FE)4E Total comprehensive income/(loss) - 184 - - - 1828 - (19698 (17.86)
ikl Issue of shares 9,216 - - : - - - : 9974
WESFARERAIBATN  Acquistion of additional shares in
Bk a subsiciary from non-controlling
interests - - - - - - 8,087 - 8,067
KARBTEREEAE  Distibutonsto PSCS . - : - . - . R
SRR ARR Purchase of shares for Share Award
(W) Scheme (Note 32 ) . L : : - - N BFe
RERARB IR Shares granted and vested under
REBRRAH220) Share Award Scheme (Note 32 (b)) = - 1,378 (1,378) g 2 & - B
[ESR0HE-EEREEE  Employee share schemes - value of
employe senvices - - & 1378 : . - i, 1378
REEAHEEALR)  Total transactions with owners in
R pE their capacity as owners 907 L (1.755) . - - 087 11319 429
20235125318 At 31 December 2023 302,021 2,060) (17,377) - 241,008 26,376 (11,183 (451,067) 87,718
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20

KA IRAR TR R 25

FHE K AR AT IR FE 55 ([ K AR A]
BERFE S ) 5 RIR2017F128 ~ 2019
F6H - 2021F58 2021 F 11 A A
202259 A 31T ©

R2017F9HA78 » AR 7 HSpace
Management Limited ([ R#E 7 |) (R
RERRz )T IRBHZE - Bt
ARREEGRERITMRE S EIEH
A & R 88 A & % /4 50,000,0007% 7t (8
BN ARA2,959,000) Z KA KA
BIRE S - ARV SRRE SRR
354 T(HERARKI00) DM
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20 PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE

SECURITIES

Five batches of Perpetual Subordinated Convertible
Securities (the “PSCS"”) were issued in December 2017,
June 2019, May 2021, November 2021 and September
2022, respectively.

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into
a Subscription Agreement with Space Management
Limited (the “Subscriber”), one of the shareholders of
the Company, pursuant to which, the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the PSCS in the
principal amount of HKD50,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB42,959,000) that is convertible into the ordinary
shares of the Company (“Conversion Shares”) at
the initial Conversion Price of HKD3.54 (equivalent
to RMB3.00) per Conversion Share in two tranches
at the face value of HKD30,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB25,394,000) and HKD20,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB17,565,000) respectively. Pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement, the issuance is conditional on
the fulfilment of the following conditions: 1) approval
of the issue of the PSCS (with principal amount of
HKD50,000,000) (equivalent to RMB42,959,000) by
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; and 2) approval
of the Subscription Agreement by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting.
Within 5 years from the completion of the first tranche
subscription, the Company shall have the right, at
its sole discretion and through its Board Meetings,
to call for the Subscriber to subscribe for the second
tranche of the Securities in the principal amount of
HKD20,000,000 (equivalent to RMB17,565,000).

On 10 November 2017, the Company and the
Subscriber entered into a Supplemental Agreement
to amend the call for the Subscriber to subscribe for
the second tranche of the PSCS, pursuant to which the
subscription of the second tranche of PSCS shall be
subject to independent shareholders’ approval by the
Company.
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20

TK AR AR PR R 8 55 (48)

R2017F12 A5 RIT 2 BRERFRIK
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20 PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE

SECURITIES (Continued)

The first tranche at face value of PSCS HKD30,000,000
(equivalent to RMB25,394,000) has been issued on 28
December 2017 after the approval of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 15 December 2017.

The second tranche at face value of PSCS HKD20,000,000
(equivalent to RMB17,565,000) has been issued on
28 June 2019 after approval of extraordinary general
meeting held on 25 June 2019. It is the intention of the
Company that all the cash flow payments, including
principal and interests, will be made at the Company’s
discretion. The rate of annual distribution is 5.75% of
principal amount of the PSCS.

On 22 January 2021, the Group entered into a
purchase agreement with Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP
(“Mr. Lam"”), the shareholder of the Group and
Billion China International Limited (“Billion China").
Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Group
would acquire (i) the Sale Share, representing 100%
of the issued share capital of Billion China; and (ii)
the shareholder’s loan in the sum of approximately
HKD38,200,000 (equivalent to RMB31,232,000)
from Mr. Lam at Completion. Billion China is the
holder of the Properties in Beijing which includes the
office premise on the properties. The Consideration
of approximately HKD122,700,000 (equivalent to
RMB101,927,000) shall be paid, satisfied upon
Completion by the issuance of the PSCS by the Group
to Mr. Lam or his nominee(s) and were approved in
extraordinary general meeting on 23 April 2021. The
rate of annual distribution is 4.5% of principal amount
of the PSCS.
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20 PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE

SECURITIES (Continued)

On 16 July 2021, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue perpetual
subordinated convertible securities (the “2021 PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD75,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB61,640,000) convertible into conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HKD2.43
(equivalent to RMB2.00) per conversion share (subject
to adjustments). The 2021 PSCS has been issued on 1
November 2021 after approval of extraordinary general
meeting held on 19 October 2021. The rate of annual
distribution is 4% of principal amount of the 2021
PS@S:

On 13 December 2021, the Company entered into
the subscription agreement which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue the perpetual
subordinated convertible securities (the “2022 PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD37,500,000 (equivalent
to RMB34,286,000) convertible into conversion shares
at the initial conversion price of HKD1.4 (equivalent
to RMB1.28) per conversion share under specific
mandate. The 2022 PSCS has been issued after
approval of extraordinary general meeting held on
27 September 2022. The rate of annual distribution is
3.5% of principal amount of the 2022 PSCS.
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21 B 21

BORROWINGS

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20244

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

2024

ARBT R
RMB’000

FEREE S Non-current portion

IR FRIRITER Bank borrowings, unsecured 103,660 147,193
B D Current portion

IR IRTTIE K Bank borrowings, unsecured 251,759 269,752
RITEREE Total bank borrowings 355,419 416,945

REBERBERE BHIEFIE UF

The weighted average effective interest rates at each

KR : balance sheet date are as follows:
M12H318
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
EMENE K Non-current borrowings 5.7% 6.4%
N {8 K Current borrowings 5.0% 4.2%

AEENTFETARBRUETBRITRA
ERE([BBRITREFE ) OER -
AEEEFEBRITAXREBEET
o NEREERESBEARNEEHIARTE
RITAXRBNERELTE -

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 178

The floating rate instruments of the Group comprise
only borrowings based on the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate ("HIBOR"). The Group expects that
HIBOR will continue to exist and the interest rate
benchmark reform has not had an impact on the
Group’s HIBOR-based borrowings.
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21 BR#E) 21 BORROWINGS (Continued)
M12A318  REBEEEREREAT At 31 December, the Group's borrowings are
repayable as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB‘000
1FEUAR Within 1 year 251,759 2652,
1FER2F Between 1 and 2 years 53,620 130,788
2% ZF54F Between 2 and 5 years 50,040 16,405
355,419 416,945
REERNEBEREEENATIEEHE - The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT HKD 205,595 260,997
AR RMB 139,613 139,959
N T SGD 10,211 15,989
355,419 416,945
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21
(a)

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Risk exposure

Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from
current and non-current borrowings are set out in Note

3.1(b).

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on
the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
balance sheet when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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22 ENAERIFRHAEMENKE 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB‘000
nRBEE Current liabilities
FESTEBRF(b) Trade payables (b) 200,229 113,994
JEETES RS EETH Accrued concession fee charges for
advertising spaces 38,650 50,804
Hib et FiIE Other taxes payables 2,518 18,692
FEHFE Interests payables 559 1,035
ENFeRETEF Salary and staff welfare payables 25,142 20,596
E SRR Other payables 75,164 48,697
342,262 253,818
(a) ENEBERTDEEEBKERETRHERE (a) Trade payables obligations to pay for goods or services
BEEmEIMBOMNESE - HEZFHK that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
FHBRA—FAT AIBERREE business from suppliers. They are classified as current
& BABBERFABEE - BEERX liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If
REMENFIAV SR A FERR - & not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
BIRABERR R AT HEK AR © and other payables are recognised initially at fair value

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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22 ENRRREMESRIRE) 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(b) M12A31RH - ENRFIEZEZHHME (b) At 31 December, ageing analysis of the trade payables

BT by invoice date is as follows:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
ARMT T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
&%6(8A Up to 6 months 83,183 93,143
6B R =128 A 6 months to 12 months 66,582 5399
1FZE2F 1 year to 2 years 43,448 5,048
PDEE Zgjhs 2 years to 3 years 2,114 9,493
3FE Over 3 years 4,902 911
200,229 113,994
(c) ZRE[EFEFBR N B fh JE (N FRIB AR BE Y (c) The carrying amounts of the Group's total trade and

FREEMNA T E%EHE

other payables are denominated in the following
currencies:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 256,110 132,166
BIT HKD 74,026 107,965
g T SGD 7.860 6,547
e uUsb 4,266 7,140
342,262 253,818
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23 EHAE 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AHAaE Contract liabilities 85,848 78,663
AEBERBREBUBEREELF155 The Group has recognised liabilities related to
[(BFalEs [ EREXFELNEEN contracts with customers in accordance with HKFRS 15
BE - AAHBEEAEEEES BR Revenue from contracts with customers. The contract
BTEFPAHMINEENAR - &HAE liabilities represented advance from customers before
RAEERIEAS L BLYBERABWA - the Group transfers good or services to customers.

Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under contract.

U EROWAGT ARFEVNELHEE The revenue recognised that was included in the
R contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year:

HZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023
ARBT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FULFER WA ARFHA  Revenue recognised that was included in

BB EER the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year 78,663 98,203
AR EREHRKRBITHIBD RKEITH The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
FABHNEROZTFERILERE - T performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially
EFRGSELNERSRIBHHARE & —F 3k unsatisfied as at the end of the reporting period are
A& 48 —E 5 not disclosed because the remaining performance

obligations are part of contracts that have original
expected durations of one year of less.
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24 BRMEHEBDTHEX 24 EXPENSES BY NATURE
WARA - $5 6 K 45 1 B X 1T IR Cost of revenue, selling and marketing expenses and
FSXEDT administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

BEEERAEEFEEEX T

Variable concession fee charges for

20244

2024

ARBTR

RMB’000

20234
2023
ARET T
RMB’000

(K1a%7) advertising spaces (Note 7) 143,376 190:7.03
IR BEEN Expenses related to short-term
X (Kfat7) concession fee (Note 7) 71,960 199,642
T8 B &8 RIFEHIK A Project installation and dismantling costs 99,146 109,875
FIE N g Tax and surcharges 10,364 11,246
BEH Utilities 17,367 17,938
BB RAFZ (HiF25) Employee benefit expenses (Note 25) 194,616 22367743
EIR R EGHREFRY Travelling and entertainment expenses 12,256 13,976
EERKE Professional service fees 10,321 5,568
W - BERRBITE Depreciation of property,
(H1aE6) plant and equipment (Note 6) 25,532 40,206
EREEENE(MZ7) Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 7) 403,486 673,783
B EERHEMT) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 9) 2,223 2,390
FRAEEERBERIE(HZ7)  Impairment losses on right-of-use assets
(Note 7) 9,188 5,251
ZERNEN < Auditors’ remuneration
— BZRTE — Audit services 2,800 3,200
— EBZRT — Non-audit services - 200
—BEFEERERE — Over-provision in prior year (400) -
Hifb Others 67,042 74,835
1,069,277 il.57:2,526
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25 EEEMNHAX(BEESHE)

(a)

BERAMRAAWMAT :

25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
Employee benefit expenses are analysed as follows:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

ARET T ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ITE - Hekitsd Wages, salaries and bonuses 164,196 188,752
BRIRE AN — ERAEFRETE Pension costs - defined contribution plans 24,395 29,380
mA - BE N EAM Welfare, medical and others 3,716 4,203
I% 17 528D Share awards 2,309 1,378
194,616 223, 713

ANEBHEMBARNESBELERIL
FTBRAEEMEHNTEETERE
HE e AEBIZRBMATRFREN
BTN TEEHFEMIZ%E21%
(20234 : 13%E21%) * "RALTR)
HEuHEERER - BESHIENK
BRREES -

AEBNEBTIMAIZAMNE LR FHME
BEEFEENR Bt AREESS
BEBARERFEFELERESERK
A5%(2023%F : 5%)HIfHtFK -

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% (2023: 13% to 21%) of the employees’
salary (subject to a floor and cap) as set by local
municipal governments to each scheme locally to fund
the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
contribute to an MPF scheme, under which the Group
and each employee each make monthly contribution to
the scheme at 5% (2023: 5%) of the qualifying earnings
of the employee.
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25 EERFMRAX(BREESHE) @)

(b)

RAAEREEERAT

EEBRESHMAL

HE2024F 12831 B ILFE - K&EH
TLEABEFMATEE—2HITES
(2023%F : ) - HENBE B EM T35
BT e - B Z2024%12A31H
IEFE - EE0MA(2023F : AZ) AL

R B & BEEES T

TERF®

ZEATOMEBNTHE :

AE

< &5 [E]

1,500,001 7t &= 2,000,0005%8 7T
(HHERARKE1,368,0008
AER#1,824,000)

2,000,001 7L 22,500,000/ 7T
(HERARY1,824,0008
AR#2 281,000)

2,500,001 7T %2 3,000,000/ 7T
(HERARY2 281,0008
AR#2,737,000)

3,000,001 7T %2 3,500,000/5 7T
(HERARY2,737,0008
AR#3,193,000)

4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T
(HERARE4,105,0002
AR#4,561,000)

RELZE 2024 F % 2023F 12 A31H 1L
ER - AEBEBMERTNESERASAR
SEMA T HERBME - EAMNBER
SEINBRR R ER S IEARERAEE
BEEEE WEN R B RET A -
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Wages and salaries

25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 included one executive director (2023: nil) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
Note 35. The aggregate amounts of emoluments for
the remaining four (2023: five) individuals for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out follows:

(b)

BE12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20245

20234
2023
ARETIT
RMB’000

2024

ARBT
RMB’000

8,126 12,902

The emoluments of these individuals are within the
following bands:

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December
20234

2023

20244
2024

Number of individuals

Emoluments band

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,368,000 to
RMB1,824,000) 1 2

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
(equivalent to RMB1,824,000 to
RMB2,281,000)

HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
(equivalent to RMB2,281,000 to
RMB2,737,000) 1 1

HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
(equivalent to RMB2,737,000 to
RMB3,193,000) - 1

HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000
(equivalent to RMB4,105,000 to
RMB4,561,000) — 1

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or
have agreed to waive any emoluments.
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27
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26 OTHER INCOME, NET

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20244 2023%F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

Advertising consulting service income 1,591 4,773

Advertising design service income 781 5,200

Agency service income - 43

Dividend income 389 384

Rental income 7,256 8,304

Government subsidy income (Note (a)) 471 4,184

Impairment of inventories (2,888) -
Net income arising from sales of

inventories (Note (b)) 234 =

Others 273 7,569

8,107 30,457

Note (3): Government subsidy income mainly represented various tax

refunds granted by the relevant government authorities with no

future obligations.

are recognised as other income, net.

27 OTHER GAINS, NET

Note (b): Income from sales of inventories, net of their inventories cost,

BZE12A31HLEE

Year ended 31 December
20244

2024

ARBT
RMB’000

Gains on disposals of property,

2023

2023
ARBTT

RMB’000

plant and equipment (Note 31(a)) 3,007 11

Fair value losses on investment properties
(Note 8) (10,292) (4,930)

Fair value (losses)/gains on FVPL (Note 10)
(179) 1,284

Net gains from early termination of leases
(Note 7) 198,383 66,264
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (27) 666
Others (837) (1,629)
190,055 61,666

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report 187



SO TS ERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28

29

BMERA - FEE 28 FINANCE COSTS, NET

HBZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR%T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
BEIA Finance income
IRITFEFI B YA Interest income on bank deposits (3,071) (4,083)
MEWRA Finance income (3,071) (4,083)
BEE K Finance costs
RITERFERZ Interest expense on bank borrowings 22,827 19,899
HEAGNEMX(A:t) Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note) 51,840 111,615
BE R A Finance costs 74,667 131,514
BERAK - FEE Finance costs, net 71,596 127,431
Kt - HEBEBEMNSHAXNELEABRARHAESE Note: Interest expenses on lease liabilities is arising from recognition
E - HREENROFRETE - of right-of-use assets, which is measured at net present value of
the fixed payment.
FRrEBMX 29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
AEBEE2024F £ 2023F12H31H The income tax expense of the Group for the years
LFERREHRAZSITAT ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is analysed as

follows:

BZE12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 2023%F

2024 2023
AR% T AREET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

BIHARR S %% Current income tax

— BB EAEH - PRC corporate income tax 6,468 4,311
—BENET - Hong Kong profits tax 762 =
7,230 4,311

EEFTSHL (ATaE 14) Deferred income tax (Note 14) 69,604 (3,922)
76,834 389
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29 FREHAX(E)

(a)

AEENETEERBRBARLBEMOT

BB T2
AEBMEREBEFAREBEENGE
RFEFEH16.5%(20234F : 16.5%) K
TRE - SEBFESHEGHREE -

BT 2 BT R
AEBEERIBRITAN RERERIE
Bl gk EL A B At ZE 75 0 G DA 5T FE AR
TR A% 25% (20234 : 25%) HUFi R &t
RATSTHEH  BRIEEERNERRE
BIYERIER ©

AEBMBAREEESHTHEREE
HWHEHESBNRPREEE REEAE K
S DRI AR R B A i P R B B
e N EEERESBNEERIKRBER
Bi%  MEB15% (20234 : 15%) H{E
BAEHRE o

Fh 78 11 5
BIEERPERBER - NP E A
ST YA BIFE2008F 1 A1 B 2 BEAMHF
HEINRIEE E SRR S - — AR
10% R RTEHAER o WRNB MK
HINBRIEEEFEREAMEEER]
VR EEHM TN GG RRTE
BB E AR 10%BEEZES% °

29
(a)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
The Group's principal applicable taxes and tax rates
are as follows:

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated
at the tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profits during the year, based on the
existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof, unless preferential tax rates were
applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray and Hainan Asiaray,
subsidiaries of the Group, were established in Yunnan
Province and Hainan Province, PRC, respectively. They
were eligible for preferential tax policies applicable for
the development of western regions in Mainland China
and Hainan Free Trade Port, respectively, and were
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% (2023:
15%).

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in
Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign
investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the
conditions and requirements under the double taxation
treaty arrangement entered into between Mainland
China and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax
rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.
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29 FRSHBAX(#) 29 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(b) AKBRRAFHABENTERRAAX (b) The taxation on the Group's loss before income
ZHAMBEENFIE(BR)ERNE tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
AFLE25% (20234 : 25% ) s EESHE arise using the primary tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%)
EBReEFENZHFOT applicable to profits/(losses) of the majority of the

consolidated entities as follows:

HBZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BETEBANER(BiE) Profit/(loss) before income tax 87,254 (9,560)
o EREREARENDMER  Add: share of net loss of investments
RERFEE(AE12) accounted for using the equity method
(Note 12) 4,372 10,293
91,626 733
1225% (20234 : 25%)Fi & Tax calculated at a taxation rate of 25%
STERFIE (2023: 25%) 22,907 183
HibrlE#ERE TISEETH  Different taxation rates in other
TR E jurisdictions/under preferential tax
treatment 1,517 1792
BAZRF AU A Income not subject to tax (1,409) (5,354)
TRAIHBF Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,626 3,180
RS EEN Tax losses not recognised as deferred
RERIIEEE income tax assets 8,629 3,422
RERBLEMEHEER Temporary differences not recognised for
R ERE deferred income tax assets 332 62
HUHHERR I 7l B iR E T Derecognition of previously recognised
Fiiefi & E deferred income tax assets 43,687 1,648
AL ATARERIIERER  Utilisation of tax losses and temporary
R E 2R difference previously not recognised (455) (4,544)
PSR Income tax expense 76,834 389
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30 EREE

(a) BREFERE
BRERBBRIIBBEARBER ARG
BEBMEXAXREABRERESDIK - B
NEREBTEBRMEFSHFTE
(TEEEFRD)

30
(a)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company less the
distribution of PSCS, by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding
treasury shares.

HBZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20234

20244
2024 2023

RABER AELEE Loss attributable to owners of the

(AR TT) Company (RMB'000) (51,822) (19,698)
S K ARAR AR E A DR Less: distribution to PSCS (RMB’000)

(AR®FT) (11,583) (11,318)

(63,405) (31,016)

BT E BRI T Weighted average number of ordinary

(FR&) shares in issue (thousand shares) 476,212 473,825
FREB(ERARES) Loss per share (RMB cents per share) (13.3) (6.5)

(b) BREEER
BEREEERNBREBRARBME
R PSR R oK AR AR AT AR RE 25 P EE AR
PrBEEE ST BRHRTHEINE AR
IFEF AR E -

B E2024F K% 2023F 12318 IEF
B AEBKAXFAIBRKRESBEA
REEHEORELNEE  BEHREFN
BEERBEWNE  WEFESREES
B ARGTEENA

(b)

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of
all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company and PSCS.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group's PSCS could potentially dilute basic loss
per share in the future, but are not included in the
calculation of diluted loss per share because they are
anti-dilutive for the years.
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31 RERBER
(a) EEHERS

MRS BRI AE, (E1R)
A
T REERERRFER
RITEFH S WRA (K a£28)
RITHE N B P (Ha£28)
MEREN SR (HiE28)
Y% -~ BB RREITE(Hits)
EREEENE(HiE7)
B EERE(HF9)
FERERENZ16)
EREEENRERR(E7)
HEME - BE RRERS
(Ktet27)
BREMERFEEEMZS)
B EH AR SRR D FE

B8, (es) (MaE10)
RERIEHEENRSFRE

(Kte£7)
FREREAERENDHRIEE
R FESE(Hfat12)
LEELEE
-GFE

— P YRR R N EL At IR0
— AR R EAb EA 50R
—XRHRE

BEMGRE

BAGEEEEERAT 2024 F] 192

31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Cash generated from operations

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Adjustments for:

Net impairment losses on financial assets

Interest income on bank deposits
(Note 28)

Interest expense on bank borrowings
(Note 28)

Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note 28)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 7)

Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 9)

Impairment provision for inventories
(Note 16)

Impairment losses on right-of-use
assets (Note 7)

Gains on disposals of property,
plant and equipment (Note 27)

Fair value losses on investment
properties (Note 8)

Fair value losses/(gains)
on FVPL (Note 10)

Net gains from early termination of
|leases (Note 7)

Share of net loss of investments
accounted for using the equity
method (Note 12)

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories

— Trade and other receivables
— Trade and other payables

— Restricted cash

Cash generated from operations

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR%¥TR ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
87,254 (9,560)
34,888 217
(3,071) (4,083)
22,827 19,899
51,840 111,615
25,532 40,206
403,486 673,783
2,223 2,390
2,888 -
9,188 5,251
(3,007) (11)
10,292 4,930
179 (1,284)
(198,383) (66,264)
4,372 10,293
450,508 787,382
(28,080) (20,294)
144,090 52,592
56,064 (118,390)
8,791 6,501
631,373 707,791
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31
(a)

(b)

RERBERHE) 31
EEMBRE(E) (a)

EaHBASRERT HEWE  BF
REBAEFRIAREE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash generated from operations (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment
comprise:

HBZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
AR¥TR ARBTTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BREVFE (W iE6) Net book amount (Note 6) 9,720 3,021
HEWE - BEREWER Gains on disposals of property,
(B:t27) plant and equipment (Note 27) 3,007 11
HEWME - MEREMSHKIE Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment 12,727 3,032

REEHE
AEATE S8 2 5 IR 51 FER R E
BEB DM °

(b)

Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and
the movements in net debt for each of the periods
presented.

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000
RekReFEWME17) Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 215,334 367,241
BR(MaE21) Borrowings (Note 21) (355,419) (416,945)
MEaB(WE7) Lease liabilities (Note 7) (1,007,748) (1,877,277)
SEE Net debt (1,147,833) (1,926,981)
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31
(b)

32
(a)

RERBER(E)
REBHR(E)

202351810 2 FEH Net debt as at 1 January 2023

BERERE Financing cash flows

HERE Addition of lease

SMERE Foreign exchange adjustments

MERZ Interest expense

MESFE R Lease modification and termination

R2023F12A318 K Net debt as at 31 December 2023
20241 1A ZFER and 1 January 2024

AEHeRE Financing cash flows

HERE Addition of lease

SMEFE Foreign exchange adjustments

B Interest expense

REEE R Lease modification and termination

R2024F12A31A 2 FEH Net debt as at 31 December 2024

UG ARERBAR

BRETE(ER2025F1 8148 ER)
QAR BE AR RE R T B DR IR R 2014412
R6RBBHAZEREMN([ZTE]) -
FTEEMNAREGERATHAREEFIE
i ok AT B 1 1 A B A M) 15 S5 1R (AR B ok
[B] % °

R2015F58218 » EEeHEREZ
sHEIR K 11,534,875 B ETHES
EBRARAREEREFENITEMREEN
SNNEE([RERERERBRES])
N AR 3% % =t E14% 1 4,400,000 17 B A% #E
FHEE(ITRASERES]) - I
R2015F 6 A10B BITHRERIARE
FR Y8 AR R AL R FERR ©
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31
(b)

32
(a)

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

REEDREEE HihEE

Liabilities from Other

financing activities assets

BER
HEAR RESEN st

Cash and

Lease cash
liabilities Borrowing  equivalents Total
ARBTR  ARETR  AREBTRT  ARET:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(2,102,439) (323,756) 333,320 (2,092,875)
710,393 (89,337) 29,530 650,586
(501,900) - - (501,900)
(4,680) (3,852) 4,391 (4,141)
(111,615) - - (111,615)
132,964 - - 132,964
(1,877,277 (416,945) 367,241 (1,926,981)
659,745 66,129 (153,532) 572,342
(415,761) - - (415,761)
(6,789) (4,603) 1,625 (9,767)
(51,840) - - (51,840)
684,174 - - 684,174
(1,007,748) (355,419) 215,334 (1,147,833)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Option Plan (expired on 14 January 2025)
The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014
(the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Mr. Lam
the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company (“Employee and Contributor Share Option
Plan”) and 4,400,000 share options under the Scheme
to Mr. Lam (“Executive Share Option Plan”) that
was approved and confirmed by the independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 10 June 2015.
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32
(a)

(b)

IR AEBRNSTRE)
BREE(CRN2025F18148 Em)
(&)
FiliERENGSBERERASEETAR
0.6FBAI{TFEIONMER T HR1.65
BATTET0% ° F I AR20165F1A18
F2020F6 A9H (BiEEREMA ) BEA]
TE EM B R EERENE30% ; &K
ARR2017F1 1B E2020F6 498 (8
REEMB) MR TEDE LB E
R EER70% ©

AEEYEARKEERLT - UREE
S E L E -

R20245%F 2023512 A31H » FrEEE
RS B O 3k B M 4 9% L B DA o

BR 10 S B s+ &l
ANFHR20184F5 17 B (5 128
FrEI(T R EEETE]) EEBMAR
ERBEpAEERENESSHAENE
HEBERATHASBEEBKH TR K E
EEREL o ID B FT 2 FR 49 17 42 B
FTEIE BRFH0F AR ERR - HA /A
EEEABREBRATATRERL - K
RNAIEK —IBIER YWEEZFEAE
BEREEREOHBEFEEANEARR
o (T Hm EEr8IET)) - RBER
BHRESSET -

REE2024F12A31BLLEFE AR
AR 18 IR 0 22 B 51 8115 5T #8 A 967,000
A% (20234 : 2,630,5000% ) B 1D » TR
FHER0.95B T (FHERARK0.87)
(20234 : GRR1ATHET(HEHERARK
1.32)) °

32
(a)

(b)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share Option Plan (expired on 14 January 2025)
(Continued)

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30%
after 0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6
years from the grant date. The first 30% of the above
share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive); and the remaining 70%
of the share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all share options
were lapsed and no share options were granted during
the years.

Share Award Scheme

On 17 May 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the primary
purpose to recognise and reward the contribution of
the Group’s employees and other eligible persons
as approved by the Board for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group’s business. The
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing from the date of the
adoption of the Share Award Scheme, subject to any
early termination as may be determined appropriate
by the Board. The Company has set up a trust and
appointed a trustee for the administration and holding
of the Company’s shares acquired for the Share Award
Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme Trust”). The vesting
period and conditions are determined by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company purchased 967,000 shares (2023: 2,630,500)
under Share Award Scheme Trust. The average price
is HKDO0.95 (equivalent to RMBO0.87) per share (2023:
HKD1.47 (equivalent to RMB1.32) per share).
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32
(b)

33

IR AEBRNSTRE)
RiDSEBETEI(E)
REE2024F 12831 8B IEFE -
1,974,127 B% (2023 4 : 1,003,548 i% )
D BERER G RBET IR T5(E1.47
BT(HERARKI13ETEE - T
B 75 55 B I 1 (2023 4F = IR B IR0 22D
AR FEHE148BT(HERARE
137)BTRE  THEZBIKME) -
BRFFAZ ARY2,309,0008 REE
2024F 12 A3 B IEFEME 15 3R
FRIER(2023F : AK™1,378,000) °

EXBEEFRS

K & [E % Media Cornerstone Limited
(REBEXAESEMEK) E4
H#EEB XD ARM#H 52.57% (2023
% : 52.57% ) ° Space Management
Limited ( 70 2 B & X B¥ B a2 it X 32)
BB ARDA KR MDA T7.88% (2023 F
7.88%) o H i #R T 39.55% (20234 :
39.55%) I fn 7 Bias B - EEH Media
Cornerstone Limited? Bll &3¢ A & &
RIEERAT o AEBWNREERT A
I o

A ESCE AR EE  AEEEE
B8 75 B £2024F K 2023412 A 31
HIEFEETTUATEARS - AR H
EERE RSREFIRINIETER
B2 AP R AN & [ B - B 23 77 1 RE HU AR K
HET o
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32
(b)

33

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share Award Scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 1,974,127
shares (2023: 1,003,548) have been granted at
average price of HKD1.47 (equivalent to RMB1.34) to
employees under the Share Award Scheme without
vesting condition (2023: granted at average price of
HKD1.48 (equivalent to RMB1.37) to employees under
the Share Award Scheme without vesting condition).
Employee benefit expenses of RMB2,309,000 were
recognised in the consolidated financial statements
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,378,000).

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group is controlled by Media Cornerstone Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which owns
52.57% (2023: 52.57%) of the Company’s shares. Space
Management Limited incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands holds 7.88% (2023: 7.88%) of the Company’s
shares. The other remaining 39.55% (2023: 39.55%) of
the shares are widely held. The directors regard Media
Cornerstone Limited as the holding company and
ultimate holding company respectively. The ultimate
controlling party of the Group is Mr. Lam.

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between
the Group and its related parties during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the related party
transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business and at terms agreed between the Group and
the respective related parties.
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2
33 EABEELIRZ(Z) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BERZXRZS (a) Transactions with related parties
AT 5 B8 5 1T The following transactions occurred with related
parties:

HBZE12HA31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 2023%F
2024 2023
ARBT T ARBTFTT
RMB’000 RMB‘000
& R R AR WA Advertising display service incomes
b/ Associates 3,219 16,236
NEEIESVNGIEOEIE g i Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 28 984
3,247 17,220
BEERFrEE sty Concession fee charges for
(BEFEAEEE) advertising spaces (including
right-of-use assets)
NG Associates 18,935 129 bell
AR EEPNGIEE 22 e 3 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 103,462 128,100
122,397 25763l
HefxX Rental expenses
NKEYEVNGIEOPIE g £ Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 4 1,950
MM EZEFINRERR] Related companies controlled
by Mr. Lam 1,705 1,895
1,709 3,845
BT B R A Utilities cost paid/payable to
IR ERNEE T KA non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries 1,660 3,076
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33 EXRELXRS (&)

(a) REXZXRZ(E)
FTEEEAESFH
REERBENAENEEZEEAR
(BREF BERATEREMEMRT
HAB)MFHMAT

33

(a)

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Key management compensation

The compensations paid or payable to key
management personnel (including directors, chief
executive officer and other senior executives) for
employee services are shown below:

HBZE12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 2023%F

2024 2023

ARET ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

IERF® Wages and salaries 4,511 3,555
BIRGTEIH R Retirement scheme contributions 16 23
4B =t Total 4,527 3:57.8

(b) EEEERFHER
(i) EFREKRE
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(b)
(i)

Balances with related parties
Included in trade receivables:

M®12A31H

As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
=G Associates 950 1,250
AL IEPNEIE = e Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries 2,003 1,498
S Joint venture 83 i
3,036 2,748
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L 4
33 EXRBEEAXRS (&) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EEREFMER(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i) ERENMERH : (i) Included in trade payables:
®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥ T ARBTIT
RMB'000 RMB'000
/N Associates 1,310 362
FAM B A B0 FE R A Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 40 1,090
R Joint venture - 843
1,350 2,295
(i)  ERRFE 5 - (iii)  Included in prepayments:
MW12H31A
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T AREET T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
A NE]| Associates = 136
NCIIEYNGIECE S 2 g Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 593 15,192
593 15,328
(iv) BREFEEERFFAEEST M (iv) Included in accrued concession fee charges for

advertising spaces:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR%T AREETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
RN Associates 29,191 38,333
INCIIZEUNEGIE B 22 e Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 375 1,013
29,566 39,346
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4
33 ERBELIXRZ(£E) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁfiﬂ’] Ex (&) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(v) EBRAMEKFIE : (v) Included in other receivables:
MW12H31A
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBTIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
/NG| Associates 2,964 286
TR A B8 FE AR = Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries 3,494 212
R Joint venture 41,476 43,246
47,934 43,744
(vi) EFREMENFIE : (vi) Included in other payables
M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
RIS A Rl FEE AR 21 Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries 1,772 403
MR AT —ERIEL R A related company controlled by Mr. Lam 3,503 5,026
5,275 5,429
(vii) BRHEEEE - (vii) Included in lease liabilities:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
A INENGIEE i g Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries 34,919 1,054,198
T EEEFNERSERER  2ER The above balances with related parties are
AR BREBUARAARESTHE - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and

denominated in RMB.
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3 KRREEEBERRESEH 34 BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
ARET ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current assets
R BATRIRE Investment in subsidiaries 308,462 308,462
TEUR I B A =) FR I8 Amounts due from subsidiaries 574,209 559,054
BT EFABRRE Fair value through profit or loss 1,671 -
884,342 867,516
REBEE Current assets
Hfh fE UG IE R FE N R IE Other receivables and prepayments 753 1,385
SRR HIER & Restricted cash 331 250
RERBESZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 24,160 76,963
25,244 78,598
HWEE Total assets 909,586 946,114
ERRkEE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
KATEEAEEER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
A& X Share capital (a) 38,947 38,947
s Reserves (a) 557,721 594,936
g Total equity 596,668 633,883
=L Liabilities
kRBERE Non-current liabilities
BN Borrowings 83,340 112,086
REBEE Current liabilities
FEASTB 8~ R FIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 81,319 52,292
H B 5 RIR Other payables 43,158 29,934
Bk Borrowings 105,101 117,919
229,578 200,145
BmeE Total liabilities 312,918 12 237
BEZREE Total equity and liabilities 909,586 946,114

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

201



SO TS ERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 KRREEEBERRESREHZ)

(a)
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At 1 January 2023

Loss for the year

Issue of shares

Distributions to PSCS

Purchase of shares for Share Award Scheme
(Note 32 (b)

Vesting of shares under Share Award Scheme
(Note 32(b))

Other comprehensive income

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

Loss for the year

Distributions to PSCS

Purchase of shares for Share Award Scheme
(Note 32 (b))

Vesting of shares under Share Award Scheme
(Note 32(b)

Other comprehensive income

At 31 December 2024

202

34 BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Equity movement of the Company

KRR
Bx  ReEE TRRRS SMERER  HMRRE  EHER
Perpetual
subordinated  Currency
Share Share convertible translation Other Accumulated
capital  premium securities differences reserves losses Total
ARMTT  ARETn  ARBTR  AR%TR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'0O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
18139 22745 241,008 (4501) 197890 (130566) 614715
- - - - - (22704 (22,704
808 9,278 - - - - 10,084
- - - - - (11319 (11.318)
. 5 - - (3133 = (3.133)
- - - - 1378 - 1378
- - - 5914 - - 5914
38947 302021 241,008  (18,587) 196,135  (164,588) 594,936
- 5 = - - (33542  (33542)
- 5 = - - (11583 (11,583)
- 5 = - (837) - (837)
- - - - 2,82 - 2,282
= - - 6,465 - - 6,465
38947 302021 241,008  (12122) 197,580  (209,713) 557,721
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2
35 EEMS 35 DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS
BNEENEZE2024F12A3181LESF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
EHMeETIET : 31 December 2024 is set out as below:

jEs

EBALH

EEG]

AREE

Ex zEHER

RER  HEME  BEEAZ

e BERL RMER TEMUR ERAHHE

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect

of director's

other

services in

connection

with the

management

Employer's of the

contribution  affairs of

toa the company

Allowances retirement orits

Discretionary and benefits benefit  subsidiary
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
ARRTR  ARMTR ARMTT  ARBTZ  ARBTR  ARNTR  ARMTR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000

iR Chairman

psd Mr. Lam - 1,338 - - 16 - 1,355

Yz Executive director

BEE Kwan Tat Cheong - 1,300 - - - 456 1,756

FHEE Non-executive directors

RBE W Xiaopin 5 - - - - . .

WEEHit) Lam Ka Po (Note) - 118 468 - - . 586

BUFHEE Independent non-executive directors

SRk Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung - 277 - - - - 1

ESEZ40ES {1 H4#7  MaHoFai GBSJP - m = . - - a

KEk Mak Ka Ling - m - - - - m
Kzt : MRBEEDNR2024E6 A3 R REIEHIT Note: Mr. Lam Ka Po retired as a non-executive director on 3 June

=0 2024.
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4
35 EEMe#) 35 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BUNEEREE2023F12A3181LF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
ERBeE0T 31 December 2023 is set out as below:

i il g 5 ‘ tde
Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect
of director's

other

services in

connection

with the

management

Employer's of the

contribution affairs of

toa the company

Allowances ~ retirement or its

Discretionary  and benefits benefit ~ subsidiary
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
ARBTL  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
RMBOO0 ~ RMB'00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000

if Chairman

Tk Mr. Lam - 127 - - 16 - 1233

4783 Executive director

BiE Kwan Tat Cheong - 1,126 - - 7 . 1133

FUES Non-executive directors

B2 (hit) Waong Chi Kin Note) 116 - - . . : 116

Rz Yang Peng (Note) & = s . : i i

% W Xiaopin - i . - - - -

HZE Lam Ka Po 4 - i i . - 1

BUF4fES Independent non-executive directors

BRE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 274 - i . . . 7

ESEALHEE £FHE  MaHoFai GBS 0 : : : : i 0

EEk Mak Ka Ling 274 s . - - i il

Hiit - 1B R 2023F4 A18BBHEIHRITE Note: Mr. Yang Peng resigned as a non-executive director on 18 April

= MESREEN2023F6 A28 RETHE 2023 and Mr. Wong Chi Kin was retired as a non-executive
WITESE - director on 2 June 2023.
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35
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

36

37

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ remuneration

No director received any emolument from the Group
as an inducement to join or leave the Group or
compensation for loss of office. No director waived or
has agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ retirement and termination benefits

No retirement or termination benefits have been paid
to the Company’s directors during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

No loans, quasi-loans or other dealings were entered
into by the Company in favor of directors, controlled
body corporates by and connected entities with such
directors during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the
Company or the companies now comprising the Group
during each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
material contingent liabilities.
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38

39

39.1
(i)

COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
capital commitments.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has recognised
right-of-use assets for non-cancellable leases where
the Group is a lessee, except for short-term leases.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable short-term leases not recognised in
the consolidated financial statements are amounted to
RMB5.3 million (2023: nil).

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material
accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (refer
to Note 39.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
balance sheet respectively.
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39
39.1

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement. The Group has a joint venture.

Interest in the joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method (see (iv) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group's share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates and
joint venture are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint venture are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 39.6.
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39

39.1

(v)

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control,
joint control or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.2 Business combinations
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The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

. acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity over the fair value
of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.2 Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

39.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

39.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources, assessing performance of the
operating segments, and has been identified as the
executive directors of the Company that make strategic
decisions.
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39.5
(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they
relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, within finance
costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a net basis within other
gains, net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
FVPL are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as FVOCI
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
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The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

o income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting date.

39.7 Financial assets

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only

when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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(ii)

(iii)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.7 Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains, net together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Debt instruments (Continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other gains, net. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains, net and impairment
expenses are presented in profit or loss.

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within other
gains, net in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of FVPL are recognised
in profit or loss within other gains, net. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.
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(iv)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.7 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables. Please refer to Note
3.1(b) for details.

39.8 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

39.9 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.10 Share capital and shares held for employee share

scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity instruments, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company. Shares held by the Share Award Scheme
Trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted
from contributed equity.

39.11 Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities issued
by the Company give the right to the holder to convert
those securities into a fixed number of the Company’s
shares at any time at a fixed exercise price per share.
The perpetual subordinated convertible securities have
no maturity date and are redeemable at the option of
the Company. These securities are equity instruments.

39.12 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.12 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.12 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.13 Employee benefits

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong
subsidiaries contribute on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans and the mandatory
provident fund plan in Hong Kong, respectively. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due. Assets of the plans of the PRC subsidiaries are
held and managed by the relevant PRC government
authorities; while assets of the plans of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries are held in separate trustee-administrated
funds in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are
separated from those of the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.



SO A ERIRMIZE  NOTES T0 THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 HMEETEGTERRHARE)
39.14 AR B ER 2 K
(a) UBBEEUARDBERZNHRS

AEEEBERZAAESET RO D ERE
BT Bt - BERGEEMRERR
BRASEER TENNKE -

EEBERE
BEERBREMEHRTGNAFE
BRRFAX - BT HESESRAE

HBREN A FEMET

o BREMAMSREGRN  fIWER
MR (E

o T REAMREKRIEMBERIEETS
IR E - FIInRBFE S - t5E
HBREEREFERBEANEBIEES
B8 &

o BREMERBHENEZE - flE
ERERRARTEEFEXTE
Bt e

REREHRR - AREREIFTHRE
K RF R AHE T H A 2 55 188 2 R AR 2K
B P ez ff5t IEE@%%WWJ@
REFELEZZE(WA) - LS
HAAEFREE -

AN EROERT - BEAEREAR
Mz AR RS BREBHZATE
HERREHBPERL ARBEHRZ
S Rl ET

(a)

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.14 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group.

Employee options

The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant
date.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.14 Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Employee options (Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the
vesting conditions (other than market conditions) have
not been met, any expense not yet recognised for that
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had
never been recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity awards
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date
of forfeiture.

Employee share award scheme

Under the employee share award scheme, shares
issued by the Employee Share Trust to employees for
no cash consideration vest immediately on grant date.
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity.

Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments or shares to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow of resources with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

39.16 Loss per share

Basic loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing:

®  the loss attributable to owners of the Company
less the distribution of PSCS; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

39.17 Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements
with media resources owners such as metro lines and
airports, under which the Group obtains the right
to use the media resources owners’ spaces for the
display of the advertisements. The concession rights
agreement is accounted for according to Note 7.

The concession fees payable to media resources
owners were typically comprised of a percentage
share of the revenue earned from the operations. The
concession fees were recognised in the period in which
they are actually incurred.

39.18 Advertising consulting and design service income

Revenue from rendering of consulting services is
recognised over the period in which the services are
rendered.

39.19 Rental income for investment properties

Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

39.20 Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
39.21 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

39.22 Dividend distribution
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the
end of the reporting period but not distributed at the
end of the reporting period.

39.23 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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S RESULTS

HZ12A3MHLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024F 2023%F 20224 20214

2024 2023 2022 2021
ARBTR ARBTE ARBTE ARBTE
RMB’'000 _ RMB'000 _ RMB'000 _ RMB'000

AABHE ARIGEE Loss attributable to

20205
2020
ARET T
RMB'000

owners of the Company (51,822)  (19,698)  (112,663)  (143,671)  (145,180)
RErFIB - BiE - FE Eamings before interest, tax,

P58 £:zFukop-Ril depreciation and amortisation BN 838,333 1,154,525 1,055,666 918,861

EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

MM2A31H
As at 31 December

20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ARETE ARETT ARETRT ARETT AREBTL
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
BEE Total assets 2,053,955 2,877,536 3,153,008 5,452,873 4,441,361
mEE Total liabilities (1,793,321) (2,630,154) (2,880,860) (5,075,916) (4,125,969)
LB Net assets 260,634 247,382 272,148 376,957 315,392
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Lam Ka Po
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Wu Xiaopin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
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Mak Ka Ling
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lp Pui Sum

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP
lp Pui Sum

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)
Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Mak Ka Ling

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP (Chairman)
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Mak Ka Ling
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Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (Chairman)

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent JP

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Mak Ka Ling
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest
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Mason Ching & Associates
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Hong Kong
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The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
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Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

6/,
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1 Kornhill Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’'s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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